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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
MANAGEMENT REPORT

INCORPORATION, ACTIVITIES AND BRANCH NETWORK

Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited (the "Bank") was incorporated in Cyprus and is a public company
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (Cap. 113), the Cyprus Stock Exchange Laws
and Regulations and the Income Tax Laws. The Bank’s registered office is located at 200, Corner of
Limassol and Athalassa Avenues, 2025 Strovolos, P.O. Box 24747, 1394 Nicosia. The Bank is the
holding company of Hellenic Bank Group (the "Group").

The principal activity of the Group continued to be the provision of a wide range of banking and financial
services, which include financial, investment and insurance services, custodian and factoring services
and management and disposal of properties, predominantly acquired in debt satisfaction.

The Bank provides banking and financial services through its branch network and digital channels. As at
31 December 2022 the Bank’s branch network included 55 branches and 161 ATMs in Cyprus.

GROUP’S STRUCTURE

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise the Financial Statements of
Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited and its subsidiary companies, which together are referred to as
the Group. All group companies and details of the Bank’s acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries made
during the year 2022 are presented in Note 26 of the Financial Statements.

As at 31 December 2022 and according to the provisions of the IFRS 5 “Non-Current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations”, the financial results of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd ("APS Cyprus"), the
entity responsible for managing the Bank’s Non-Performing Exposures and REOs (refer to Note 18), are
presented as discontinued operations. On 30 March 2023, the Bank announced the completion of Project
Starlight that also includes the disposal of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd (refer to Note 52 of the
Financial Statements).

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (‘API’)

Throughout this Report, references are made to non-IFRS measures, namely Alternative Performance
Indicators (‘APIs’). Management believes that, in addition to IFRS related measures, these indicators
provide more relevant information to the users in assessing the financial performance and position of the
Group on a consistent basis. Where APIs and the reported results calculated and presented in the
Financial Statements are provided on a different basis, a reconciliation of the figures is provided in
‘Reconciliations’ section of the Annual Financial Report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS'

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €24,2 million (Bank: profit €27,8
million), (31 December 2021: Group loss €11,7 million, Bank loss €14,8 million).

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent company for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to €24,2 million compared to €11,7 million loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly
due to lower impairment losses on the loan portfolio, partially offset by higher staff costs and restructuring
costs incurred in FY2022.

1. The Group’s Financial Statements and the Group’s Financial Results presentation for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
available on the Group’s website www.hellenicbank.com (Investor Relations). The Financial Statements are also available at the
Bank’s registered office.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
Income Statement Analysis

Net interest income

The Group’s net interest income for the year ended 31 December 2022 was €300,8 million (Bank’s
€300,8 million), up by 17% (Bank: up by 17%) compared to €256,0 million (Bank: €256,3 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly driven by the positive impact of €17,4 million
from the TLTROs borrowing of €2,3 billion and the increase in NIl from placements with Central Banks
and other banks following the ongoing increases in interest rates announced by the ECB. Additionally,
interest income from the loan portfolio is higher reflecting mainly the impact of the acquisition of part of
the performing loan portfolio from RCB Bank during FY2022.

This increase for both the Group and the Bank, was partially offset by the lower interest income from debt
securities, mainly due to Cyprus Government Bonds (CGBs) with nominal value of €580 million which
matured in December 2021, with interest income earned of €14,3 million during FY2021 and higher
interest expense on loan capital. Interest expense on loan capital incurred for FY2022 relates to interest
expense from the issuance of Senior Preferred notes and interest expense on CCS 1 and CCS 2
securities paid in December 2022.

The Group’s net interest margin (NIM) for FY2022 amounted to 1,60% compared to 1,52% for FY2021.
NIM was positively impacted by the increase in NIl as explained above, despite the increase in the
average interest-bearing assets and higher interest expense on loan capital. The increase in the average
interest-bearing assets was driven mainly by the increase in the cash and balances with Central Banks
mostly as a result of the increase in customer deposits.

Adjusting for the TLTROs borrowing of €2,3 billion, removing the TLTRO from the average interest-
bearing assets and the respective benefit recognised in FY2022, NIM for FY2022 and FY2021 increased
to 1,72% and 1,65% respectively.

Non-interest income

The Group’s total non-interest income for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €113,4 million
(Bank’s €104,0 million) and recorded an increase of 10% (Bank increase 11%) compared to €103,0
million (Bank’s €93,3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021) mainly driven by higher net fee and
commission income and net income from insurance operations on Group level, partially offset by the
decrease in other income.

Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial instruments

The Group’s net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial instruments for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €2,7 million (Bank: €6,1 million) and recorded a decrease of
46% (Bank: increase 17%) compared to €5,0 million (Bank: €5,2 million) for the year ended 31 December
2021. The decrease at Group level was mainly due to the unrealised net revaluation losses arising from
investments in equity securities and collective investment units at fair value through profit or loss, held
mainly by the insurance companies of the Group, mainly due to the decrease in investments prices as a
result of the Russia/Ukraine conflict, which impacted the global economy, partially offset by the increase
in gain on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies.

Net fee and commission income

Net fee and commission income for the year ended 31 December 2022 was €71,7 million (Bank: €73,4
million) and recorded an increase of 23% (Bank: increase by 18%), compared to €58,2 million (Bank:
€62,2 million) for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly due to higher banking fees
and commissions. Effective from January 2022 a revised Table of Commissions and Charges has been
introduced, which resulted in higher ledger fees and credit card related income. Credit related fees and
other banking commissions were lower in FY2021 being impacted by the COVID-19 lockdown measures.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

Other income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €13,4 million (Bank: €24,5 million)
decreased by 19% (Bank: decrease 5%) compared to €16,6 million in 2021 (Bank: €25,9 million) as a
result of lower sundry income due to the net reimbursement received from an insurance claim recognised
in FY2021, partially offset by higher dividend income in FY2022.

Net income from insurance operations

Net income from insurance operations at Group level, amounted to €25,5 million for FY2022 compared to
€23,2 million in FY2021. The increase of 10% YoY is due to higher gross income from premiums,
generated from new products, partially offset by the impact from the increase in insurance claims and
benefits incurred (due to lower claims incurred in FY2021, as a result of COVID-19 lockdown measures)
and lower net investment income due to the Russia/Ukraine conflict, which impacted the global economy.

Expenses

The Group’s total expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €351,2 million
(Bank:€348,1 million) and recording an increase of 33% compared to €263,5 million (Bank: €265,8
million) (Bank increase of 31%) for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase in total expenses
was due to the restructuring costs. Restructuring costs represent the cost of Group’s Voluntary Early Exit
Scheme (VEES) and other related costs amounting to €70,9 million for FY2022.

On 29 November 2022, the Bank announced the successful completion of a Voluntary Early Exit Scheme
(the “Scheme”), in line with the Bank’s strategy to reduce its operating costs and achieve sustainable
profitability. The Scheme was offered to employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) to
voluntary exit from the Group in consideration for an ex-gratia amount. The total number of employees of
the Group that were approved to participate in the Scheme were 446 (c.16% of the Group’s employees)
of which 394 employees had their employment terminated during the fourth quarter of 2022 while the
remaining terminated their employment contract during the first quarter 2023. The annual payroll cost of
these employees is around €30 million, with the respective saving commencing from 2023,
notwithstanding any salary increases for the remaining staff.

Staff costs

Group’s staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €147,2 million and compared to
€133,7 million the year ended 31 December 2021, recorded an increase of 10% and accounted for 53%
(2021: 51%) of the Group’s total expenses excluding restructuring costs. The Bank’s staff costs for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to €140,3 million and compared to €126,8 million the year
ended 31 December 2021, recorded an increase of 11% and accounted for 50% (2021: 48%) of the
Bank’s total expenses excluding restructuring costs. The main driver of the increase was the salary
increments and COLA applicable for each employee as per the expired Collective Agreement. Also,
during FY2022, a payment has been made in relation to the re-instatement of ex-CCB employees’
salaries to 2013 levels, effective from 1 January 2019. Analysis of staff costs is disclosed in Note 13 of
the Financial Statements.

Administrative and other expenses

The Group’s total administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
€108,4 million and compared to €105,2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 were increased by
3%.

The Bank’s total administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
€117,5 million and compared to €114,9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 were increased by
2%.The increase was mainly driven by the increase in Transformation costs and Deposit Guarantee
Scheme (DGS) contribution and Special Levy on Credit Institutions, following the increase in deposits.

Hellenic Bank Group
Annual Financial Report 2022



MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

On March 2020, the Management Committee (MC) of the Deposit Guarantee and Resolution of Credit
and Other Institutions Scheme (DGS) introduced an approved new Risk Based Methodology (RBM), on
the calculation and payment of the contributions to Deposit Guarantee Fund (DGF) paid by all the
authorised Credit Institutions on a semi-annual basis until it reaches the level of 0,8% of covered deposits
of all authorised Credit Institutions by 3 July 2024. The total contribution for FY2022 was set at €5,8
million (FY2021: €4,5 million) and it was charged in administrative and other expenses in the first quarter
of 2022 (€2,6 million) and the third quarter of 2022 (€3,2 million).

Additionally, administrative and other expenses of APS Cyprus amounting to €1,0 million (FY 2021: €1,1
million), are presented under discontinued operations.

Analysis of administrative and other expenses and total fees relating to the Group's statutory auditors is
disclosed in Note 14 of the Financial Statements.

The Group’s cost to income ratio for the year ended 31 December 2022 was 84,8% compared to 73,4%
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Bank’s cost to income ratio for the year ended 31 December
2022 was 86,0% in comparison to 76,0% for 31 December 2021.

The adjusted cost to income ratio (adjusted for the Special Levy, DGS Contribution, Termination Benefits,
Transformation costs and Restructuring costs) for FY 2022 was 59,1% and 60,8% for the Group and the
Bank respectively and decreased from FY 2021 compared to 64,5% and 66,9% for the Group and the
Bank.

Impairment losses on financial instruments and non financial assets

Impairment losses on financial instruments
The Group charge for impairment losses on financial instruments amounted to €18,5 million for FY2022
(FY 2021 Bank: €18,1 million) compared to €102,0 million for FY2021 ( FY 2021 Bank: €102,4 million).

The charge of impairment losses in FY2022 was the result of the update of the IFRS 9 LGD and PD
models to take into account the anticipated increases in defaults on the EURIBOR based loan portfolio
from the increase in ECB interest rates. This is partially offset by the release of impairment losses during
FY2022 mainly as a result of the IFRS 9 PD models updating to reflect the latest macroeconomic
projections and the scenario weights for each macroeconomic scenario used for IFRS 9 purposes
applicable during FY2022. Additionally, following the in-principal agreement for the resolution of the
disputed matters, both the APS indemnification asset and the amount receivable have been adjusted with
a corresponding charge of impairment losses on other financial assets in FY2022.

The impairment losses incurred in FY2021 were mainly driven by the Bank’s deleveraging strategy which
resulted to additional impairment losses on the loan portfolio to be disposed (Project Starlight),
considering the probability of recovery through sale as at 31 December 2021.

During the first quarter of 2022, the Bank changed its macroeconomic forecasts compared to the year-
end 2021, following expectations of improved macroeconomic conditions in relation to the COVID-19
pandemic, as the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic appeared to be stabilizing and moving towards the
endemic phase. Having considered this, the Bank has updated the IFRS 9 parameters to be applied in
the estimation of the ECL for the first quarter of 2022 and more specifically the PD parameter. However,
the ongoing Russia-Ukraine crisis and the surge in inflation exhibited from the start of the Russia/Ukraine
conflict created significant uncertainty in the economy, particularly in the Hotel and Accommodation sector
which exhibited reliance in the past from inflow of Russian tourists. Having considered the increased
uncertainty in the economy, the probability weights for each macroeconomic scenario (Baseline,
Optimistic and Pessimistic scenario) used for IFRS 9 purposes had been rebalanced and remained
unchanged during FY2022, as presented in Note 5 of the Financial Statements.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

Despite the surge in energy prices and consequently in inflation, GDP growth rates increased in 2022
supported by strong tourists’ inflows and the improved performance of key sectors such as
“Accommodation and Food Services” and “Wholesale and Retail Trade”, due to the gradual recovery
from the COVID-19 pandemic. Taking into consideration the above, the Bank during the second half of
2022 has updated the IFRS 9 PD models applied in the estimation of the ECL, as described above.

The Group’s and the Bank’s cost of risk for 2022 amounted to -0,01%, compared to 1,55% for FY2021.
Adjusting for cash flows re-estimation of the APS indemnification asset, the cost of risk for FY2022 and
FY2021 amounted to 0,20% and 1,55% respectively.

Impairment losses on non-financial assets

The Group’s impairment losses on non-financial assets for FY2022 amounted to €6,8 million and
increased by 8% compared to €6,3 million in FY2021. Impairment losses on non-financial assets for
FY2022, include an amount of €6,8 million (FY2021: €4,6 million) regarding impairment losses of stock of
property resulting from the reassessment of the net realisable value (NRV) of the REOs portfolio, taking
into consideration potential liquidity discounts.

Further analysis is disclosed in Note 16 of the Financial Statements.

Negative goodwill

In FY2022, a negative goodwill of €4,8 million was recognised in the Income Statement of the Group and
the Bank as a result of the acquisition of part of RCB Bank’s banking operations (refer to section Loan
Portfolio Quality), representing the difference between the fair value of the consideration payable and the
net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed.

Taxation

The Group’s taxation for FY2022 amounted to a tax charge of €10,5 million (FY2021: €2,7 million tax
credit), which includes a current tax charge of €10,1 million on taxable profits (FY2021: €7,4 million) and a
deferred tax charge of €0,4 million (FY2021: €10,1 million deferred tax credit). The current tax charge in
FY2022 was mainly from the result of the Group’s cost of VEES, which is non-tax deductible.

The Bank’s taxation for FY2022 amounted to a tax charge of €8,6 million (FY2021: €4,2 million tax
credit), which includes a current tax charge of €8,1 million on taxable profits (FY2021: €5,9 million) and a
deferred tax charge of €0,4 million (FY2021: €10,1 million deferred tax credit). The deferred tax credit for
2021 was mainly the result of a decrease in deferred tax liabilities, due to the treatment of negative
goodwill attributed to the bond portfolio acquired by ex-CCB, while the tax charge for 2021 arose mainly
on adjustments made to the tax base of stock of properties to align with current practices.

Statement of Financial Position Analysis

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s and the Bank’s total assets amounted to €20,0 billion and €19,9
billion respectively and were increased by 6,4% compared to €18,8 billion and €18,7 billion respectively as
at 31 December 2021. The increase in total assets is reflected in the net increase in balances with
Central Banks, resulting from the increase in customer deposits and the issuance of Senior Preferred
notes during the year, as well as the increase in loans and advances primarily due to the acquisition of
part of the performing portfolio from RCB Bank.

Funding

Deposits

The Group’s and the Bank’s customer deposits amounted to €15,9 billion as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: €14,9 billion) and increased by 7% since the 2021 year end. They comprised €14,7
billion deposits in Euro (31 December 2021: €13,7 billion) and €1,2 billion deposits in foreign currencies
(31 December 2021: €1,2 billion), mostly in US Dollars.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

The Bank'’s deposits market share as at 31 December 2022 stood at 30,7% compared to 29,2% as at 31
December 2021. Deposits’ market share as at 31 December 2022 consists of 38,4% for Households
deposits (31 December 2021: 37,9%), 21,1% for Non-financial corporations deposits (31 December 2021:
19,8%) and 12,9% for Other financial intermediaries (31 December 2021: 10,6%).

The Group’s and the Bank’s net loans to deposits ratio stood at 39% as at 31 December 2022 compared
to 40% as at 31 December 2021. Pro forma for HFS portfolios the net loans to deposits ratio is reduced to
38% as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Funding by Central banks

Funding by Central banks amounted to €2,3 billion as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: €2,3
billion). In June 2021, given the favourable borrowing terms and despite the comfortable liquidity position,
the Bank participated in the 8th series of the TLTROs Ill by borrowing an amount of €2,3 billion. The
borrowing is for a 3 years duration (26 June 2024) and the Bank has the option to repay (partially or fully)
on a quarterly basis starting from June 2022 onwards. It is noted that the European Central Bank (ECB)
decided to amend the favourable borrowing terms of the TLTRO as from 23 November 2022 by setting
the borrowing rate equal to the average applicable ECB Deposit Facility Rate from that date onward.

Liquidity

The CRD IV/CRR sets forth the guidelines for calculating liquidity measures such as the Liquidity
Coverage Requirement Ratio (LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group was in compliance with all regulatory liquidity requirements.

The LCR of the Group stood at 444% as at 31 December 2022 compared to 499% as at 31 December
2021, which is above the minimum regulatory limit of 100%. The liquidity surplus in LCR as at 31
December 2022 amounted to €6,8 billion compared to €6,4 billion as at 31 December 2021. The NSFR of
the Group was at 184% as at 31 December 2022 compared to 197% as at 31 December 2021, which is
above the binding minimum NSFR ratio of 100% introduced, applicable from June 2021 as per CRR Il .
The NSFR liquidity surplus for 31 December 2022 reached €7,8 billion and has increased compared to
€6,8 billion as at 31 December 2021 level.

Additional information on liquidity requirements will be provided in the Pillar Il disclosures for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which will be available on the Bank’s website www.hellenicbank.com (Investor
Relations).

Loans

The Group’s and the Bank’s gross loans as at 31 December 2022 amounted to €6.223 million compared
to €5.952 million as at 31 December 2021, recording an increase of 5%, mainly as a result of the
acquisition of part of the performing loan portfolio from RCB Bank. The performing loan portfolio
increased by 6% while the non-performing portfolio decreased by 6%, compared to 31 December 2021.
Including the portfolio classified as held for sale, gross loans amounted to €6.963 million as at 31
December 2022, recording an increase of 3% compared to €6.728 million as at 31 December 2021, as
explained.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net loans and advances to customers amounted to €6.033 million
compared to €5.732 million as at 31 December 2021. Additionally, as at 31 December 2022, net loans
and advances to customers of €192 million were classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
(refer to Section 1.2.3 “Loan Portfolio Quality”), compared to €241 million as at 31 December 2021. The
decrease in net loans and advances to customers classified as held for sale by 20% is mainly due to the
net result of the normal activity and operation of the portfolio and the derecognition of c.€15 million NPE
portfolio following the completion of a transaction.

The Bank’s loan market share as at 31 December 2022 was 27,7% (31 December 2021: 22,5%) and
consists of 34,7% Household loans (31 December 2021: 31,1%).
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

Total new lending implemented during 4Q2022 reached €367 million, compared to new lending
implemented during the third quarter of 2022 of €257 million (second quarter of 2022: €287 million and
first quarter of 2022: €269 million) and totalled €1.179 million for FY2022, recording an increase of 30%
YoY compared to new lending of €908 million for FY2021. The Bank continued providing lending to
creditworthy businesses and households while at the same time focusing on managing early arrears and
avoiding new NPLs.

Loan Portfolio Quality
As part of its ongoing NPE deleveraging efforts, the Bank throughout 2022 worked towards the sale of a
non-performing portfolio with gross carrying amount €0,7 billion (Project Starlight).

References to pro forma figures and (Alternative Performance Indicators) APIs disclosed throughout the
Management Report as at 31 December 2022 refer to the NPEs portfolios classified as a disposal group
held for sale, which were excluded. Where figures are provided on a pro forma basis, this is stated and
referred to as “Pro forma for held for sale” or “Pro forma for HFS”. Where figures and APIs disclosed are
provided on a different basis, this is stated.

Project Starlight

On 11 April 2022, the Bank announced that it reached an agreement for the sale of a NPE portfolio and
the disposal of APS Cyprus, its subsidiary responsible for managing the Bank’s NPEs and REOs (“Project
Starlight”). The perimeter comprised of legacy NPEs including properties acquired in satisfaction of debt
totalling to a gross amount of ¢.€0,8 billion.

Significant work was made throughout 2022 with regards to the legal steps, the operationalisation and the
completion of “Project Starlight”. More specifically, the following milestones were achieved:

1. The entity Kohira Holdings Ltd (subsequently renamed Themis Portfolio (S1) Management Holdings
Ltd) to which the loans were transferred in February 2023 had been set up and licensed by the
Central Bank of Cyprus as a Credit Acquiring Company (the “CyCAC”),

2. The European Central Bank provided its approval with regards to the Significant Risk Transfer (SRT).

3. The approval regarding the transfer of NPEs to the CyCAC in accordance with the requirements of
section 16(1) of the Business of Credit Institutions Law (L. 66(1)/1997), as amended, was received,
and

4. The relevant clearance was received from the Commission for the Protection of Competition of the
Republic of Cyprus,

5. On 27 November 2022, the Central Bank of Cyprus, issued a license to APS Cyprus to operate as a
Licensed Credit Servicer.

In February 2023, the Scheme of arrangement was approved by the Court and the Bank proceeded with
the transfer of “Project Starlight” portfolio to the CyCAC on 22 February 2023.

Project Starlight was expected to be completed in early 2023 in accordance with the Addendum singed in
December 2022 and as such the disposal group was classified as held for sale and as discontinued
operations as at 31 December 2022. In fact, on 30 March 2023, the Bank announced the completion of
Project Starlight that also includes the disposal of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd (refer to Note 52 of the
Financial Statements).

Project Starlight has significantly de-risked the Bank’s statement of financial position by reducing its NPE
ratio, excluding the NPEs covered by the Asset Protection Scheme (APS), to a pro forma ratio of c. 3,6%
from 13,5% at 31 December 2022. Including the APS-NPEs, the NPE ratio was reduced to a pro forma
ratio of c. 9,8% from 19,2% at 31 December 2022. The frontloaded de-risking of the statement of financial
position allows the Bank to normalize its cost of risk as well as to benefit from the interest income
stemming from the 66,7% retention of the Senior Note.
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Project Starlight has a positive capital impact of c. 0,8%, with the pro forma CET 1 ratio rising to 19,1%
from 18,3% at 31 December 2022, reflecting the portfolio deconsolidation, the Bank’s investments in the
Senior Note and the Mezzanine Note and the gain relating to the sale of APS Debt Servicer.

Through the servicing agreement for the management of the Bank’s residual NPE portfolio as well as any
future NPE formation, the Bank expects to achieve further NPE deleveraging from its partnership with
PIMCO given the latter’s long-standing experience and track record in the NPE sector in Europe.

Agreement to acquire part of the RCB banking operations

On 21 March 2022, the Bank signed a Business Transfer Agreement (“BTA”) to acquire part of the RCB
Bank’'s banking operations (the “Transaction”) to be completed in two tranches. The acquisition of
Tranche A was completed on 24 March 2022 (“Completion Date A”) and the acquisition of Tranche B was
completed on 16 June 2022 (“Completion Date B”). The date of acquisition was considered to be the 24
March 2022. The Bank, with the assistance of independent advisors, performed a purchase price
allocation assessment in accordance with IFRS 3. All identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were
measured at their acquisition-date fair value. The difference between the purchase price and the balance
of assets and liabilities acquired and measured at fair value was recognised as Negative goodwill in the
Income Statement.

The Transaction involved a performing loan portfolio of fair value of c.€346 million (Tranche A c.€285
million and Tranche B c.€61 million) and customer deposits of c.€22 million (Tranche A c¢.€20 million and
Tranche B c.€2 million). Also, 14 employees from RCB Bank were transferred to the Bank. The resulting
negative goodwill recognised in the Income Statement amounted to €4,8 million.

Non-performing exposures reduction

The Group’s and the Bank’s non-performing exposures (NPEs) as defined by the European Banking
Authority (EBA), including the exposures classified as held for sale, amounted to €1.335 million as at 31
December 2022 and decreased by 6% compared to €1.414 million as at 31 December 2021 (NPEs
excluding NPEs covered by the APS agreement amounted to €1,0 billion as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021).

Pro forma for HFS portfolios NPEs amounted to €610 million as at 31 December 2022 recording a
decrease of 6%, compared to €650 million as at 31 December 2021 (NPEs excluding NPEs covered by
the APS agreement amounted to €0,2 billion as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021).

Terminated loans included in NPEs amounted to €1.003 million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: €930 million). Gross loans with forbearance measures as at 31 December 2022 amounted to €858
million (31 December 2021: €1.031 million). Pro forma for HFS portfolios, terminated loans included in
NPEs amounted to €341 million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: €253 million) and gross
loans with forbearance measures amounted to €584 million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: €741 million).

The Group’s and the Bank’s NPE ratio as at 31 December 2022 was 19,2% compared to 21,0% as at 31
December 2021. The ratio excluding the NPEs covered by the APS agreement as at 31 December 2022
was 13,5% (31 December 2021: 14,4%). Pro forma for HFS portfolios, the NPE ratio is reduced to 9,8%
as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 10,9%), while the NPE ratio excluding the NPEs covered
by the APS agreement was 3,6% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 3,6%).

Total accumulated impairment losses

The Group’s and the Bank’s total accumulated impairment losses amounted to €738 million as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: €755 million) and represented 10,6% of the total gross loans (31
December 2021: 11,2%). Total accumulated impairment losses over gross loans excluding the loans
covered by the APS agreement was 12,1% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 13,2%). Pro
forma for HFS portfolios total accumulated impairment losses over gross loans as at 31 December 2022
was 3,0% (31 December 2021: 3,7%), while excluding the loans covered by the APS agreement the ratio
as at 31 December 2022 was 2,7% (31 December 2021: 3,5%).
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The Group’s and the Bank’s NPEs provision coverage ratio stood at 55% as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: 53%), while excluding the NPEs covered by the APS agreement, the ratio is adjusted to
70% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 70%). Pro forma for HFS portfolios the NPEs
provision coverage ratio as at 31 December 2022 was 31% (31 December 2021: 34%), while excluding
the NPEs covered by the APS agreement the ratio was 51% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: 69%).

Taking into account tangible collaterals the net NPEs collateral coverage ratio stood at 157% as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: 151%), while excluding the NPEs covered by the APS agreement
and the corresponding tangible collateral and provisions of the NPEs covered by the APS agreement, the
ratio is adjusted to 211% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 208%). Pro forma for HFS
portfolios the ratio as at 31 December 2022 was 120% (31 December 2021: 121%), while excluding the
NPEs covered by the APS agreement the ratio was 152% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
205%).

Investment assets

The carrying value of the Group’s and the Banks' investment assets amounted to €13.281 million as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: €12.318 million) and €13.188 million (31 December 2021: €12.235
million) respectively and represented 66% of the Group’s and the Bank’s total assets (31 December 2021:
65%). Investment assets comprise cash and balances with Central Banks, placements with other banks,
investments in debt securities and investments in equity and collective investment units. Total investment
assets increased by 8% compared to 31 December 2021, mostly due to the increase in cash and
balances with Central Banks.

The Group’s and the Bank’s cash and balances with Central Banks and placements with other banks
amounted to €8.749 million and €8.740 million respectively as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
Group: €7.760 million, Bank: €7.743 million). Most foreign currency placements were with P-1 rated
banks. Cash and balances with Central Banks and placements with other banks have increased by 13%
compared to 31 December 2021.

The Group’s investments in debt securities amounted to €4.424 million as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: €4.463 million), down by 1% and represented 22% of total assets (31 December 2021:
24%). The net decrease was mainly due to maturities and disposals of debt securities partially offset by
acquisitions of debt securities during FY2022. The Group’s investments in debt securities comprised
mainly high-grade investments in financial institutions senior unsecured bonds, covered bonds, RMBS
(Residential Mortgage-Backed Security), CLOs (Collateralised Loan Obligations), sovereign bonds
including CGB (Cyprus Government Bonds), supranational bonds and High Yield Corporate bonds
through a discretionary Asset Manager mandate.

Investments in financial institutions and securitisations represent 46% and 17% of the Group’s and the
Bank’s investments in debt securities respectively (31 December 2021: 42% and 13% respectively).

The Cyprus Government Bonds held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to €790 million
and decreased by 47% compared to €1.485 million as at 31 December 2021, due to maturities. Out of the
total CGB held by the Group, €263 million will mature within a period of less than 1 year and the
remaining €527 million will mature within 1 and 5 years.

SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December 2022, 412.805.230 fully paid ordinary shares were in issue, with a nominal value of €0,50
each (31 December 2021: 412.805.230 fully paid shares with a nominal value €0,50 each).

Details on share capital of the Bank are disclosed in Note 38 of the Financial Statements.
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There are no restrictions on the transfer of the Bank’s ordinary shares, other than the provisions of the
Business of Credit Institutions Law of Republic of Cyprus which require the approval of the Central Bank
of Cyprus (CBC) prior to acquiring shares of the Bank above certain thresholds and the requirements of
the EU Market Abuse Regulation.

The Bank's issued ordinary shares do not carry special control rights.
LOAN CAPITAL

In July 2022 the Bank issued €100 million Senior Preferred Notes (the “Notes”), under its EMTN
Programme. The Notes are priced at par with a fixed coupon of 9% per annum, payable annually in
arrears.

Additional information on Loan capital is disclosed in Note 37 of the Financial Statements.

On 8 March 2023 the Bank announced the successful issue of a new €200 million Tier 2 Subordinated
Notes under its EMTN Programme. More details are disclosed in Note 52 of the Financial Statements and
in the Additional Risk and Capital Management information of this Annual Financial Report.

CAPITAL BASE AND ADEQUACY

The Group maintains capital adequacy ratios, above the minimum required by the relevant regulatory
authorities.

Under Pillar | (transitional basis), the Capital Adequacy Ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was
20,57% (Bank: 20,44%), the Tier 1 Ratio was 20,57% (Bank: 20,44%) and the Common Equity Tier 1
Ratio (CET 1) was 18,28% (Bank: 18,16%).

The Group’s risk weighted assets as at 31 December 2022 amounted to €5.674 million (Bank: €5.695
million).

As at 31 December 2022 the Leverage Ratio, using the transitional Tier capital definition, of the Group
was 5,69% (Bank: 5,67%).

Details of the capital management of the Group are disclosed in Note 51 of the Financial Statements and
in the Additional Risk and Capital Management information for the year ended 31 December 2022 section
of the Annual Financial Report.

ADOPTION OF NEW INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 f‘Insurance Contracts’ and establishes the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure for insurance contracts. The new standard introduces new
profit emergence patterns and requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value
aiming to a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. IFRS 17
provisions are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. An IFRS 17
implementation Project was underway throughout 2022 by the Group insurance companies and made
significant progress in the implementation.
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The Group’s insurance companies have assessed the estimated impact that the initial application of IFRS
17 will have on their financial statements. Based on the assessments undertaken to date, the total
adjustment (after tax) to the Insurance subsidiaries’ total equity as at 1 January 2022 amounts to an
increase of c.€11,7 million, being an amount of c.€12,1 million positive impact from the Life-Insurance
subsidiary and c¢.€0,4 million negative impact from the Non-Life insurance subsidiary. The impact of the
initial application of IFRS 17 enables an equivalent dividend distribution, which would increase the
Group’s regulatory capital and enhance CET 1 ratio by ¢.20 basis points. The actual impact of adopting
IFRS 17 may change until the Group finalises testing and assessment of systems and implementation of
internal control processes, which is expected until the Group finalises its first Financial Statements that
include the date of initial application.

Additional details on the requirements of IFRS17 are disclosed in Note 4 of the Financial Statements.
DIVIDEND

Based on the SREP decisions of prior years, the Bank was refrained from making distributions to its
shareholders. Therefore, no dividends were paid or declared during the years 2022 and 2021.

STRATEGIC TARGETS AND OUTLOOK

In delivering its strategy, the Bank remains committed to be a strong bank that meets the expectations of
its shareholders, employees, clients and the society.

The overarching narrative for Cyprus remains positive, despite the effect of the Russian/Ukraine conflict
in the surge in energy prices and consequently in inflation. GDP growth increased by 5,6% in 2022
supported by strong tourism inflows, local residents’ consumption that was maintained largely unaffected
and the gradual recovery of COVID-19 affected sectors like wholesale and retail trade. At the same time,
the labour market improved compared to 2021 with average unemployment reaching 6,8% compared to
7,5% in 2021. Forecast for 2022 was revised upwards in September to 5,0% and for 2023 is expected to
reach 2,0% due to the uncertainties created by Russia/Ukraine conflict and the developments in EU
economies. Although, the Bank maintained the credit quality of the portfolio, as the various Cyprus
government and EU support measures regarding COVID-19 were lifted and ability of certain borrowers to
repay their obligations may be adversely affected and, consequently, the amount of expected credit risk
losses may increase.

The Bank is closely monitoring the affected loan portfolio and applies an effective, efficient and
comprehensive arrears management of incremental credit risk of the exposures, with the use of early
warning triggers and behavioural scoring models, in order to mitigate the risk of potential new defaults.
With a sizable part of the loan portfolio already assessed through lifetime provisioning, a portion of
performing loans covered by the Asset Protection Scheme and a sale of a non-performing exposures
portfolio, the Bank will be able to normalize its cost of risk going forward.

In these challenging times, the Bank aims to remain in a robust position and will continue focusing on
strengthening and improving its market position by supporting the real economy.

The Bank’s strategy comprises of four pillars: Growth, Asset Quality, Cost Optimisation and Capital &
Funding optimisation. The Bank intends to continue to carry out its role in supporting the economy, while
safeguarding its shareholders’ value through prudent policies and in line with the Bank’s target risk profile.
In 2022, the Bank granted €1,2 billion of new lending to viable households and businesses. Also, in line
with the strategy of growing its business in Cyprus, the Bank acquired a performing loan portfolio from
RCB bank.

At the same time, the Bank is executing a Transformation Plan with the aim to enhance customer
experience, increase revenues, whereas at the same time drive efficiency. The Bank’s transformation
strategy embraces advancements in technology and data analytics and aims for digital enhancements
and process streamlining, with emphasis on improving the customer service.
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The Bank is able to effectively tackle its NPEs in an accelerated way and with higher recoveries.
Moreover, the Bank accelerated the de-risking of its non-performing exposures through the sale of an
NPE portfolio completed on 30 March 2023.

The Bank has sufficient liquidity, allowing the exploitation of opportunities in various sectors of the
domestic market, with a long-term strategy to selectively expand into other jurisdictions. The Bank aims to
continue its pivotal role in the support of the real economy, financing creditworthy Cypriot businesses and
households with a comprehensive range of quality banking services and within its risk appetite. The focus
on new loans for business clients will continue to be to companies that increase the competitiveness and
productivity of the country, such as in the sectors of retail trade, manufacturing, health, education, energy
and renewables, transportation and storage, information and communication and hospitality. At the same
time, loans to individuals are geared toward mortgages. The Bank stands ready to support the needs of
all its clients, households and businesses.

The Bank monitors closely the developments in the Cypriot, European and Global economic environment
and assesses the situation as it is evolving, whilst continuing the implementation of its strategy. The
operating environment remains challenging, however the Bank aims to remain vigilant of developments
and to turn these challenges into opportunities.

Below we indicate the revised Medium-Term financial targets, followings the Bank’s Strategic Plan
approval:

FY2021 FY2022 MTT?
Asset Quality
NPE Ratio® c. 3,4%* 3,6%5 c. 3%
Cost of Risk® 1,6% 0,2% c. 50 bps
Profitability
Cost to income ratio” 66% 61%3 <50%
ROTE (1,1%) 2,3%/8,9%8 >10%
Capital & Funding
CET 1 ratio (transitional basis) c. 19,1%° c. 19,1%10. 11 >14,0%

> €1,2 billion

New lending 908 million 1.179 million  per annum

2023 Guidance

The Bank notes that the evolving interest rate environment will continue to support its financial
performance in the coming years. As per its Plan, the Bank expects its profit before tax for FY23 to be
higher than €200 million, mainly driven by the expected changes in interest rates and the improved cost
structure following the successful Voluntary Early Exit Scheme completed in November 2022.

The Bank actively monitors asset quality and credit risk evolution amidst rising interest rate environment
and macro-economic tail risks which include, inter-alia, high inflationary environment and rising financing
costs. It is noted that the majority of the performing loan book are baselined on the Bank’s reference rate
and have not thus far observed any increase in their respective base rates. The Bank maintains a limited
book whose reference rate is EURIBOR which is closely monitored and have not observed any significant
credit risk deterioration thereon, thus far.

. The Medium -Term Targets (MTT) cover a period of 3-5 years.

. Excluding the NPEs covered by the APS agreement.

. Pro forma for portfolios classified as HFS and the acquisition of Tranche A from RCB Bank.

. Pro forma for portfolios classified as HFS.

. Adjusted for the cash flows re-estimation of the APS indemnification asset.

. Adjusted for the Deposit Guarantee Scheme contribution and the Special Levy.

. Adjusted for the Restructuring costs.

. Pro forma taking into account the negative impact from Tranche A and the positive impact from the Project Starlight (includes
mainly the servicer sale gain, the RWA relief from the NPE disposal and the RWA increase from retaining the Senior Note and
the Mezzanine).

10. Pro forma taking into account for the positive impact from the Project Starlight completion (includes mainly the servicer sale
gain, the RWA relief from the NPE disposal and the RWA increase from retaining the Senior Note and the Mezzanine).

11. Including FY2022 audited profits.

Co~NoOOO~WN
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Taking into account the Bank’'s expected financial performance as per its Plan and following the
completion of the Starlight Project, the Bank will request approval from regulators to commence dividend
payments for the financial year 2023 onwards.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks, the most important of which are described and analysed in
Note 50 of the Financial Statements and in the Additional Risk and Capital management information for
the year ended 31 December 2022 section of the Annual Financial Report.

The management and monitoring of risks is centralised under a uniform management, which covers the
entire range of the Group’s operations.

AGREEMENTS WITH MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE STAFF OF THE BANK

Details on agreements with members of the Board of Directors are described in the 2022 Remuneration
Policy Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) published by the Cyprus Stock Exchange (fifth revised
edition — January 2019) has been fully adopted by the Bank’s Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors recognises the importance of implementing sound Corporate Governance based
on the Code in combination with the mandate and practices followed by the various Committees of the
Board of Directors in order to achieve the target of maximising the shareholders’ investment.

The Corporate Governance Code is publicly available on the Cyprus Stock Exchange (CSE) website
WWW.CS€e.Ccom.cy.

Information on Members of the Board of Directors retiring and being eligible for re-election, as well as on
the composition and operation of the Bank’s Board of Directors and its committees are set out in section
B of the Report on Corporate Governance.

Any amendments to the Articles of Association of the Bank are only valid if approved by a Special
Resolution at a General Meeting of the Shareholders.

Details of restrictions in voting rights and special control rights in relation to the shares of the Bank are set
out in Note 38 of the Financial Statements.

The Board of Directors may issue share capital if there is sufficient authorised capital which has not been
issued and as long as the new shares to be issued are offered first to the existing shareholders, pro-rata
to their percentage holding in the Bank’s share capital. In the event that a share capital increase requires
an increase in the authorised share capital or if the new shares will not be offered to existing
shareholders, the prior approval of the shareholders at a General Meeting must be obtained. The Board
of Directors may also propose to a General Meeting of the Shareholders a share buyback scheme.

GOING CONCERN

The Management of the Bank after performing an assessment on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, concluded that there are no material uncertainties which could cast significant doubt over
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least the next 12 months from the date of approval
of the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Details on the going concern assessment are set out in Note 2 of the Financial Statements.
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SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING MORE THAN 5% OF THE SHARE CAPITAL

According to the Cyprus Securities and Stock Exchange Regulations and pursuant to the requirements of
the Directive DI190/2007/04 para. 4 of the Cyprus Securities and Exchange Commission, the following
shareholders owned five (5%) percent or more of the nominal value of the Bank’s issued share capital as
at 31 December 2022:

Demetra Holdings Plc’ 21,33%
Wargaming Group Limited? 20,61%
Poppy SARL 17,30%
Eurobank A.E 15,80%

As at 31 December 2022, Eurobank S.A. owned directly 15,8% in the Bank. In addition, Eurobank has
agreed with Wargaming Group Limited on 30 November 2022 to acquire a holding of 13,41% in the Bank,
subject to all required regulatory approvals. Therefore, upon completion of the transaction, Eurobank’s
total holding in the Bank will amount to 29,2%. On 5 April 2023 the Bank announced the completion of the
transaction.

On 31 December 2022 shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital, had in their possession
CCS1 amounting to €23,4 thousand (31 December 2021: €770,1 thousand) and CCS2 amounting to €8,0
million (31 December 2021: €33,9 million).

Pursuant to the requirements of the Directive DI190/2007/04 of the Cyprus Securities and Exchange
Commission, the Bank is required to disclose the shareholders who held at least five (5%) percent of the
nominal value of the issued share capital, five (5) days prior to the date of approval of the Financial
Statements by the Board.

Eurobank A.E 29,20%
Demetra Holdings Plc’ 21,33%
Poppy SARL 17,30%
Wargaming Group Limited? 7,20%

Note 1: It is noted that Logicom Services Ltd, which has a direct holding of 3,33% in the Bank, also has a 29,62% holding in
Demetra Holdings Plc whose holding in the Bank is specified in the above table.

Note 2: Wargaming Group Limited includes direct holding in the Bank of the Provident Fund of the Executive Directors of
Wargaming and the Provident Fund of the Senior Management Personnel Wargaming.

Five (5) days prior to the date of approval of the Financial Statements by the Board, Shareholders holding
more than 5% of the share capital, had in their possession CCS1 amounting to €770,1 thousand and
CCS2 amounting to €37,9 million.

ENVIROMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG)

As the world is moving towards a more sustainable future, the banking sector plays a pivotal role during
this transition. Shareholders, regulators, governments and other key stakeholders recognise the urgency
to act and are beginning to exert pressure on financial institutions to mobilise. From strategy setting to
regulatory compliance and disclosures, ESG priorities are stipulated in response to the stakeholders and
market expectations.

In that context, the Bank established a dedicated ESG department, within the Strategy and
Transformation Division. The department is responsible for the Bank’s strategic direction on ESG issues,
as well as the development and implementation of the Bank’s sustainability and ESG ambitions as part of
its business model. With this set up and in the context of its evolution and transformation, the Bank
invests further in sustainable development and is consistently designing its actions to improve its
environmental and social impact, while ensuring robust corporate governance.
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ESG Strategy

Transitioning to a more sustainable economy with the aim to deliver a positive impact to the environment
and the society, entails both risks and opportunities. In this respect, the Bank is adopting a strategic
approach towards sustainability and ESG. In December 2022, the Board of Directors approved a new
ESG Strategy demonstrating the Bank’s ongoing commitment to sustainability. The main drivers
formulating the new ESG Strategy are the European and local strategies, the competitive environment,
the evolving regulatory framework, and the sustainability materiality assessment. As a result, four pillars
emerged, on which the Bank's ESG Strategy is based:

e Net-zero and energy efficient Bank
e Workforce of the future

¢ Resilience and performance

e Sustainable ecosystem

The underlying targets of the ESG strategic pillars, are aligned with international and European
sustainability targets and frameworks, such as the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the Paris
Agreement and the EU Green Deal. Each strategic pillar is mapped to the relevant SDGs.

For the implementation of the ESG Strategy, the Bank sets clear and forward-looking targets with focus
on the following primary goals:

e Become an energy efficient Bank and a climate neutral Bank by 2050
e Diversity & inclusion and Employee wellbeing

e Enhance Risk Management frameworks and disclosures

e Support customers and investors in their green transition

e Positive impact on community

Environmental and Energy Management

The Bank is committed to reduce its environmental impact and work closely with clients, employees,
suppliers and other stakeholders, to employ practices that reduce the ecological footprint of the Bank and
contribute to the protection of the environment by saving natural resources.

The Bank, in the context of its ESG strategy, continues to have a pioneering role in the field of energy
management for its operations. It established and implemented Environmental and Energy Management
Policy nine years ago, through which it has managed to reduce its annual electricity consumption and its
Scope 2 CO2 emissions. The energy performance of the Group continued to be impacted by the COVID-
19 pandemic due to the adjusted air conditioning and ventilation systems operations More information on
the performance of the Bank can be found in the ESG Impact Report.

Since the beginning of 2015 the Bank has been certified with the international standard 1ISO 50001
Energy Management System, the first organization in Cyprus to achieve such a certification. The Bank
has also successfully transitioned to the new requirements of the ISO50001 standard in October 2020.
The ISO 50001 Energy Management System is implemented within the Group and its success depends
to a great extent on the awareness, contribution and involvement of its staff. The Energy Management
system is implemented to all services and related buildings of the Group and provides a systematic
approach towards the continuous improvement of energy performance, including efficient energy use and
consumption as well as the minimization of CO2 emissions.

15

Hellenic Bank Group
Annual Financial Report 2022



MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

The continued implementation of rational and prudent energy management provides significant benefits,
such as the energy saving and the reduction of energy consumption and cost, as well as the promotion of
an environmentally friendly culture, something which makes the Group stand out.

ESG risks and opportunities

The Bank’s holistic approach to sustainability and ESG is combining financial performance with
environmental and social responsibility as well as sound governance practices. The relevant ESG
principles are taken into consideration when evaluating business risks and opportunities as this will add
value to the Bank’s stakeholders.

Withing the Bank’s efforts to support its customers in their green transition, the Bank is offering green
retail products with favourable pricing for electric’/hybrid cars and energy efficient homes. Also, the
majority of credit/debit cards issued are made of biodegradable, environmentally friendly material. For
Corporates and SMEs the Bank provides green project financing through the growgreen initiative by
offering credible consultation and guidance. The Bank is seeking to provide more green products and
services to cover its customer needs, both individuals and businesses. An open communication is
maintained with the relevant stakeholders for the implementation of the Recovery and Resilience Plan of
Cyprus, where a joint effort is made to combine financing from the banking sector with the corresponding
governmental grants. In relation to the investor's side and given the market focus on sustainable
investments, the Bank is in the process of establishing a Sustainable Bond Framework for the issuance of
sustainable bonds.

As part of the management of ESG risks and in line with regulatory expectations (ECB’s Guide on
Climate-related and environmental risks), the Bank developed in 2021 a climate-related and
environmental Risks Action Plan (the “CE risk Action Plan). The CE risk Action Plan is a road map for the
integration of climate and environmental risks within business strategy and governance, risk management
frameworks and disclosures. Embedding climate and environmental risks as well as the remaining
aspects of the ESG principles, across the Bank is a dynamic process. During 2022, the Bank has revised
the CE Action Plan to ensure alignment with the ongoing developments and to address any gaps
identified through the ECB’s thematic review. The implementation is progressing steadily, with most of the
milestones to be completed within 2023.

Governance and ESG reporting
The Bank ensures an effective oversight of ESG risks with an adequate governance structure and
allocation of the ESG roles and responsibilities across its three lines of defence and other affected units.

ESG is one of the initiatives of the Transformation Plan, with the objective of integrating ESG
considerations into business strategy and culture, and implementation of the Climate and Environmental
risk Action Plan. Hence the initiative’s progress is closely monitored through the Transformation Plan
governance.

The overall responsibility of the development and implementation of the ESG strategy lies with the
Nominations/Internal Governance Board Committee. The Committee also reviews the Annual ESG
Impact Report and recommends it for approval by the Board of Directors. The Bank's non-financial
disclosures are aligned with the requirements of the Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD) and are
prepared using the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards. The Bank’s non-financial disclosures are
issued annually, through the ESG Impact Report, within six months after the end of the reporting period.
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During 2022, in the context of its robust governance practices, the Bank proceeded with the enhancement
of its policy framework to accommodate the relevant ESG developments including among others the
development of an ESG Policy and a Green Lending Policy. Within its ESG policy, the Bank is setting all
relevant principles and applicable requirements to ensure the adoption of environmentally sustainable and
socially responsible practices across its operations, including implementing appropriate governance and
culture. The Bank’s ESG Policy, sets out the framework for the effective management and monitoring of
ESG associated risks, including the relevant governance arrangements and control mechanisms
embedded in the overall operating model, in line with ECB’s “Guide on Climate-related and environmental
risks”. In addition, the Bank Green Lending Policy, as part of the Credit Policy, aims to establish and
maintain a prudent and disciplined framework for the assessment of green lending and classification of
credit facilities into green lending. The policy provides an effective tool for channelling credit to activities
with positive environmental impact and thereby contribute to the achievement of Bank’s environmental
objectives, in line with its ESG Strategy.

Additional information on the ESG disclosures will be provided in the Pillar Il disclosures for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which will be available on the Bank’s website www.hellenicbank.com (Investor
Relations).

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION DISCLOSURES

In line with the relevant legislation, the Bank is in the process of preparing an ESG Impact Report, which
as per current legislation is required to be submitted to the Registrar of Companies by 30 June 2023.

EMPLOYEE MATTERS

The Bank, acknowledging the benefits of harmonization of employment terms amongst its employees and
with the aim of maintaining healthy industrial relations and attain industrial peace, continued its efforts to
agree on a mutually beneficial Collective Agreement aligned with the Bank’s Strategic Plan.

Until an agreement is reached in relation to the new Collective Agreement, the Bank, paid the annual
increments for 2022 as per the Collective Agreement applicable for each employee. At the same time, the
Bank continued the negotiations with the Unions, so that an agreement is reached through honest and
constructive dialogue to the overall benefit of the employees, aiming to achieve the Bank’s medium-term
targets and have a successful transformation plan that will lead to a modern and financially healthy
organization.

Also, within the year, adhering to its legal obligations and based on the guidance received by the Ministry
of Labour & Social Insurance, the Bank proceeded to reinstate retrospectively from 2019, the salaries of
affected ex-CCls employees which they were reduced as from 1 January 2014 as per the Interim
Collective Agreement dated 31 January 2014.

Based on the Bank’s Transformation Plan and future business model, a restructuring and rightsizing was
undertaken including the launch of a Voluntary Exit Scheme where approximately 450 employees have
been departed (refer to Note 15 of the Financial Statements).

Following the Bank’s successful completion of the acquisition of the performing loan portfolio from RCB

Bank Limited (“RCB Bank”), fourteen (14) employees from RCB Bank who managed this portfolio were
transferred to the Bank.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

During 2022, with regards to our people development, emphasis has been given to the enhancement of
knowledge and skills in a wide range of subjects and particularly on risk & compliance, credit courses,
insurance related, change mindset related, training programs for developing the required skillset for newly
appointed managerial/supervisory employees, as well as programs related to automation, Digital &
Technology, and other specialized programs, including ESG related, among others. Following the post
pandemic era, even though the majority of training programs continued to be conducted in the form of
webinars, due to the significant efficiencies gained from the said training method, selected training
programs were conducted with physical presence, in the cases that the latter method of training was
deemed more appropriate, to ensure the maximum return on investment. E-learning continued to be
utilized for the provision of courses in regulatory and compliance areas, including in the areas of anti-
money laundering, anti-bribery, data protection, as well as in information and physical security subjects;
specifically, 6 e-learning programs were conducted in 2022.

The Bank was honored by the Pancyprian Voluntary Coordinative Council (“PVCC”) and specifically the
Corporate Volunteering Award was provided to our Bank for the #HBVolunteersChallenge campaign,
which is organized on an annual basis by Human Resources with the support of all Divisions/Units, within
the framework of the Pancyprian Volunteering Week. #HBVolunteersChallenge is now embedded in the
Bank’s culture as an annual activity and its success rests on all employees and their generous
contribution and involvement.

The Bank proceeded internally with the revamp of the annual Performance Appraisal System, in order to
strengthen the value obtained through performance evaluation, as well as to keep up to date with global
trends and best practices. Training sessions for the upgraded Performance Appraisal System were
conducted for all appraisers (new and existing) and the new process will be launched in 2023, for the
2022 Performance Appraisal cycle.

Furthermore, with the aim to further simplify, automate and introduce agile HR processes, various HR
procedures have been introduced in order to offer a better and direct employee service and experience
(e.g., HR system upgrades, overtime automation, on boarding process for new employees, e-submission
of sick and maternity leaves).

Various divisional reorganizations were affected during 2022, to ensure a more efficient structure, as well
due to changes emanating from the Voluntary Exit Scheme. The main organizational changes were
affected, among others, at Risk Management, Compliance Unit, Human Resources, as well as at
Technology & Operations. Additionally, Hellenic Bank's Representative Offices in Russia & Ukraine
closed in fourth quarter of 2022.

An important cornerstone for delivering results is based on our constant efforts to build winning teams,
through the successful identification and selection of the most suited candidate (from the internal and
external marketplace) for filling job roles.

One of the many challenges during 2022 was the continuing staffing of specialized teams, like
Technology and Digital division, to satisfy specific recruitment needs. Technology and Digital continue to
be one of the major enablers for the Digital Transformation of the Organization to achieve a modern and
streamlined workplace.

Due to the ongoing pandemic COVID-19, the Bank continued its high-level involvement in addressing
health and safety issues amongst its employees. On-going communication was in place, advising
employees of the preventing and protecting measures against the spread of COVID-19. Moreover, in an
effort to further strengthen the precautionary measures against COVID-19, the Bank continued to
encourage the Remote Working Policy in order to protect & safeguard health and safety issues.

The Bank is also committed in safeguarding gender equality and respect to human rights in the workplace
with a number of policies and practices.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)

Specifically, the Key Function Holders' Diversity Policy has been introduced setting the principles and
identifying specific diversity targets for persons holding Key Function Holder positions. The objective of
the Policy is to ensure Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DE&I) is taken into consideration in recruiting,
selection and succession planning of the Key Function Holders’ positions. The Bank aims to promote
DE&I and, from this perspective, to ensure equal opportunities in the workplace, regardless of diverse
profiles/demographics, including gender, sexual orientation, age, disability, race, ethnic origin or religion.
In this respect, specific target relating to DE&I (i.e., Increase participation of diverse groups including but
not limited to, under-represented gender participation in KFH positions), has been included in the ESG
strategy, which has been approved by the Board of Directors in December 2022, amongst others, which
should be achieved by June 2023 and necessary actions are currently taken to this direction. Moreover,
the Code for Dealing with Harassment in the workplace has been reviewed/updated to take into
consideration further good practices/regulations.

Moreover, the Code for Dealing with Harassment in the workplace has been reviewed/updated to take
into consideration further good practices/regulations.

MINIMUM REQUIREMENT FOR OWN FUNDS AND ELIGIBLE LIABILITIES (MREL)

The Bank, within the framework of the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), is subject to the
minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL). The framework, which entered into
effect on 1 January 2016, provides authorities with a credible set of tools to intervene sufficiently early and
quickly in an unsound or failing institution so as to ensure the continuity of the institution’s critical financial
and economic functions, while minimising the impact of an institution’s failure on the economy and
financial system. This is achieved by requiring banks to have a funding structure with a certain proportion
of liabilities that can be written off or converted into equity in the event of a bank failure (that is: “bailed
in”). Such liabilities, in combination with equity, are known as MREL.

On 27 June 2019, as part of the reform package for strengthening the resilience and resolvability of
European banks, the BRRD Il came into effect and it has recently being transposed into National Law.
Further to the above, certain provisions on MREL have been introduced in CRR II, which also came into
force on 27 June 2019, as part of the reform package and took immediate effect.

In February 2023, the Bank received notification from the Single Resolution Board (SRB) of its final
decision for the binding minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) for the Group.
Accordingly, the final MREL target was set at 24,38% of total risk exposure amount (TREA), plus
combined buffer requirement (CBR) while the final MREL target of leverage ratio exposure (LRE) is set at
5,91%, both to be met by 31 December 2025. No MREL subordination requirement has been
communicated to the Bank. Furthermore, the Bank must continue to meet a part of both MREL
requirements equal to 16,57% of TREA and 5,91% of LRE that were set as intermediate targets in the
previous resolution planning cycle for 1 January 2022. The own funds used by the Bank to meet the
combined buffer requirement (CBR) will not be eligible to meet its MREL requirements expressed in
terms of risk weighted assets.

Taking into consideration the applicable CBR requirements, as at 31 December 2022 the intermediate
binding target for MREL requirements was 19,95% of TREA. As from 1 January 2023, the intermediate
binding target for MREL requirements was 20,07% and the final target 27,88% of TREA to be met by 31
December 2025. From 30 November 2023, following the increase of the countercyclical capital buffer rate
(CCyB) rate from 0% to 0,5%, the MREL requirements for the intermediate and the final targets will be
20,57% and 28,38% respectively.

The Group’s MREL ratio as at 31 December 2022 was 23,2% of TREA and 6,4% of LRE. The MREL
ratios disclosed include profits for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Bank established a Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme of a €1,5 billion size, in order to
issue MREL. In July 2022 the Bank issued €100 million Senior Preferred Notes, under its EMTN
Programme (refer to Note 37 of the Financial Statements) and in March 2023 an additional amount of
€200 million of Tier 2 capital was issued (refer to Note 52 of the Financial Statements).
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Details on MREL are set out in the “Additional Risk and Capital management information for the year
ended 31 December 2022” section of the Annual Financial Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF EUROPEAN SECURITIES MARKET AUTHORITY
(ESMA)

The Bank complied with the ESMA requirement for the preparation of its Financial Statements in the
format of European Electronic Format (ESEF).

Financial Statements in the ESEF format are available on the Bank’s website www.hellenicbank.com
(Investor Relations).

PREPARATION OF PERIODIC REPORTS

The Group has in place an effective system of internal controls, the adequacy of which is evaluated at
least annually by the Board of Directors and in more frequent intervals by the Board’s Audit Committee, in
respect of financial and operational systems as well as for compliance with any risk management
regulations that may arise. The adequacy of the system of internal controls secures the validity of
financial data and compliance with relevant legislation and aims to ensure the management of risks while
providing reasonable assurance that no loss will incur.

The Group’s internal control and risk management systems incorporate effective procedures aiming at
the identification and prevention of errors, omissions or fraud that could result in material misstatements
during the preparation of the Financial Statements and of the relevant disclosures which are included in
the periodic reporting provided by the Group based on Part Il of the Transparency Requirements Law
(Securities admitted to trading on a Regulated Market) Laws of 2007 up to 2017.

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors has ensured that the Bank maintained an effective System of Internal Control in
2022. The adequacy and effectiveness of the System of Internal Control are reviewed by the Board at
least annually. The review covers all systems of internal control, including financial and operational
systems, as well as compliance systems and systems for the management of risks that threaten the
attainment of the Group’s objectives.

In order to maintain an effective System of Internal Control, the relevant procedures have been designed
for maintaining proper accounting records and for ensuring the accuracy, completeness and validity of the
information provided to the Group’s stakeholders. These procedures can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or breaches of laws and
regulations.

The Audit Committee meets before the announcement of the results, to monitor the integrity, accuracy
and reliability of the Group’s quarterly and annual financial reporting process and Financial Statements as
well as any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance, to assess the adequacy
of the provisions in line with accounting policies and standards and to monitor the establishment of
accounting policies and practices, paying particular attention to (i) changes to critical accounting policies
and practices, (ii) decisions requiring a significant element of judgement and (iii) unusual transactions and
how these are disclosed. It then proceeds with the relevant suggestions to the Board of Directors through
a detailed memo.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are disclosed in Note 52 of the Financial Statements.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2022 were the following:

Evripides A. Polykarpou Non-Executive Chairman

Marco Comastri Non-Executive Vice Chairman
Marianna Pantelidou Neophytou Non-Executive Member of the Board
Stephen John Albutt Non-Executive Member of the Board
Demetrios Efstathiou Non-Executive Member of the Board
Kristofer Richard Kraus Non-Executive Member of the Board
Marios Maratheftis Non-Executive Member of the Board
Christos Themistocleous Non-Executive Member of the Board
John Gregory lossifidis Non-Executive Member of the Board
Andreas Persianis Non-Executive Member of the Board
Miranda Xafa Non-Executive Member of the Board
Oliver Gatzke Executive Member of the Board
Antonis Rouvas Executive Member of the Board

During 2022 and until the date of this Report the changes in the Board of Directors of the Bank were as
follows:

Mr Christos Themistocleous was not re-elected as Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank at the
Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on 23 June 2021. On 1 July 2021, Mr Chr.
Themistocleous was appointed as Interim Director by the Board of Directors, in accordance with
Regulation 110 of the Bank’s Articles of Association. On 10 February 2022, the Board of Directors
terminated Mr Themistocleous’ appointment as Interim Director and on the same day appointed him as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Board of Directors of the Bank. Mr Themistocleous was re-
elected as Member of the Board of Directors at the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on
28 September 2022.

Mrs Miranda Xafa and Mr Kyriacos Riris were elected as Members of the Board of Directors of the Bank
at the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on 23 June 2021. Mrs M. Xafa was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director on 14 February 2022, following the relevant consent of the European
Central Bank / Central Bank of Cyprus. On 25 January 2022, the Bank announced that it had been
notified by Mr K. Riris that he had withdrawn his interest to be appointed as a Member of the Board of
Directors, for personal / professional reasons.

Mrs Marianna Pantelidou Neophytou resigned from the position of Non-Executive Member of the Board of
Directors of the Bank with effect from 26 January 2023. Mr Christodoulos Hadjistavris was appointed as
Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank, with effect from 26 January 2023, following
consent by the European Central Bank/Central Bank of Cyprus.

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Bank held on 31 August 2022,
Regulation 108 of the Bank’s Articles of Association was replaced so that paragraph 15(5) of the Internal
Governance Directive to Credit Institutions of 2021 of the Central Bank of Cyprus, providing that “the
appointed members of the management body are subject to re-election at the annual general meeting,
every 3 years from the date of their appointment”, is being complied with.

Furthermore, the existing Regulation 114 of the Bank’s Articles of Association provides that “any director
[appointed at any time and from time to time by the directors, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing directors,] shall hold office, only until the next following annual general meeting,
and shall then be eligible for re-election”. Hence, the retiring Director, who is eligible and will offer himself
for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders, is Mr Christodoulos Hadjistavris.

Reference to Directors’ emoluments, fees and compensation is provided in Note 45 of the Financial
Statements and in the Remuneration Policy Report for the year 2022, of the Annual Financial report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

According to the Cyprus Securities and Stock Exchange Regulations and in accordance with the
requirements of the Directive DI190/2007/04 para. 4 of the Cyprus Securities and Exchange Commission,
the Bank is required to disclose the percentage shareholdings in the Bank’s share capital owned by
Members of the Board of Directors, their spouses, or/and relatives by blood up to first degree and
companies in which they control directly and indirectly at least 20% of the voting rights at 31 December
2022 and the respective percentages as at 6 April 2023.

31 December 2022 6 April 2023
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
participation participation Total participation participation Total

Evripides A. Polykarpou - - - - - -
Marco Comastri - - - - - -
Marianna Pantelidou

Neophytou 0,00302% - 0,00302% N/A N/A N/A
Stephen John Albutt - - - - - -
Demetrios Efstathiou - - - - - -
Kristofer Richard Kraus - - - - - -
Marios Maratheftis - - - - -
Christos Themistocleous - 0,0002% 0,0002% - 0,00020% 0,00020%

John Gregory lossifidis - - - - - -
Andreas Persianis 0,00250% - 0,00250% 0,00250% - 0,00250%

Miranda Xafa - - - - - -
Oliver Gatzke - - - - - -
Antonis Rouvas - - - - - -
Christodoulos Hadjistavris N/A N/A N/A - - -

The Members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2022 and as at 6 April 2023 did not hold any
stake in the Bank’s issued loan capital (31 December 2021: nil).

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The independent auditors Ernst & Young Cyprus Ltd have expressed their willingness to continue in office
as the Bank's auditors.

A resolution authorizing the Board of Directors to appoint and fix their remuneration will be proposed at
the next AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

=

Evripides A. Polykarpou
Chairman

Nicosia, 13 April 2023
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CEO STATEMENT 2022 Results

Commenting on the Group’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Oliver Gatzke,
the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, stated:

Despite the challenges caused by the war in the Ukraine and the inflationary pressures we managed to
deliver a good set of financial results with a profit of €24,2 million for 2022 (compared to losses of €11,7
million for 2021). This exceeds our expectations and confirms the good progress in implementing our
transformation towards a client centric and technology driven bank. Adjusted for extraordinary cost of the
Voluntary Early Exit Scheme (VEES) we have achieved profit of €95,0 million which reflects the strength
of our business model in a positive interest rate environment following the latest rate increases by the
European Central Bank.

2022 Highlights

New lending during 2022 reached €1,2 billion, up 30% YoY, marking another record year for Hellenic
Bank. Financing sectors such as health, education, energy, ICT, hospitality, transportation, and shipping
remain a high priority to us, contributing to the competitiveness and productivity of the economy. Net
interest income reached €300,8 million, up 17% YoY, while non-interest income for 2022 amounted to
€113,4 million also demonstrating a 10% increase compared to 2021.

Other highlights of 2022 include:

e The acquisition of around €346 million worth of performing loans from RCB, which significantly
improved our corporate lending franchise

e the signing of ‘Project Starlight’ which reduces our NPEs by around €0,7 billion and the pro-forma
NPE ratio, excluding the NPEs covered by the Asset Protection Scheme, to 3,6%. The Project was
successfully competed on 30 March 2023.

e The reduction of our headcount by approximately 600 through the exit of temporary staff and
permanent staff through a successful VEES

e The start of coupon payments to holders of Additional Tier 1 capital instruments
2023 Outlook and Recent Developments

In March 2023 we successfully priced a new €200 million Tier 2 Subordinated Notes under our EMTN
Programme. The total orderbook was almost 4,5 times oversubscribed. The high participation from
investors demonstrates confidence in the Bank and re-affirms the market's appetite for the Bank’s
creditworthiness.

The issue of the Notes further enhances the Bank’s capital structure and is expected to increase the
Group’s Total Capital Ratio from 20,6% as at 31 December 2022 to a pro forma ratio of 24,1%.

With a strong capital adequacy ratio well above the regulatory requirements, and ample liquidity (Liquidity
Coverage Ratio of 444%), at a time of heightened volatility in the global markets, we are committed and
well positioned to continue supporting our retail and business customers in the future.

The impact of our transformation plan, as well as higher global interest rates, give us confidence in
achieving our medium-term ROTE (Return on Tangible Equity) target of at least 10% already in 2023,
when we expect a profit before tax to be higher than €200 million, which translates into a ROTE before
tax higher than 17%.

Our transformation journey remains on track to address structural challenges, unleash hidden potential,
and underpin the deployment of our strategy on sustainable profitability. Decisive steps were taken
toward digitalization, as well as streamlining the network of branches, processes and cost management,
and further enhancing the digital channels in order to transform our Bank into a customer centric
organization.
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Furthermore, we enhance the profile of our loan book through healthy growth with a strong focus on
Environmental, Social and Governance issues (ESG). For the implementation of the ESG Strategy, we
set clear and forward-looking targets with focus on the following primary goals:

Become an energy efficient Bank and a climate neutral Bank by 2050
Diversity & inclusion and Employee wellbeing

Enhance Risk Management frameworks and disclosures

Support customers and investors in their green transition

Positive impact on community

I sincerely want to thank our Board of Directors and shareholders for the continuous support and assure
them that the Hellenic Bank team remains fully committed to achieving its goals and strategic objectives. |
also extend my great appreciation to our people: Those who left the Bank for their valuable services and
commitment for all their years of service and those who remain at the Bank and for their resilience, hard
work and successful handling the high volume of work after the exit scheme.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited (the
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together with the Bank the “Group”) and separate financial statements of
the Bank, which are presented in pages 33 to 212 and comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated income statement, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Group and income statement, statements of comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group and the Bank as at 31 December 2022, and of their financial
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of the Cyprus
Companies Law, Cap. 113.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We remained
independent of the Group and the Bank throughout the period of our appointment in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in Cyprus, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements, including
assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Expected credit losses on loans and
advances to customers

As at 31 December 2022, gross loans and
advances to customers amounted to
€6.222.929 thousand and the related
expected credit losses (ECL) amounted to
€189.659 thousand.

Refer to Note 22 of the consolidated and
separate financial statements for the
relevant disclosures.

As at 31 December 2022, gross loans and
advances to customers classified as held
for sale amounted to €740.289 thousand
and the related expected credit losses
amounted to €548.627 thousand.

Refer to Note 31 of the consolidated and
separate financial statements for the
relevant disclosures.

The relevant accounting policy is presented
in Note 4.16.5 of the consolidated and
separate financial statements.

Management exercises significant
judgement, using subjective assumptions
when determining the amount of the ECL for
loans and advances to customers.

Management exercises significant level of
judgment and estimates for the below
areas:

e The allocation of loans and
advances to customers to
Stages 1, 2 or 3 using criteria in
accordance with IFRS 9;

e The inputs, assumptions and
probability weightings assigned
to multiple economic scenarios;

We have performed, among others, the
following audit procedures:

e Updated our understanding and
performed walkthroughs of the
processes relevant to the calculation
of ECL to identify key systems,
applications and controls within the
processes.

e Performed test of controls across the
processes relevant to the calculation
of ECL.

e Inspected the key technical papers
such as the ECL policy and involved
our financial risk specialists to read
the methodology of the Bank used for
the calculation of impairment and
assess whether it is in accordance
with IFRS 9.

e With the assistance of our financial
risk specialists, we performed the
following:

0 Assessed whether the coding
of the Bank's ECL tool, in
relation to the Probability of
Default (PDs), is in line with
the Bank’s methodology;

0 Tested the Loss Given Default
(LGD) calculation by
independently reconstructing
the model used in accordance
with the Bank’s methodology;
and

0 Reperformed the Exposure at
Default (EAD) calculation for a
sample of facilities.

e Selected a sample of collateral
valuations and engaged a property
valuation specialist to assess whether
the value recognized by the Bank is
reasonable.

e Analysed and evaluated the criteria
used to allocate loans and advances
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e Management overlays used in
the ECL calculation to address
the uncertainty over the impact
of the Russia/Ukraine conflict;

e The identification and
measurement of ECL for loans
and advances to customers
which were individually
assessed; and

e The measurement of ECL for
loans and advances to
customers that were classified
as held for sale.

Refer to Note 5.1 to the consolidated and
separate financial statements for the
significant judgments and estimates used in
the calculation of ECL.

We consider this to be a key audit matter
due to the fact that a significant level of
judgment is exercised by management in
estimating the expected credit losses on
loans and advances to customers.

Furthermore, we consider this to be a key
audit matter, as loans and advances to
customers are a significant part of the
Company’s and Group’s total assets.

to customers to Stage 1, 2 or 3 in
accordance with IFRS 9. Specifically,
we have selected a sample of loans
and advances to customers in Stage
1, 2 or 3 to verify that they were
allocated to the appropriate stage.
Assessed  whether the main
assumptions used for the calculation
of ECL such as the probability
weightings assigned to multiple
economic scenarios are reasonable.
Selected a sample of loans and
advances to customers, which were
collectively assessed, and tested that
the inputs used in the ECL
calculation, such as liguidation
haircuts and liquidation date, are in
accordance with the Bank’s policy.
Assessed whether any management
overlays/underlays used in the ECL
calculation to address uncertainty
over the impact of the Russia/Ukraine
conflict are reasonable.

Performed analytical procedures on
the ECL recognised, including ratio
analysis on staging to assess the
reasonableness of the ECL
recognised by the Bank.

Read the minutes of the Impairment
Committee meetings where the
inputs, assumptions and ECL
adequacy were discussed and
approved.

Read the minutes of the Board of
Directors where decisions were made
in relation to loans and advances to
customers that were classified as
held for sale.

Assessed the method used by the
Bank in estimating the expected
credit losses with respect to the loans
and advances to customers that were
classified as held for sale, obtained
supporting evidence for the inputs
used in the calculation and assessed
the reasonableness of the
assumptions used.
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e Tested a sample of the individually
assessed loan files performed by the
Bank and assessed the
measurement of the provisions
including the main assumptions and
inputs used, such us collateral value,
liquidation date and estimated cash
flows.

e Selected a sample of loans and
advances to customers and assessed
whether they have been correctly
allocated to either the collectively
assessed loans or the individually
assessed loans.

e Assessed the adequacy of
disclosures against the relevant
accounting standards.

Reporting on other information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Financial Report but does not include the consolidated and separate
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and those charged with governance for the
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of consolidated and separate financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113,
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible
for assessing the Group’s and the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease the Group’s operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and
separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s and Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Bank’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Bank and the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and
separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

29



EY

Building a better
working world

o Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Pursuant to the requirements of Article 10(2) of the EU Regulation 537/2014 we provide the following
information in our Independent Auditor's Report, which is required in addition to the requirements of
International Standards on Auditing.

Appointment of the Auditor and Period of Engagement

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank and the Group on 23 June 2021 by the Annual General
Meeting of the shareholders. Our appointment will be renewed annually by shareholder resolution.
The total period of uninterrupted engagement appointment is two (2) years.

Consistency of the Additional Report to the Audit Committee

We confirm that our audit opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements expressed in
this report is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee of the Bank, which we issued
on 5 April 2023 in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation 537/2014.

Provision of Non-audit Services

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 of the EU Regulation 537/2014
and Section 72 of the Auditors Law of 2017 were provided. In addition, there are no non-audit services
which were provided by us to the Bank and the Group, and which have not been disclosed in the
consolidated and separate financial statements or the management report.
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Other L

egal Requirements

Pursuant to the additional requirements of the Auditors Law of 2017, we report the following:

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, the
management report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, and the information given is consistent with the
consolidated and separate financial statements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and the Group and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have
identified material misstatements in the management report. We have nothing to
report in this respect.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, the
information included in the Corporate Governance Report in accordance with the
requirements of subparagraphs (iv) and (v) of paragraph 2(a) of Article 151 of the
Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap, 113, and is consistent with the
consolidated and separate financial statements.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, the Corporate
Governance Report includes all information referred to in subparagraphs (i), (ii), (iii),
(vi) and (vii) of paragraph 2(a) of Article 151 of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and the Group and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have
identified material misstatements in the Corporate Governance Report in relation to
the information disclosed for items (iv) and (v) of subparagraph 2(a) of Article 151 of
the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Other Matter

This rep

ort, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank’s members as a body

in accordance with Article 10(1) of the EU Regulation 537/2014 and Section 69 of the Auditors Law of

2017 an

d for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for

any other purpose or to any other person to whose knowledge this report may come to.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Savvas
Pentaris.

Savvas

Pentaris

Certified Public Accountant and Registered Auditor

for and
Ernst &

on behalf of

Young Cyprus Limited

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Auditors

13 April 2023

Nicosia
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Turnover

Continuing Operations

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method
Other interest income

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest method
Other interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial

instruments

Net income from insurance operations
Other income

Total net income

Staff costs

Restructuring costs

Depreciation and amortisation
Administrative and other expenses
Total expenses

Net (losses)/gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Impairment losses on financial instruments

Impairment losses on non financial assets

Negative goodwill

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued Operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company from continuing operations
Shareholders of the parent company from discontinued operations
Non-controlling interests

Profit/(loss) for the year

Earnings/(loss) per share (€cent)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (€cent)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€cent)

Earnings/(loss) per share (€cent) for continuing operations
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (€cent) from continuing operations
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€cent) from continuing operations

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Note

N~NoOo

© o

10

12

13

27 29

14

16
16

41

17

18

19
19

19
19

2022 2021
€000 €000
465.686 402.256
330.853 288.154
10.525 1.837
(36.281) (26.730)
(4.336) (7.257)
300.761 256.004
82.624 67.475
(10.944) (9.301)
71.680 58.174
2.728 5.028
25.520 23.209
13.436 16.553
414.125 358.968
(147.204) (133.744)
(70.860) -
(24.693) (24.562)
(108.447) (105.174)
(351.204) (263.480)
62.921 95.488
(236) 5.869
(18.506) (102.041)
(6.796) (6.316)
37.383 (7.000)
4.782 -
42.165 (7.000)
(10.522) 2.695
31.643 (4.305)
(7.458) (7.373)
24.185 (11.678)
31.644 (4.307)
(7.458) (7.373)
(1) 2
24185 (11.678)
5,86 (2.83)
3,59 (2.83)
7,67 (1,04)
7,31 (1,04)
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified in the income statement
Taxation relating to components of other comprehensive income
Net revaluation gain of investments in equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently in the income
statement

Transfer to the income statement on disposal of investments in debt
securities at fair value through other comprehensive income

Net revaluation loss of investments in debt securities measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive expenses
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year

Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year attributable
to:

Shareholders of the parent company

Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Note

40

40

40

40

2022 2021
€000 €000
24.185 _ (11.678)
1.590 (196)
2.304 1.820
3.894 1.624
60 44
(8.484) (5.120)
(8.424) (5.076)
(4.530) (3.452)
19.655 __ (15.130)
19.656  (15.132)
(1) 2
19.655 __ (15.130)
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Banks
Placements with other banks

Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities

Equity securities and collective investment units
Property, plant and equipment

Stock of property

Intangible assets

Tax receivable

Assets and disposal group held for sale
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Deposits by banks

Funding by Central Banks

Customer deposits and other customer accounts
Tax payable

Deferred tax liability

Liabilities and disposal group held for sale

Other liabilities

Loan capital

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

2022 2021

Note €'000 €'000
20,44 8.468.074 7.346.224
21,44 281.339 414.094
22 6.033.270 5.732.107
23 4.423.949 4.463.491
25 107.167 94.485
27 167.177 180.366
28 130.535 169.414
29 43.652 46.624
4.270 2.871

18, 31 209.866 253.906
32 119.284 132.526
19.988.583 18.836.108

33 108.027 122.464
34 2.278.377 2.293.931
35 15.928.247 14.941.933
4.614 2.568

30 9.254 9.890
18, 31 1.631 2.885
36 305.575 226.603
37 232.347 129.666
18.868.072 17.729.940

38 206.403 206.403
38, 39, 40 914.095 899.751
1.120.498 1.106.154

13 14

1.120.511 1.106.168

19.988.583 18.836.108

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2023.

S Lt

0. &u*eﬂ«{_

Oliver Gatzke
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Evripides A. Polykarpou
Chairman of the Board of
Directors

Christos Themistocleous
Chairman of the Audit
Committee of the Board

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Antonis K. Rouvas
Chief Financial Officer
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Attributable to shareholders of the parent company

Total
Reduction of Share attributable to Non-
share capital premium Retained Revaluation shareholders controlling
Share capital reserve reserve earnings reserves of the parent interests
(Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 39) (Note 40) company (Note 26) Total equity
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Balance 1 January 2022 206.403 260.269 553.414 28.432 57.636 1.106.154 14 1.106.168
Total comprehensive income for the year net of taxation
Profit/(loss) for the year - - - 24.186 - 24.186 (1) 24.185
Other comprehensive expenses for the year end - - - - (4.530) (4.530) - (4.530)
Transfer due to disposal of immovable property - - - 842 (842) - - -
Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation surplus - - - 116 (116) - - -
- - - 25.144 (5.488) 19.656 (1) 19.655
Transactions with shareholders
Contributions and distributions
Defence on deemed dividend distribution - - - (5.312) - (5.312) - (5.312)
- - - (5.312) - (5.312) - (5.312)
Balance 31 December 2022 206.403 260.269 553.414 48.264 52.148 1.120.498 13 1.120.511
The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Attributable to shareholders of the parent company

Total
Reduction of Share attributable to Non-
share capital premium Retained Revaluation shareholders controlling
Share capital reserve reserve earnings reserves of the parent interests
(Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 39) (Note 40) company (Note 26) Total equity
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Balance 1 January 2021 206.403 260.269 553.414 46.167 61.600 1.127.853 12 1.127.865
Total comprehensive expenses for the year net of taxation
(Loss)/profit for the year - - - (11.680) - (11.680) 2 (11.678)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year end - - - - (3.452) (3.452) - (3.452)
Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation surplus - - - 512 (512) - - -
- - - (11.168) (3.964) (15.132) 2 (15.130)
Transactions with shareholders
Contributions and distributions
Defence on deemed dividend distribution - - - (6.567) - (6.567) - (6.567)
- - - (6.567) - (6.567) - (6.567)
Balance 31 December 2021 206.403 260.269 553.414 28.432 57.636 1.106.154 14 1.106.168
The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) for the year

Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost
Impairment losses on financial instruments

Impairment losses on non financial assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal and write offs of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Loss on disposal and revaluation of investments in debt and equity securities and collective investment

units
Interest expense on lease liability
Loss on derecognition of lease liability

Provisions for pending litigations or complaints and/or claims or cases subject to arbitration proceedings

Interest income from other financial assets
Net losses/(gains) from revaluation of investment properties
Interest income from indemnification assets
Net gain from the disposal of stock of property
Interest income from debt securities

Dividend income

Interest expense on loan capital

Negative goodwill

Negative interest on funding by Central Banks
Interest expense on funding by Central Banks
Taxation

Net cash generated from operating activities before working capital changes
Decrease in loans and advances to customers
Decrease in loans and advances to customers held for sale

Increase in other assets and disposal group assets

Increase in customer deposits and other customer accounts
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities and liabilities held for sale
Decrease/(increase) in placements with other banks

Increase in obligatory reserves with Central Banks

Decrease in deposits by banks

Proceeds from the disposal of loans and advances

Prepayment received from disposal of loans and advances

Proceeds from the disposal of stock of property
Proceeds from the disposal of stock of property held for sale

Net cash from operating activities before taxation
Tax paid
Net cash from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for the acquisition of part of RCB Bank banking operations
Dividend received

Interest received from debt securities

Additions of investments in debt securities

Proceeds from the disposal/maturity/redemption of investments in debt securities

Additions of investments in equity securities and collective investment units

Proceeds from the disposal of investments in equity securities and collective investment units
Additions of property, plant and equipment

Additions of intangible assets

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Payments of lease liability
Net proceeds from the issue of loan capital

Net proceeds from the funding from Central Banks
Payment on defence on deemed dividend distribution
Interest paid on loan capital

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Note

16
16
18, 27, 29

14
12
12
12

41

17,18

41

27
29

36

44
44

2022 2021
€000 €000
31.643 (4.305)
(7.458) (7.373)
24.185 (11.678)
236 (5.869)
18.506 102.041
6.796 6.316
24.752 24.636
649 256
11.482 8.201
380 376
25 145
(474) (1.179)
(114) -
390 (183)
(186) (184)
(6.650) (6.498)
(61.445) (68.294)
(2.261) (1.046)
7.703 -
(4.782) -
(19.643) (6.069)
4.089 -
10.827 (2.397)
14.465 38.574
61.519 3.213
23.195 -
(2.854) (3.333)
964.572 762.207
69.881 (13.049)
111.620 (15.214)
(3.926) (6.801)
(14.437) (20.296)
- 8.698
8.125 -
43.597 51.164
3.992 -
1.279.749 805.163
(9.599) (16.206)
1.270.150 788.957
(318.087) -
2.093 1.046
83.440 98.349
(1.112.178) (661.094)
1.131.053 1.193.943
(30.854) (14.845)
14.695 10.674
(3.122) (8.638)
(7.810) (8.548)
100 27
(240.670) 610.914
(2.562) (2.979)
98.250 -

. 2.300.000
(8.056) -
(3.272) -
84.360 2.297.021

1.113.840 3.696.892
(36.540) (32.017)
7.459.643 3.794.768
8.536.943 7.459.643
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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Turnover

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method
Other interest income

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest
method

Other interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies
and financial instruments

Other income

Total net income

Staff costs

Restructuring costs

Depreciation and amortisation
Administrative and other expenses
Total expenses

Net (losses)/gains on derecognition of financial assets
measured at amortised cost

Impairment losses on financial instruments
Impairment losses on non financial assets

Negative goodwill

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year
Earnings/(loss) per share (€cent)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (€cent)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€cent)

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Note

4.6

10
12

13
15
27,29
14

16
16

41

17

19

19

2022 2021
€'000 €000
453.590 389.814
330.833 288.199
10.525 1.990
(36.238) (26.628)
(4.336) (7.257)
300.784 256.304
81.602 68.532
(8.168) (6.342)
73.434 62.190
6.106 5.227
24.524 25.866
404.848 349.587
(140.257)  (126.806)
(66.423) -
(23.865) (24.107)
(117.535) _ (114.872)
(348.080) _ (265.785)
56.768 83.802
(236) 5.869
(18.170)  (102.361)
(6.796) (6.289)
31.566 (18.979)
4.782 -
36.348 (18.979)
(8.578) 4.170
27.770 (14.809)
6,73 (3,59)
6,42 (3,59)
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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive expenses

Items that will not be reclassified in the income statement
Taxation relating to components of other comprehensive income
Net revaluation gain of investments in equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently in the income
statement

Transfer to the income statement on disposal of investments in equity
securities at fair value through other comprehnsive income

Net revaluation loss of investments in debt securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive expenses for the year net of taxation
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Note

40

40

40

40

2022 2021
€000 €000
27.770  (14.809)
1.811 (196)
2.304 1.820
4.115 1.624
60 -

(8.072) _  (5.117)
(8.012) _ (5.117)
(3.897) __ (3.493)
23.873 __ (18.302)
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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Banks
Placements with other banks

Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities

Equity securities

Investments in subsidiary companies
Property, plant and equipment

Stock of property

Intangible assets

Tax receivable

Assets and disposal group held for sale
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Deposits by banks

Funding by Central Banks

Customer deposits and other customer accounts
Amounts due to subsidiary companies

Tax payable

Deferred tax liability

Liabilities and disposal group held for sale

Other liabilities

Loan capital

Total liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Note

20,44
21,44
22
23
25
26
27
28
29

18, 31
32

33
34
35
26

30
18, 31
36
37

38
38, 39, 40

2022 2021
€'000 €000
8.468.074  7.346.224
272.126 396.925
6.033.270  5.732.107
4417175  4.463.198
30.610 28.754
98.881 113.412
154.736 168.082
75.796 100.442
26.986 30.188
4.952 2.741
217.000 260.887
78.100 92.341
19.877.706 __18.735.301
108.027 122.464
2.278.377  2.293.931
15.928.247  14.941.933
14.295 14.097
4.547 2.386
8.852 9.709

792 1.706
197.747 133.495
232.347 129.666
18.773.231 __ 17.649.387
206.403 206.403
898.072 879.511
1.104.475__ 1.085.914
19.877.706 __ 18.735.301

The Financial Statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2023.

& 2t

0. iw‘zh

Oliver Gatzke
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Evripides A. Polykarpou
Chairman of the Board of
Directors

Christos Themistocleous

Chairman of the Audit
Committee of the Board

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Antonis K. Rouvas
Chief Financial Officer
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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Balance 1 January 2022

Total comprehensive income for the year net of taxation
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive expenses
Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation surplus
Transfer due to disposal of immovable property

Transactions with shareholders
Contributions and distributions
Defence on deemed dividend distribution

Balance 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Reduction of Share
share capital premium Retained Revaluation
Share capital reserve reserve earnings reserves
(Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 39) (Note 40) Total equity
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
206.403 260.269 553.281 10.704 55.257 1.085.914
- - - 27.770 - 27.770
- - - - (3.897) (3.897)
- - - 116 (116) -
- - - 975 (975) -
- - - 28.861 (4.988) 23.873
- - - (5.312) - (5.312)
- - - (5.312) - (5.312)
206.403 260.269 553.281 34.253 50.269 1.104.475
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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Balance 1 January 2021

Total comprehensive expenses for the year net of taxation
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive expenses
Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation surplus

Transactions with shareholders
Contributions and distributions
Defence on deemed dividend distribution

Balance 31 December 2021

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Reduction of Share
share capital premium Retained Revaluation
Share capital reserve reserve earnings reserves
(Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 38) (Note 39) (Note 40) Total equity
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
206.403 260.269 553.281 31.568 59.262 1.110.783
- - - (14.809) - (14.809)
- - - - (3.493) (3.493)
- - - 512 (512) -
- - - (14.297) (4.005) (18.302)
- - - (6.567) - (6.567)
- - - (6.567) - (6.567)
206.403 260.269 553.281 10.704 55.257 1.085.914
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HELLENIC BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the year

Net (losses)/gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost
Impairment losses on financial instruments

Impairment losses on non financial assets

Impairment losses on the cost of investment of a subsidiary company

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets

Loss on disposal and write-offs of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Loss on disposal and revaluation of investments in debt and equity securities
Interest expense on lease liability

Net gains from revaluation of investment properties

Interest income from indemnification assets

Loss on derecognition of lease liability

Provisions for pending litigations or complaints and/or claims or cases subject to arbitration proceedings

Interest income from other financial assets

Negative interest on funding by Central Banks

Interest expense on funding by Central Banks

Interest income from debt securities

Dividend income

Net gain from the disposal of stock of property

Interest expense on loan capital

Negative goodwill

Gain from disposal of subsidiary

Taxation

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities before working capital changes
Decrease in loans and advances to customers

Decrease in loans and advances to customers (classified as assets held for sale)
Increase in other assets

Increase in customer deposits and other customer accounts
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities and liabilities held for sale
Decrease/(increase) in placements with other banks

Increase in obligatory reserves with Central Banks

Decrease in deposits by banks

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to subsidiary companies
Proceeds from the disposal of loans and advances

Prepayment received from disposal of loans and advances

Proceeds from the disposal of stock of property

Proceeds from the disposal of stock of property (classified as assets held for sale)
Net cash from operating activities before taxation

Tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for the acquisition of part of RCB Bank banking operations
Net increase in investment in subsidiary companies

Net proceeds from the disposal of investment in subsidiary companies
Dividend received

Interest received from debt securities

Additions of investments in debt securities

Additions of investments in equity securities

Proceeds from the disposal/maturity/redemption of investments in debt securities
Proceeds from the disposal of equity securities

Additions of property, plant and equipment

Additions of intangible assets

Proceeds from the disposal of Investment properties

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Payments of lease liability

Net proceeds from the funding from Central Banks

Net proceeds from the issue of loan capital

Payment of defence on deemed dividend distribution

Interest paid on loan capital

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Foreign exchange difference

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The notes on pages 45 to 212 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Note

16

16

16
27,29

26

27
29

36

44

2022 2021
€000 €000
27.770 (14.809)
236 (5.869)
18.170 102.361
5173 4.341
1.623 1.948
23.865 24.107
646 238
5.978 8.760
379 357
350 (572)
(186) (184)
1 144
(297) (1.034)
(114) -
(19.643) (6.069)
4.089 -
(61.403) (68.294)
(12.884) (8.909)
(5.580) (6.244)
7.703 -
(4.782) -
(899) (799)
8.578 (4.170)
(1.217) 25.303
61.519 3.241
23.195 -
(2.023) (1.198)
964.572 762.210
56.209 (10.223)
111.618 (15.965)
(2.958) (6.523)
(14.437) (20.296)
198 (5.065)
. 8.698
8.125 -
28.865 39.189
3.992 -
1.237.658 779.371
(8.216) (14.388)
1.229.442 764.983
(318.087) -
(1.524) (1.124)
14.731 11.974
12.716 8.909
83.408 98.349
(1.085.997) (661.094)
- (34)
1.111.764 1.193.473
162 -
(2.794) (8.263)
(7.055) (7.384)
526 -
100 27
(192.050) 634.833
(2.518) (2.980)
. 2.300.000
98.250 -
(8.056) -
(3.272) -
84.404 2.297.020
1.121.796 3.696.836
(36.540) (32.017)
7.442.474 3.777.655
8.527.730 7.442.474
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited (the "Bank") was incorporated and is domiciled in Cyprus and is a
public company in accordance with the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law (Cap. 113), the Cyprus
Stock Exchange Laws and Regulations and the Income Tax Laws. The Bank’s registered office is located
at 200, Corner of Limassol and Athalassa Avenues, 2025 Strovolos, P.O. Box 24747, 1394 Nicosia. The
Bank is the holding company of Hellenic Bank Group (the "Group").

The principal activity of the Group continued to be the provision of a wide range of banking and financial
services, which include financial, investment and insurance services, custodian and factoring services
and management and disposal of properties, predominantly acquired in debt satisfaction.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in both the English and the Greek language. In case of a
difference or inconsistency between the two, the English version prevails.

2. GOING CONCERN

Management applied the going concern principle for the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements ("Financial Statements") as at for the year ended 31 December 2022. For assessing the
appropriateness of the application of this principle, Management considered the Strategic Plan approved
by the Board on 20 December 2022 which presented the Bank’s business objectives and strategies for
achieving those objectives as well as the Medium-Term financial targets of the Bank. Management also
considered a wide range of information relating to current and future economic developments based on
which adverse scenarios were formulated and the impact on profitability, cash flows, capital and liquidity
requirements were assessed.

The main macroeconomic developments that could cause uncertainties regarding the application of this
principle relate to the impact that the ongoing Russia/Ukraine conflict has on the global economy and on
the increased inflation rates that accelerated in the second quarter of the year and the recent
developments triggered by the collapse of US Banks. Management closely monitors the developments
and the impact they may have on the Group’s operations and financial performance.

Based on the above and taking into account (refer to Additional Risk and Capital Management
information):

e the solid capital position with Capital adequacy ratio and CET 1 ratio of 20,57% and 18,28%,
respectively, significantly above minimum capital requirements;

e the ample liquidity position of the Bank with LCR at 444%;

e the completion of the Project Starlight on 30 March 2023 (refer to Note 31) and the completion of the
Transaction with RCB Bank for the acquisition of €346 million (fair value) performing loan portfolio
(refer to Note 41) which led to an improvement of the NPL ratio;

o the comprehensive Transformation Plan in effect which aims at cost reduction, restructuring and
rightsizing of the Bank whereas at the same time drive efficiency, enhance customer experience and
increase revenues;

e the Bank’s successful completion of a Voluntary Early Exit Scheme in November 2022 with ¢.16% of
employees exiting the Group for a total cost of €70,9 million;

o the Bank’s MREL issuance plan and the actual issuance of €100 million Senior Preferred Notes at
9% in July 2022 and of €200 million Tier 2 Subordinated Notes at 10,25% in March 2023, under the
€1.500.000.000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (EMTN);
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. GOING CONCERN (continued)

the Group concluded that there are no material uncertainties which could cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least the next 12 months from the date of approval of
the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

3. REPORTING GROUP STRUCTURE

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise of the Financial Statements of
Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited and its subsidiary companies, which together are referred to as
the Group.

On 21 March 2022, the Bank signed a Business Transfer Agreement to acquire part of the banking
operations of RCB Bank. For more details on this transaction, refer to Note 41.

As part of Project Starlight in addition to the disposal of non-performing loans, the Bank is proceeding
with the disposal of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd ("APS Cyprus"), the entity responsible for managing
the Bank’s Non-Performing Exposures and REOs. Additional information on the disposal group is
presented in Note 18, Note 31 and 52.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Bank’s separate Financial Statements (throughout the
document collectively refered to as “Financial Statements”) and have been applied consistently by all
companies of the Group.

4.1. Basis of preparation

(a) Going concern principle
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

(b) Statement of compliance

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the Cyprus
Companies Law, Cap.113.

(c) Basis of measurement

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except from derivative
financial instruments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), properties held for own use and investment properties
which are measured at fair value and stock of property which is measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair
value hedges and otherwise carried at cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair value attributable to the
risks that are being hedged.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The Financial Statements are presented in Euro (€), which is the functional currency of the Bank. All
figures have been rounded to the nearest thousand, except where otherwise indicated.
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and
interpretations

As from 1 January 2022, the Group adopted all the changes to International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU which are relevant to its operations. These adoptions did not
have a material effect on the Financial Statements of the Group.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020
(Amendments)

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier

application permitted. The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows:

e IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business
combinations.

e |AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the
cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the
company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company recognizes such sales
proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

e |AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which
costs a company includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous.

e Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the
lllustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16 Leases.

Standards, Amendments and Interpretation issued but not yet effective and not early adopted

The following Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations have been issued by
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") but are not yet effective for annual periods beginning
on 1 January 2022. Those which may be relevant to the Group and the Bank are set out below. The
Group and the Bank do not plan to adopt these Standards, Amendments and Interpretations early.

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

The standard is effective, for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. IFRS 17's, objective is
to provide an accounting model for insurance and reinsurance contracts that is more useful and
consistent for insurers. It establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of all types of insurance and reinsurance contracts, as well as of certain guarantees and
financial instruments with discretionary participation features. The main anticipated changes in the
recognition and measurement of insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held, the changes
in presentation and disclosures, the transition approach followed, and the estimated impacts of its
adoption are described below.

e Contracts in the scope of IFRS 17
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Insurance contracts are contracts under which the Insurance subsidiaries accept significant insurance
risk from a policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event
adversely affects the policyholder. The Insurance subsidiaries shall determine whether a contract
transfers significant insurance risk, by assessing if an insured event could cause them to pay to the
policyholder additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario with commercial substance,
even if the insured event is extremely unlikely or the expected present value of the contingent cash flows
is a small proportion of the expected present value of the remaining cash flows from the insurance
contract. The Insurance subsidiaries do not expect any impact on the insurance contracts’ classification
arising from the application of IFRS 17.

In addition, the Insurance subsidiaries hold reinsurance contracts that transfer significant insurance risk
or are deemed to transfer significant insurance risk since they transfer to the reinsurer substantially all the
insurance risk relating to the reinsured portions of the underlying insurance contracts. The Insurance
subsidiaries do not expect any impact on the reinsurance contracts’ classification arising from the
application of IFRS 17.

e Level of aggregation

The Insurance subsidiaries shall identify portfolios by aggregating insurance contracts that are subject to
similar risks and managed together. The Insurance subsidiaries expect that all contracts within each
product line, as defined for management purposes, have similar risks and, therefore, would represent a
portfolio of contracts when they are managed together. Each portfolio will be further sub-divided into
groups of contracts to which the recognition and measurement requirements of IFRS 17 would be
applied. At initial recognition, the Insurance subsidiaries will segregate contracts based on when they are
issued (annual cohorts). An annual cohort of a portfolio will contain all contracts that are issued within a
12-month period. Each annual cohort of a portfolio will then be further disaggregated into three groups of
contracts:

a) contracts that are onerous on initial recognition;

b) contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently;
and

c) anyremaining contracts in the portfolio.

Reinsurance contracts held shall be assessed separately from underlying insurance contracts issued.
The Insurance subsidiaries will divide portfolios of reinsurance contracts held applying the same
principles set out above, except that the references to onerous contracts refer to contracts on which there
is a net gain on initial recognition.

e Initial recognition

The Insurance subsidiaries will recognise groups of insurance contracts that they issue from the earliest
of the following:

°  The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts;

° The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group is due, or when the first
payment is received if there is no due date;

°  When the Insurance subsidiary determines that a group of contracts becomes onerous.

Groups of reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage will be recognized:
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
° Atthe start of the coverage period of that group of reinsurance contracts held
° At the initial recognition of any of the underlying insurance contracts, whichever is later

Groups of reinsurance contracts held that provide non-proportionate coverage will be recognized at the
earliest of the beginning of the coverage period of the group or the date an underlying onerous group of
contracts is recognized.

e Contract boundaries

All the future cash flows expected to arise within the boundary of each of the contracts in the group shall
be included in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts. In determining which cash flows fall
within a contract boundary, the Insurance subsidiaries will consider the substantive rights and obligations
arising from the terms of the contract, and also from applicable laws and regulations. The Insurance
subsidiaries will determine that cash flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from
substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which they can compel the
policyholder to pay the premiums or have a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with
insurance contract services.

A substantive obligation to provide services ends when:

° The Insurance subsidiaries have the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular
policyholder and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those risks; or

°  Both of the following criteria are satisfied:

¢ The Insurance subsidiaries have the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of
insurance contracts that contain the contract and, as a result, can set a price or level of
benefits that fully reflects the risk of that portfolio

¢ The pricing of the premiums for coverage up to the date when the risks are reassessed does
not take into account the risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date.

For groups of reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from
substantive rights and obligations of the cedant that exist during the reporting period in which the
Insurance subsidiaries are compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer or have a substantive right to
receive insurance contract services from the reinsurer.

A substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer shall end when the reinsurer:

e has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or level of benefits
that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or

e has a substantive right to terminate the coverage.

The Insurance subsidiaries have assessed the contract boundary for their insurance and reinsurance
contracts based on the above requirements.
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
e Measurement of Insurance contracts issued

The liability for remaining coverage (‘LRC”) shall represent the Insurance subsidiary’s obligation to
investigate and pay valid claims under existing contracts for insured events that have not yet occurred
(i.e. the obligation that relates to the unexpired portion of the coverage period), comprising (a) fulfiiment
cash flows relating to future service and (b) the contractual service margin yet to be earned.

The liability for incurred claims (“LIC”) shall include the Insurance subsidiary’s liability to pay valid claims
for insured events that have already incurred, other incurred insurance expenses arising from past
coverage service and it shall include its liability to pay amounts the Insurance subsidiary is obliged to pay
the policyholder under the contract, including repayment of investment components, when a contract is
derecognised. The estimate of LIC shall comprise the fulfiiment cash flows related to current and past
service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts at each reporting date shall be the sum of the LRC
and the LIC.

e Initial measurement for contracts measured using the general measurement model (“GMM”) and the
Variable fee approach (“VFA”)

Under the GMM and VFA models the Insurance subsidiaries shall measure a group of contracts on initial
recognition as the sum of the expected fulfilment cash flows within the contract boundary and the
contractual service margin (“CSM”) representing the unearned profit in the contracts relating to services
that will be provided under the contracts.

The fulfilment cashflows (“FCF”) is an explicit, unbiased and probability-weighted estimate (i.e., expected
value) of the present value of the future cash outflows minus the present value of the future cash inflows
that will arise as the entity fulfils insurance contracts, including a risk adjustment for non-financial risk.
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk for a group of insurance contracts, determined separately from
the other estimates, is the compensation required for bearing uncertainty about the amount and timing of
the cash flows that arises from non-financial risk. The Insurance subsidiaries will use the Value at risk
method in estimating the risk adjustment.

The Insurance subsidiaries shall adjust the estimates of future cash flows to reflect the time value of
money and the financial risks related to those cash flows, to the extent that the financial risks are not to
be included in the estimates of cash flows. The Insurance subsidiaries will use the ‘bottom-up approach’
to estimate the discount rates.

The CSM is a component of the overall carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts representing
unearned profit the Insurance subsidiaries will recognise as it provides insurance contract services over
the coverage period.

On initial recognition of a group of insurance contracts, if the total of (a) the fulfiiment cash flows, (b) any
cash flows arising at that date and (c) any amount arising from the derecognition of any assets or
liabilities previously recognised for cash flows related to the group (including assets for insurance
acquisition cash flows) is a net inflow, the CSM will be measured as the equal and opposite amount of the
net inflow, which would result in no gain no loss, arising on initial recognition. If the total is a net outflow,
then the group is onerous. In this case, the net outflow shall be recognised as a loss in profit or loss.

The Insurance subsidiaries will determine, at initial recognition, the group’s coverage units and allocate
the group’s CSM based on the coverage units provided in the period.
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HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

With respect to reinsurance contracts measured using the GMM, the same accounting policies will be
applied as for insurance contracts issued to measure a group of reinsurance contracts held, adapted
where necessary to reflect features that differ from those of insurance contracts.

The life insurance subsidiary will apply both methods (i.e. GMM and VFA) for certain insurance portfolios.

The non-life insurance subsidiary will apply the GMM to one of its insurance portfolios (i.e. Engineering
portfolio).

e Subsequent measurement for contracts measured using the GMM and the VFA

At the end of each reporting period, the Insurance subsidiaries will update the fulfilment cash flows for
both LIC and LRC to reflect the current estimates of the amounts, timing and uncertainty of future cash
flows, as well as discount rates and other financial variables. Experience adjustments relating to current
or past service will be recognized in profit or loss. Experience adjustments relating to future service will be
included in the LRC by adjusting the CSM.

The carrying amount of the CSM, for contracts measured using the GMM, of the group at the end of the
reporting period equals the carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting period adjusted, as follows:

The non-life subsidiary will disaggregate the total amount recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income into an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and
insurance service expense, and insurance finance income or expenses.

°  The effect of any new contracts added to the group in the reporting period

° Interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the reporting period, measured at the
discount rates at initial recognition

°  The changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service, except to the extent that:

¢ Such increases in the fulfilment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, giving
rise to a loss; or

¢ Such decreases in the fulfiiment cash flows are allocated to the loss component of the liability
for remaining coverage

°  The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM

°  The amount recognised as insurance revenue because of the transfer of services in the period,
determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period (before any
allocation) over the current and remaining coverage period.

The carrying amount of the CSM, for contracts measured using the VFA, of the group at the end of the
reporting period equals the carrying at the beginning of the reporting period adjusted, as follows:

° the CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the year;

° the change in the amount of the Insurance subsidiary’s share of the fair value of the underlying
items and changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, except to the extent that:
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

¢ a decrease in the amount of the Insurance subsidiary’'s share of the fair value of the
underlying items, or an increase in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services,
exceeds the carrying amount of the CSM, giving rise to a loss in profit or loss and creating a
loss component; or

¢ an increase in the amount of the Insurance subsidiaries' share of the fair value of the
underlying items, or a decrease in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, is
allocated to the loss component, reversing losses previously recognised in profit or loss;

° the effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and

°  the amount recognised as insurance revenue because of the services provided in the year.
With respect to onerous contracts, after the loss component will be recognised, the Insurance
subsidiaries shall allocate any subsequent changes in fulfilment cash flows of the LRC on a systematic
basis between ‘loss component’ and ‘LRC excluding the loss component’.
With respect to reinsurance contracts measured using the GMM, the same accounting policies will be
applied as for insurance contracts issued to measure a group of reinsurance contracts held, adapted
where necessary to reflect features that differ from those of insurance contracts.

e Initial and subsequent measurement for contracts measured using the premium allocation approach
HPAA!Y

The PAA is an optional simplified measurement model in IFRS 17 that is available to insurance contracts
that meet certain eligibility criteria.

At initial recognition, for a group of contracts that is not onerous, the Insurance subsidiaries shall measure
the carrying amount of the LRC as:

°  the premiums, if any, received in cash;

° minus any insurance acquisition cash flows at that date considering that the Insurance
subsidiaries have not elected to recognise such payments as an expense when incurred and

plus or minus any amount arising from the de-recognition at that date of any asset for insurance
acquisition cash flows and any other asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related
to the group of contracts that the Insurance subsidiaries pay or receive before the group of
insurance contracts is recognised.

The carrying amount of the LRC at the end of each subsequent reporting period for a group of contracts
that is not onerous, shall represent the carrying amount at the start of the reporting period:

°  Plus premiums received in the period;
°  Minus insurance acquisition cash flows paid in the period;

° Plus any amounts relating to the amortisation of the acquisition cash flows recognised as an
expense in the reporting period;

°  Minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided in the period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The LRC will not be discounted to reflect the time value of money and the effect of financial risk since at
initial recognition of each group of contracts, the expected time between providing each part of the
services and the related premium due date is no more than a year.

Under the PAA, no contracts will be assumed as onerous at initial recognition unless facts and
circumstances indicate otherwise. Where this is not the case, and if at any time during the coverage
period facts and circumstances lead the Insurance subsidiaries to believe that a group of insurance
contracts under PAA has become onerous, the Insurance subsidiaries would test it for onerousness. If
the amount of the fulfilment cash flows exceeds the carrying amount of the LRC, the Insurance
subsidiaries will establish a loss component and increases the LRC for the corresponding amount and
recognise the loss in profit or loss.

Under IFRS 17, the LIC for groups of insurance contracts measured under the PAA will be estimated
based on the general measurement model.

The same accounting policies will be applied as for insurance contracts issued to measure a group of
reinsurance contracts held, adapted where necessary to reflect features that differ from those of
insurance contracts.

The life insurance subsidiary will apply the PAA for certain insurance portfolios.

The non-life insurance subsidiary will apply the PAA to all of its insurance portfolios except to the
Engineering portfolio which is measured using the GMM.

¢ Significant judgements and estimates
°  Estimates of future cash flows

In estimating future cash flows, the Insurance subsidiaries will incorporate, in an unbiased way, all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date.
This information includes both internal and external historical data about claims and other experience,
updated to reflect current expectations of future events.

°  Discount rates

The Insurance subsidiaries will determine the risk-free discount rates based on the risk-free interest rate
term structure published by the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (EIOPA) for the
purposes of the Solvency Il Directive. In addition to reflect the liquidity characteristics of the contracts, the
risk-free yield curves will be adjusted by an illiquidity premium.

The requirement to measure liabilities for insurance contracts using discount rates determined applying
the IFRS17 requirements will be a change from current practice.

° Risk adjustment for non-financial risk
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the compensation that the Insurance subsidiaries require for
bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of insurance contracts.
The risk adjustment will reflect an amount that an insurer would rationally pay to remove the uncertainty
that future cash flows will exceed the expected value amount.

IFRS 17 does not prescribe a methodology for the determination of the risk adjustment, but instead
provides some guidelines on the properties that the chosen methodology should satisfy.
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° CSM

The CSM of a group of contracts is recognised in profit or loss to reflect services provided in each year,
by identifying the coverage units, allocating the CSM remaining at the end of the year (before any
allocation) equally to each coverage unit provided in the year and expected to be provided in future years,
and recognising in profit or loss the amount of the CSM allocated to coverage units provided in the year.
The number of coverage units is the quantity of services provided by the contracts in the Insurance
subsidiary, determined by considering for each contract the quantity of the benefits provided and its
expected coverage period. The coverage units will be reviewed and updated at each reporting date.

e Presentation

The adoption of the standard will significantly change how the insurance contracts issued and the
reinsurance contracts held are presented and disclosed on the statutory financial statements of the
Group’s insurance subsidiaries. However, this is not expected to have a significant impact in the
presentation of the Group’s financial statements.

e Transition approach and impact

The Group’s Non-Life insurance subsidiary applied the full retrospective approach to all contracts issued
and reinsurance contracts held. For the full retrospective approach, the Non-Life subsidiary identified,
recognized and measured each group of insurance contracts and any assets for insurance acquisition
cash flows as if IFRS 17 had always applied, any previously reported balances that would not have
existed if IFRS 17 had always been applied will be derecognised and the resulting net difference will be
recognised in equity. The Non-Life subsidiary concluded that reasonable and supportable information that
was necessary to apply the full retrospective approach was available.

The Group’s Life Insurance subsidiary applied the full retrospective approach on transition for all groups
of insurance and reinsurance contracts containing contracts with short-term coverage period not
extending beyond one year. For these short-term contracts it was concluded that reasonable and
supportable information that is necessary to apply the full retrospective approach is available.

For all groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts containing contracts with long-term coverage
period extending beyond one year, the fair value transition approach has been applied as it was
impracticable to apply the full retrospective approach. Under this method the groups of insurance
contracts on transition date, 1 January 2022, were measured at fair value, any existing balances that
would not exist had IFRS 17 applied have been derecognised and the resulting net difference will be
recognised in equity.

The Group’s Life Insurance subsidiary considers the full retrospective approach impracticable for its long-
term groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts. Specifically, the effects of retrospective application
are not determinable because the information required has not been collected (or has not been collected
with sufficient granularity) or is unavailable because of system migrations, data retention requirements or
other reasons. Such information includes:

°  expectations about a contract's profitability and risks of becoming onerous required for identifying
groups of contracts;

° information about historical cash flows (including insurance acquisition cash flows and other cash
flows incurred before the recognition of the related contracts) and discount rates required for
determining the estimates of cash flows on initial recognition and subsequent changes on a
retrospective basis;
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° information required to allocate fixed and variable overheads to groups of contracts, because of
its current accounting policies that do not require such information; and

° information about certain changes in assumptions and estimates, because they were not
documented on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s insurance companies have assessed the impact that the initial application of IFRS 17 will
have on their financial position. Based on the assessments undertaken to date, the total adjustment (after
tax) to the Insurance subsidiaries’ total equity as at 1 January 2022 amounts to an increase of c.€11,7
million., being an amount of c.€12,1 million positive impact from the Life-Insurance subsidiary and ¢.€0,4
million negative impact from the Non-Life insurance subsidiary. The actual impact of adopting IFRS 17
may change until the Group finalises testing and assessment of systems and implementation of
internal control processes, which is expected until the Group finalises its first Financial Statements that
include the date of initial application.

Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a
transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is
recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are
housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment
indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. As the Group does not currently have any
associates or joint ventures, it does not expect any impact from adopting these amendments on its
Consolidated Financial Statements.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(Amendments)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024, with
earlier application permitted, and will need to be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8. The
objective of the amendments is to clarify the principles in IAS 1 for the classification of liabilities as either
current or non-current. The amendments clarify the meaning of a right to defer settlement, the
requirement for this right to exist at the end of the reporting period, that management intent does not
affect current or non-current classification, that options by the counterparty that could result in settlement
by the transfer of the entity’'s own equity instruments do not affect current or non-current classification.
Also, the amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date will affect a liability’s classification. Additional disclosures are also required for non-current
liabilities arising from loan arrangements that are subject to covenants to be complied with within twelve
months after the reporting period. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting these amendments on its Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting
Estimates (Amendments)

The amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
with earlier application permitted and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. The amendments introduce a new definition of
accounting estimates, defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify what changes in accounting estimates are and
how these differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors. The Amendments have
been endorsed by the EU. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of adopting these amendments
on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of
Accounting policies (Amendments)

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier
application permitted. The amendments provide guidance on the application of materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the requirement to disclose
"significant" accounting policies with a requirement to disclose "material" accounting policies. Also,
guidance and illustrative examples are added in the Practice Statement to assist in the application of the
materiality concept when making judgements about accounting policy disclosures. The Amendments
have been endorsed by the EU. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of adopting these
amendments on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (Amendments)

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier
application permitted. In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception under IAS 12 and specify how companies should account for deferred tax
on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Under the amendments, the initial
recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. It only applies if the recognition of a lease asset and lease liability
(or decommissioning liability and decommissioning asset component) give rise to taxable and deductible
temporary differences that are not equal. The Amendments has been endorsed by the EU as at the date
of the approval of these Financial Statements. The Group is currently evaluating the expected impact of
adopting these amendments on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (amendments)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 2024, with
earlier application permitted. The amendments are intended to improve the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction in IFRS 16, while it
does not change the accounting for leases unrelated to sale and leaseback transactions. In particular, the
seller-lessee determines ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ in such a way that the seller-lessee
would not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Applying
these requirements does not prevent the seller-lessee from recognising, in profit or loss, any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. A seller-lessee applies the amendment retrospectively
in accordance with IAS 8 to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application, being the beginning of the annual reporting period in which an entity first applied IFRS 16.
The Group is currently evaluating the expected impact of adopting these amendments on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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4.3. Basis of consolidation

4.3.1. Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred
to the Group (Refer to Note 4.3.2.). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured
at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for
impairment. Any negative goodwill is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transactions costs are
expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at the fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is
not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration
is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interest in the acquired
entity is remeasured at fair value and any resulting gain or loss,if any, is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Amounts arising from interest in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

4.3.2. Subsidiaries
The Group consolidates a subsidiary when it controls it, which is achieved when the Group has all of the
following:

e Power over the relevant activities of the investee, for example through voting or other rights,
e exposure, or right to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
e the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its return.

When the Bank has less than 50% shareholding, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The
Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Bank’s voting rights
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including any contractual arrangements with other vote
holders over the relevant activities and how decisions about those activities are made and whether the
Bank can direct those activities, rights arising from other contractual arrangements such as call and put
rights and potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties.

The Group reassesses whether it has control if there are changes to any of the three elements of control.

The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases. Investment in subsidiaries are
presented at cost in the Bank’s statement of financial position less provision for impairment, where
applicable. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Bank’s accounting policies. All intra-group balances, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to intra-group transactions are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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The Group promotes the formation of special purpose vehicles (SPVs) for the purpose of asset
securitisation transactions so as to accomplish defined objectives. The Group consolidates these SPVs if
the substance of its relationship with them indicates that it has control over them.

4.3.3. Non-controlling interests (NCI)

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

The non-controlling interests are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within
equity from the Company owners’ equity.

4.3.4. Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain (including goodwill) or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when control is lost.

4.4. Foreign currency

(a) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at
that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair
value are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was
determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement,
except for differences arising on the translation of a financial liability designated as the hedging
instrument in a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation or in a qualifying cash flows hedge,
which are recognised directly in equity.

(b) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into the Group’s presentation currency (Euro) at exchange rates at the
statement of financial position date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into
Euro using the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations are recognised directly in the translation reserve within equity. When a foreign
operation is disposed of, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in equity and
relating to that foreign operation is reclassified to the income statement when the gain or loss on disposal
is recognised.

The Group also hedges the foreign currency risk that derives from the translation to Euro of the net
position of its foreign subsidiaries by maintaining an open foreign exchange position. All exchange
differences resulting from the translation of the open foreign exchange position are recognised in the
translation reserve. There was no movement in the translation reserve since the termination of the foreign
operations.

4.5. Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker, which is the Management Board of the Bank under the leadership of the Chief
Executive Officer. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that is responsible for
allocating resources to and assessing the performance of the operating segments of the Group. The
Group's operations are mainly concentrated in Cyprus.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised into two operating segments in Cyprus based on the
provision of services, as follows:

e Banking and financial services segment - principally providing banking and financial services,
including financing and investment services, custodian and factoring services as well as
management and disposal of properties. Banking and financial services segment also includes the
share of results of associate company,

¢ Insurance services segment - principally providing life and general insurance services.

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the
purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on profit or loss before taxation which is measured in the same manner
as in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Transfer prices between segments are on an arm's length basis in a manner similar to transactions with
third parties. Balances and transactions between segments are eliminated on consolidation. Segmental
information is presented in Note 48.

4.6. Turnover

Turnover comprises of interest income, fee and commission income, net gains or losses on disposal and
revaluation of foreign currencies and financial instruments and other income. Group turnover also
includes net insurance income.

4.7. Interest income and expense

Net interest income comprises of interest income and interest expense calculated using the effective
interest method (EIR) and other methods. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or liability.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) is calculated by applying the EIR on the gross carrying amount of the
asset, unless the asset is credit impaired. For financial assets that are credit-impaired, interest income is
calculated by applying EIR to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less credit loss allowance).
For purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, interest income is recognised by
applying a credit adjusted EIR (CAEIR) (based on an initial expectation of further credit losses) on the
amortised cost of the financial asset.

Interest expense on financial liabilities held at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest
method (EIR) which allocates interest over the expected life of the financial liabilities.

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at FVOCI is presented within
“Interest income calculated using the effective interest method” in the income statement, which also
includes negative interest on certain financial liabilities at amortised cost. Interest expense on financial
liabilities held at amortised cost is presented within “Interest expense calculated using the effective
interest method” which also includes negative interest on certain financial assets held at amortised cost.
Interest income and expense on derivative financial instruments are included in “Other Interest Income”
and “Other Interest Expense” respectively in the income statement.

Further details on interest income and interest expense are disclosed in Note 6 and Note 7 respectively.
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4.8. Fee and commission income and expense
The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its clients
performed either at a point in time or over a certain period of time.

The Group applies a five-step revenue recognition model to recognise commissions and fee income,
under which the performance obligations as well as the timing of their satisfaction are identified and
income is recognised when control of goods and services is transferred, i.e. the contractual performance
obligation to the client has been satisfied. The amount of income is measured on the basis of the
contractually agreed transaction price and is allocated to the performance obligations defined in the
contract.

Fee and commission expense is recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis, as the related
services are performed.

Further details on fee and commission income and expense are disclosed in Note 8 and Note 9
respectively.

4.9. Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established and is disclosed
in the consolidated income statement in Other income.

4.10. Income from hire purchase

Income from hire purchase recognised in the income statement is calculated in a systematic manner on
the basis of instalments falling due, in order to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the net
investment outstanding.

Hire purchase debtors are included in loans and advances to customers in the consolidated statement of
financial position, net of unearned charges attributable to future instalments.

Income from hire purchase is included in "Interest income from loans and advances to customer" in Note
6.

4.11. Investment properties rental income
Rental income is recognised, in Other income, on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of
the relevant agreements.

4.12. Leases

The Group leases land and building for its branches. At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price.
However, for leases of branches and office premises the Group elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements made to the branches or
office premises.
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The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term and recorded to the income statement within
"Depreciation and amortisation". In addition, right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. The Group presents right-of-
use assets in Note 27 "Property, Plant and Equipment"” in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charged
to the income statement within "Interest expense". It is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from the change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised
in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset and any remaining difference is recorded in the income statement within
"Other income". The Group presents lease liabilities in "Other liabilities" in the statement of financial
position.

For leases that at commencement date have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases for which the
underlying asset is of low value, the Group applies either the short-term exemption or the low value asset
exemption and such assets are not presented on the Group’s balance sheet. Instead, payments are
recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term in Note 14 "Administrative and other expenses".
Such exemptions were applied for lease contracts of vehicles and equipment.

In addition, where practicable/feasible, the Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to
provide operational flexibility. The extension options are exercisable by the Group companies and not the
lessor. As a result, the Group applied judgement to determine whether it is reasonably certain that an
extension option or termination option will be exercised which in effect impacts the determination of the
lease term and hence, the determination of the discount rate and the amounts that the lease liability and
right-of-use assets are recognised.

Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease
transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is
the case, then the lease is a finance lease, if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment,
the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life
of the asset.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the
lease. The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating
the gross investment in the lease.

4.13. Employee retirement benefits
The Group participates in different defined contribution retirement plans.
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The terms of employment of the majority of Group employees are in accordance with the provisions of the
Collective Agreement (CA) between the Cyprus Bankers Employers’ Association and the Cyprus Union of
Bank Employees and/or between Hellenic Bank and the Cyprus Union of Bank Employees. Under these
terms of employment, a defined contributions Provident Fund scheme for employees was set up.

The rules and regulations of the Provident Fund scheme is governed by the Cyprus legislation. The
employer’s contribution to the Provident Fund for the Hellenic Bank legacy employees is set at 9%. The
employer’s contribution to the Provident Fund for the majority of the ex-CCB transferred employees who
have chosen to become members of the said Fund is set at 7% and different terms also apply for those
ex-CCB transferred employees who have chosen to remain members of the different Provident Fund
schemes which were in operation before the transfer. The different percentage and terms of Provident
Fund schemes for the ex-CCB transferred employees which derived from CA, is attributed to the fact that
Hellenic Bank is required, under TUPE, to observe the terms of any CA until the date of the termination,
or expiry of the CA, or until the entry into force, or application of another CA, in each case for a minimum
of one year.

The Bank also offers to employees whose employment contracts are not in accordance with the terms of
employment of the CA, the option to become members of multi-employer defined contribution Provident
Fund schemes of their choice to which the employer’s contribution is set at 9%.

Group obligations towards the employees’ retirement benefits are limited to payment of the contributions
to each Provident Fund. Employer’s contributions due for payment are recognised as staff costs (refer to
Note 13).

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that cash will be refunded or future
payments will be reduced.

4.14. Income tax
Income tax comprises of current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in the income statement unless it
relates to items recognised directly in equity or in the statement of comprehensive income.

Current tax

Current tax represents the amount of current income tax payable on the taxable profit of a tax period,
using tax rates prevailing as at the date of the statement of financial position as well as any adjustments
to tax payable in respect of previous years’ results. The amount of tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income
taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted at the reporting date. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject
to interpretation and adjusts the tax position accordingly. Additional disclosures are provided in Note 17.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses carried forward
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised. Temporary differences arise
from differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial
position and their tax base. The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that/it is uncertain whether there will be sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it
becomes probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at tax rates expected to be applicable in the period during which the asset will
be utilised or the liability will be settled taking into consideration the tax rates and legislation enacted or
substantially enacted at the reporting date. Detailed disclosures on the deferred tax asset and deferred
tax liability are provided in Note 30.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if they relate to taxes imposed by the same tax
authority provided it allows such settlements, and provided the intention of the Group is to either settle the
net amount or realise the asset and settle the obligation simultaneously.

4.15. Special Levy

According to the “Special Levy on Credit Institutions Law of 2011 to 2017”, special levy is imposed on
credit institutions on a quarterly basis, at the rate of 0,0375% on qualifying deposits held by each credit
institution on 31 December of the previous year for the quarter ending on 31 March, on 31 March of the
same year for the quarter ending on 30 June, on 30 June of the same year for the quarter ending on 30
September and on 30 September of the same year for the quarter ending on 31 December. Based on an
amendment to the Law effective as from 6 October 2017, an amount corresponding to the annual
contribution of each credit institution to the Resolution Fund or to the Single Resolution Fund as the case
may be, is deducted from the balance of special levy payable, up to the maximum amount of special levy
for the same year.

Based on an amendment to the Law, as from 1 January 2015, 35/60 of the funds received were
deposited to the Recapitalisation Fund incorporated pursuant to the Law 190(1) 2015. As from 1 January
2018 and for every subsequent year, 35/60 of the special levy paid in accordance with the Law, will be
transferred to the Recapitalisation Fund within 45 days of their deposit in the Government General
Account and the remaining 25/60 will remain in that Account. All transfers to the Recapitalisation Fund will
cease upon accumulation of a total amount of €175 million in that Fund.

Special levy is recognised in the income statement in "Administrative and other expenses".
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4.16. Financial instruments

4.16.1. Recognition and initial measurement

The Group initially recognises loans and advances to customers, customers deposits and loan capital
issued on the date at which they are originated. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially
recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

A financial asset or a financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item measured at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. The fair value of a
financial instrument at initial recognition is generally its transaction price. Financial instruments without
significant financing component are initially measured at the transaction price.

4.16.2. Classification and Measurement of financial assets and liabilities

The classification of financial assets is determined on the basis of the Bank’s business model within
which the financial assets are managed and the contractual cash flow characteristics (whether the cash
flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ (SPPI)).

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows (the "hold to collect" business model) and their contractual terms meet the SPPI
criterion will be classified at amortised cost. Those debt instruments held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the asset (the ‘hold to collect
and sell’ business model) and their contractual terms meet the SPPI criterion will be classified at FVOCI.
Financial assets with contractual terms that do not meet the SPPI criterion are classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets that are held for trading and those that are managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis will be measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect
contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Business Model Assessment

The Group assessed the business model criteria at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way in
which the business is managed, and information is provided to management. Information that is
considered in determining the applicable business model includes:

o the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice,

¢ how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model
are evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management,

o the risks that affect the performance of the business model and, in particular the way in which those
risks are managed,

e the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reason for such sales and expectations
about future sales activity, which should be considered as part of an overall assessment of how the
Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are
generated.
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Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

The contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets are assessed, at product level, with reference
to whether the cash flows represent SPPI. "Principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. "Interest" is defined as consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms that
could change the contractual cash flows so that it would not meet the condition for SPPI, including: (i)
contingent and leverage features, (ii) non-recourse arrangements and (iii) features that could modify the
time value of money.

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

Financial Assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless designated under
the fair value option, if the financial asset is held in a "Hold to Collect" business model and the contractual
cash flows are SPPI.

At initial recognition, the financial asset is measured at fair value including any directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortised cost is also reduced with any expected
credit loss. In the income statement, the amortisation is included in "Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method", the foreign exchange gains and losses are included in "Net gains on disposal
and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial instruments" and impairment losses are included in
"Impairment losses on financial instruments”. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in the
income statement in "Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost".

The classification relates to cash and balances with Central Bank, placements with other banks, loans
and advances to customers that pass the SPPI test, debt securities held under the "Hold to collect"
business model and indemnification assets.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)

A financial asset that has been originated, acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of trading or
that is not managed within a "hold to collect" or a "hold to collect and sell" business model is measured at
FVTPL.

Additionally, instruments for which the contractual cash flows do not meet the SPPI assessment must be
measured at FVTPL even if they are managed within a business model whose objective is "hold to
collect" or "hold to collect and sell".

At initial recognition, the Bank may also choose to irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at
fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases. All financial assets at FVTPL were mandatorily
classified as such.

Upon subsequent measurement of FVTPL a gain or loss on financial asset is recognised in the income
statement in "Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial instruments".

Included in this classification are equity securities and derivatives held for trading.

65

Hellenic Bank Group
Annual Financial Report 2022



HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Debt Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

Debt Instruments are classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI), unless designated under the fair value option, if the financial asset is held in a "Hold to Collect
and Sell" business model and the contractual cash flows are SPPI.

Upon subsequent measurement of FVOCI a gain or loss on debt instruments is recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for interest revenue, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
gains or losses, which are recognised in the income statement in "Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method", "Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial
instruments" and "Impairment losses on financial instruments" respectively. When the debt instrument is
derecognised the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to the income statement in "Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign
currencies and financial instruments".

Included in this classification are debt securities held under the "Hold to collect and sell" business model.

Equity instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

An equity instrument is any instrument that meets the definition of equity when it meets the definition of
Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL,
unless they are not held for trading purposes. For such instruments the Group has made an irrevocable
election on initial recognition to measure them at FVOCI. The measurement of such instruments is
determined on an instruments-by instrument basis. For equity securities at FVOCI, other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCI| and are never reclassified to the income statement. No impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities include deposits by banks, funding by Central Banks, customer deposits and other
customer accounts and are classified as measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in the income statement in “Interest Expense calculated using the
effective interest method”. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in the income statement
in “Net gains on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies and financial instruments”.

For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, gains or losses attributable to changes in own credit risk may
be presented in other comprehensive income. All financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost.

Loan capital

On issuance of bonds an assessment is made to determine whether the instruments issued should be
classified as financial liabilities or as compound financial instruments that contain both liability and equity
elements, as these are accounted for separately, as financial liabilities and equity respectively. In addition,
an assessment is made whether the instrument is a hybrid instrument containing a derivative and a
financial liability host contract.

Bonds issued that represent contracts that will or may be settled in the entity's own equity instruments
and they are non-derivative contracts that consist of an obligation for the entity to deliver a variable
number of its own equity instruments are classified as financial liabilities. Furthermore, a single obligation
to deliver a variable number of an entity's own equity instruments is a non-derivative obligation that meets
the definition of a financial liability and cannot be subdivided into components for the purpose of
evaluating whether the instrument contains a component that meets the definition of equity.
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Bonds issued that are classified as financial liabilities under loan capital are initially measured at the fair
value of the consideration received minus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the
loan capital. Subsequently these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, in
order to amortise the difference between the cost and the redemption value, over the period to the
earliest date that the Bank has the right to redeem the loan capital.

Based on this assessment, the loan capital issued contains an embedded derivative, represented by the
mandatory conversion feature. This assessment does not apply for Notes issued under the EMTN
program.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that also includes a non-derivative host
contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a
stand-alone derivative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise
would be required by the contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial
instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit
index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to
the contract.

Derivatives embedded in financial liability or a non-financial host are separated from the host and
accounted for as separate derivatives if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative (as defined above); and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

The Bank considers that the value of this embedded derivative, both at inception and as at the reporting
date, is nil as it considers that the probability of conversion is remote.

Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised initially and are subsequently measured at fair value. Derivatives are classified
as assets when their fair value is positive or as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Under IFRS 9,
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of IFRS 9 are not
separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument is assessed for classification in its entirety.

4.16.3. Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition are not reclassified to other measurement category
(as mentioned above), unless the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in
which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period
following the change in the business model. A change in the business model is made only in exceptional
circumstances.

4.16.4. Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset.
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The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In
these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition and contract modification

The Bank sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial
renegotiations, or for distressed loans, with a view to maximising recovery. Such restructuring activities
include extended payment term arrangements, change in interest rates, payment holidays, payment
forgiveness or exchange of debt instruments.

A forborne exposure may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair
value when the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The renegotiation date is
consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes,
including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.
However, the Group also assesses whether the "new" financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit
impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the
debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences between the carrying amount of
the original terms and the fair value at initial recognition of the "new" loan are recognised as a gain or loss
in "Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost" in the income statement.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in
derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of
the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in the income statement in line "Impairment
losses on financial instruments". The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the
modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit adjusted effective interest rate for
purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets) and is compared to the gross carrying amount of
the original loan.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

4.16.5. Impairment of financial assets

The "Expected Credit Loss (ECL)" approach applies to all financial assets that are measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI, and to off balance sheet lending commitments such as loan commitments and financial
guarantees. Under the ECL model provisions are recognised upon initial recognition of the financial asset
reflecting the expectation of potential credit losses at the time of initial recognition. The Group recognises
a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date in “Impairment losses on financial instruments” in
the income statement.
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Measurement of ECL

The measurement of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by
evaluating a range of possible outcomes and considering reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group calculates ECL as the product of probability of default
(PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD). Refer to the sections below for details on
each of these components.

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 are calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime
ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

A loss allowance is recognised either at an amount equal to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL. At initial
recognition, an impairment allowance is required for expected credit losses (ECL) resulting from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (12-month ECL). In the event of a significant increase
in credit risk, an allowance is required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected
life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL). Facilities/customers are classified in three stages, according
to the increases in credit risk level, considering certain criteria:

e Stage 1: Financial Instruments are classified as stage 1 when the credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition. The Group recognises a credit loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12 month expected credit losses.

e Stage 2: Financial Instruments are classified as stage 2 when the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but not to the point that the asset is credit impaired. The Group
recognises a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

e Stage 3: Financial Instruments are classified as stage 3 when the credit quality of a financial asset
deteriorates to the point that the asset is credit impaired. The Bank aligned Stage 3 classification with
the NPE classification consistent with the definition used for internal credit risk management purposes.
The Group recognises a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Financial assets that are credit impaired upon initial recognition are categorized within Stage 3 with a
carrying value already reflecting the lifetime expected credit losses. The accounting treatment for these
purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets is discussed further below.

For facilities/customers that meet the criteria to be individually assessed for provisions the Bank reviews
and validates the Stage classification using a combination of backward looking, current and forward-
looking indicators.

Loans and advances acquired as part of a business combination are initially recognised at fair value. The
fair values on initial recognition form the gross amount of the loans irrespective of the principal amount of
these loans and what constituted the gross carrying amount of these loans in the accounting records of
the Seller. In cases where the acquired loans were credit impaired, the Bank includes the initial expected
credit losses in the estimated cash flows when calculating the credit adjusted effective interest rate.
Accordingly, the effective interest rate of a POCI would be the discount rate that equates the present
value of the expected cash flows with the purchase price of the loan.
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Probability of default (PD)

PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on their financial obligation in a specified time
period, assuming it has not closed or defaulted since the reporting date. Projection of PDs is based on
macroeconomic scenarios and are differentiated based on segment (e.g. Retail, SME and Corporate),
and status (e.g. 0 dpd, Restructured). For the external rated exposures (e.g. Treasury and International
lending), the historical default rates published by Moody’s per segment are utilized. For the non-external
rated facilities, i.e. local loan book, the PD is estimated based on the Bank’s historical default rates.

Exposure at default (EAD)

EAD represents the amount expected to be owed if a default event was to occur. The EAD is determined
by calculating the expected cash flows which vary depending on the product type (e.g. revolving
products). By analyzing the behavior of the product types, the behavioral maturity of these products is
estimated. The utilization of the off balance sheet amount of revolving facilities is also considered in
determining Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) allocation.

Loss given default (LGD)

LGD represents an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is calculated as the expected loss at default
divided by EAD. LGD is based on factors that impact the likelihood and value of any subsequent write off,
in which case it takes into account property prices, liquidation haircuts due to forced sale or market
conditions, liquidation periods and other factors.

Definition of default

IFRS 9 does not define default but requires the definition to be consistent with the definition of default
used for internal credit risk management purposes. Under IFRS 9 default occurs when the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, and the borrower is more than 90 days past due
on any material credit obligation to the Group. The Bank aligned Stage 3 classification with the European
Banking Authority's (EBA) criteria for NPE classification.

Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired Financial assets (POCI)

Financial assets are considered purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) if upon initial recognition
they are purchased or originated at a deep discount that reflects evidence of impairment. Since the asset
is originated credit impaired, the Bank only recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime ECL since initial
recognition as a loss allowance in profit or loss until the POCI is derecognised.

Significant increase in credit risk

An assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition is performed at
each reporting date by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of
the financial instrument. When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Bank will consider reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis based on the Group’s historical experience, expert credit assessment
and forward looking information. The assessment of significant increase in credit risk is key in
determining when to move from measuring an allowance based on 12 month ECLs to one that is based
on lifetime ECLs.

The criteria for determining whether the exposure has experienced significant deterioration in credit risk
since origination are in line with Stage 2 criteria and are as follows:

e Days in Arrears: Exposures with more than 30 days in arrears,
e Forbearance flag: A performing account with an active forbearance flag in line with the European

Banking Authority (EBA) definition,
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¢ Accounts managed by recovery units (before default),

e A pooling effect is applied at a customer level which classifies as Stage 2 accounts not meeting the
above criteria but fall under the same customer whose other accounts exhibit credit triggers such as
those above,

e Behavioural Score: Retail and SME exposures with low behavioural score resulting from models
developed by the Bank for predicting defaults/delinquencies.

PD comparisons: Exposures originated post IFRS9 implementation in 2018 who have experienced a
200% relative increase in the current lifetime PD relative to the origination PD.

Interest income recognition

Interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the financial assets in Stages 1 and 2 by
applying the effective interest rate (EIR). For financial assets at Stage 3, interest income is calculated by
applying EIR to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less credit loss allowance). For POCI
financial assets, interest income is recognised by applying a credit adjusted EIR (CAEIR) (based on an
initial expectation of further credit losses) on the amortised cost of the financial asset.

Write-offs

The Group reduces, either partially or in full, the carrying amount of a financial asset when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Write-offs are recognised in "Impairment losses on financial
instruments” in the income statement.

4.17. Impairment of Non financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

The loss from impairment of goodwill is non-reversible. The loss from impairment of other non financial
assets is reversible only to the extent that the carrying value does not exceed net carrying value that the
non financial asset would have if the impairment loss was not recognised.

4.18. Financial guarantees and loan commitments

In a business combination, acquired off balance sheet exposures that were not previously recognised in
the acquiree’s financial statements, but have a fair value on acquisition date, are recognised on the
acquirer’s financial statements and are initially measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Off
balance sheet exposures acquired by the Bank as part of the Acquisition consist of financial guarantee
contracts and loan commitments.
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Financial guarantees contracts issued by the Bank are contracts that require the Bank to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when it is due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are
given to banks, financial institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and
other banking facilities. From the issuer’s perspective, financial guarantee contracts fall in the scope of
IFRS 9.

Loan commitments represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit under pre-specified
terms and conditions in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit.

Subsequent to initial recognition, issued financial guarantee contracts and commitments to provide loans
at below-market rate are measured at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 (where applicable). Other loan commitments are subsequently
measured at the amount of the loss determined in accordance with IFRS 9.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included within provisions/other
liabilities.

4.19. Hedge Accounting

The Bank ensures that hedge accounting relationships are aligned with the Group’s risk management
objectives and strategy and applies a qualitative and forward looking approach to assess hedge
effectiveness. IFRS 9 also introduced new requirements on rebalancing hedge relationships and
prohibiting voluntary discontinuation of hedge accounting. The Bank designated certain interest rate
swaps as hedging instruments in respect of interest rate risk in a fair value hedges. The hedged items are
certain fixed rate Cyprus Government Bonds (CGBs).

The hedging derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive or liabilities when their
value is negative. For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset attributable to
the risk being hedged, are recognized in the income statement along with changes in the entire fair value
of the derivative. When hedging interest rate risk, any interest accrued or paid on both the derivative and
the hedged item is reported in interest income or expense and the unrealized gains and losses from the
hedge accounting fair value adjustments are reported in other income. Hedge ineffectiveness is reported
in other income and is measured as the net effect of changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument.

If a fair value hedge of a debt instrument is discontinued prior to the instrument’'s maturity because the
derivative is terminated, or the relationship is de-designated, any remaining interest rate-related fair value
adjustments made to the carrying amount of the debt instrument (basis adjustments) are amortized to
interest income or expense over the remaining term of the original hedging relationship. For other types of
fair value adjustments and whenever a fair value hedged asset or liability is sold or otherwise
derecognized, any basis adjustments are included in the calculation of the gain or loss on derecognition.

Additional information on hedge accounting is presented in Note 24.
4.20. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows include cash and available for

use balances with Central Banks, placements with other banks, funding by Central Banks and repurchase
agreements, with original maturities of less than three months.
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4.21. Insurance business

The Group undertakes both life insurance and non-life insurance business and issues insurance
contracts. An insurance contract is a contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant
insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a
specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract until
expiry or until all the rights and obligations under the contract have been fulfilled, even if the insurance
risk has been significantly reduced during its term.

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk. Investment contracts can, however,
be reclassified as insurance contracts after inception if insurance risk becomes significant.

4.21.1. Life insurance business

Premium income from unit-linked insurance contracts is recognised when received and when the units
have been allocated to policyholders. Premium income from non-linked insurance contracts is recognised
when received, in accordance with the terms of the relevant insurance contracts.

Fees and other expenses chargeable to the long-term assurance funds in accordance with the terms of
the relevant insurance contracts, as well as the cost of death cover, are recognised in a manner
consistent with the recognition of the relevant insurance premiums. These are presented in Note 11 Net
income from insurance operations.

Claims are recorded as an expense when they are incurred. These are presented in Note 11 Net income
from insurance operations. Life insurance contract liabilities are determined on the basis of an actuarial
valuation and for unit-linked insurance contracts they include the fair value of units allocated to
policyholders on a contract by contract basis.

4.21.2. Non-life insurance business

Premiums written relate to business incepted during the year, together with any differences between
booked premiums for prior years and those previously accrued, and include estimates of premiums due
but not yet receivable or notified to the Group less an allowance for cancellations. These are presented in
Note 11 Net income from insurance operations.

Unearned premiums relating to the period of risk after the reporting date are deferred to be earned in
subsequent reporting periods.

Claims Provision is made for the estimated cost of Claims Incurred but not settled at the reporting date,
including the cost of Claims Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR), the cost of Claims Incurred But Not
Enough Reported (IBNER), Unexpired Risks Provision (UPR) and a provision for the Unallocated Loss
Adjustment Expenses Reserve (ULAE), which represents expenses to be borne by the Group in
processing and settling all outstanding and incurred but not yet reported claims. These are presented
within "Insurance Liabilities" of Note 36 Other liabilities.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims, the Company, amongst other, uses estimation
techniques, that are based upon statistical analyses of historical experience and claims development
pattern. Allowance is made for changes or uncertainties that may create distortions in the estimates such
as changes in company processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and/or
recording of paid or incurred claims, changes in the legal environment, the effects of inflation, changes in
the business mixture, the impact of large losses and movements in industry benchmarks.
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Large claims impacting each relevant business class are generally assessed separately, being measured
on a case by case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of the
development and incidence of these large claims.

4.22. Repurchase agreements

Repurchase agreements represent agreements with Central Banks. Cash received under the
agreements, including accrued interest, is recognised as a liability on the statement of financial position.
The relevant debt securities disposed to be repurchased at a future date are not derecognised from the
statement of financial position. The difference between the sales price and repurchase price is
recognised as interest expense over the duration of the agreement using the effective interest rate
method.

Accounting policies will be reassessed with the implementation of IFRS17.

4.23. Indemnification Asset

An indemnification asset arises when the seller in a business combination is contractually obliged to
indemnify the acquirer for the outcome of a contingency or uncertainty related to all or part of a specific
asset or liability. In other words, the seller guarantees that the acquirer's losses will not exceed a
specified amount.

The indemnification asset is recognised as an asset of the Group (as the acquirer in a business
combination) at the same time and on the same basis as the indemnified item. Thus, an indemnification
asset is recognised by the Group at the acquisition date if and only if it relates to an indemnified asset or
liability that is recognised at the acquisition date.

The indemnification asset is initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
indemnification asset is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is also subject
to impairment requirements (refer to Note 4.16). The Group derecognises the indemnification asset only
when it collects the asset, sells it or otherwise loses the right to it.

The Bank has recognised the following indemnification assets:
a) Indemnification asset — Asset Protection Scheme (APS)

The terms of the agreement relating to the acquisition of part of ex CCB’s assets and liabilities, include an
asset protection scheme (APS) provided by ex CCB, which has been recognised as an indemnification
asset. Ex CCB’s obligations under the APS are guaranteed by the Republic of Cyprus (“RoC”) pursuant to
a guarantee agreement entered into prior to the completion of the acquisition between the Bank and the
RoC. The APS is a single contract providing credit protection to the Bank in respect of parts of the
acquired loan portfolio (“covered assets”) against future losses. There is no change in the recognition and
measurement of the covered assets as a result of the APS, which are measured at amortised cost
subsequent to the acquisition. Impairment on covered assets is assessed and recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for financial assets recognised at amortised cost. There is no change
in how gains and losses on the covered assets are recognised in the income statement or in other
comprehensive income.

b) Indemnification asset — certain off-balance items acquired

Under the BTA, the Bank identified and recognised an indemnification asset in relation to the certain off
balance sheet exposures acquired. Specifically, pursuant to the BTA, ex CCB shall on demand indemnify
the Bank against all losses in respect of certain off balance sheet exposures.

Indemnification assets are presented in Other assets in Note 32.

74

Hellenic Bank Group
Annual Financial Report 2022



HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.24. Property, plant and equipment

Owner-occupied property is property held by the Group for use in the supply of services or for
administrative purposes. The classification of property is assessed on a regular basis to account for any
major changes in use. Owner occupied land and buildings are initially recognised at cost and are
subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Fair value is
determined from market-based valuations undertaken by professionally qualified valuers periodically
between three to five years. Plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes all expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation for property, plant and equipment is recognised in the income statement on a straight line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation rates used are as follows:

Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 20%
Plant and equipment 10% to 25%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment, that are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are included in the income
statement when the item is derecognised.

When the use of a property changes, the property is remeasured to fair value and reclassified
accordingly. Any gain arising on this remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it
reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and presented in the revaluation reserve. Any loss is recognised in
income statement.

4.25. Property revaluation reserve

Any surplus arising on the revaluation of land and buildings is credited to the property revaluation reserve
that is included in equity. If, after a revaluation, the depreciation charge is increased, then an amount
equal to the increase (net of deferred taxation), is transferred annually from the property revaluation
reserve to retained earnings. Upon disposal of revalued property, any relevant accumulated revaluation
surplus which remains in the property revaluation reserve is also transferred to retained earnigs.

4.26. Investment properties
Investment properties, comprise properties which are not occupied by the Bank and are held for rental
yields and/or capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently at fair
value with any change therein recognised in Net gains from revaluation of investment properties in the
income statement. Fair value is determined from market based valuations undertaken by professionally
qualified valuers annually. Any gain or loss on disposal of investment properties (calculated as the
difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in
profit or loss. When investment properties that were previously classified as property, plant and
equipment are sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained
earnings. Transfers to or from the investment properties are made only when there is a change in use.
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4.27. Stock of property

Assets are classified as stock of property held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through own use. This category mainly includes properties acquired
in satisfaction of debt.

The Group, in its normal course of business, repossesses properties through debt to asset swaps and/or
through the foreclosure process. These properties are held either directly or by entities set up and
controlled by the Bank (Special Purpose Vehicle(s) SPV) for liquidation optimisation purposes. The SPVs
are mainly a single property owner. The initial measurement of the acquired property is based on the
carrying amount of the debt settled.

Stock of property is initially measured at cost and subsequently is measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (NRV). Any write down to NRV is recognised as an impairment charge in the period in
which the write down occurs. Any reversal is recognised in the income statement in the period in which
the reversal occurs.

Gain or loss from disposal of stock of property, is the difference between the net consideration amount
and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in Net gains from disposal of stock of properties in
the income statement when the asset is disposed.

4.28. Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amount will
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The condition is
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the non-current asset or disposal group is
available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate
that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be
withdrawn. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell, except for those assets and liabilities that are not in the
scope of the measurement requirements of IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations’ such as deferred taxes, financial instruments, investment properties measured at fair value,
insurance contracts and assets and liabilities arising from employee benefits. Those assets and liabilities
should continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s relevant accounting policies for the
specific assets and liabilities despite their classification as held for sale.

Impairment losses on initial classification and gains or losses from subsequent measurement are
recognised in the income statement. A gain is only recognised to the extent that it is not in excess of the
cumulative impairment loss that has been recognised. An asset classified as held for sale, or included
within a disposal group that is classified as held for sale, is not depreciated or amortised once classified
as held for sale. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately on the face of
the balance sheet.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if an entity or a component of an entity has been
disposed of or is classified as held for sale and:

a) Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;

b) Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations; or

c) Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

76

Hellenic Bank Group
Annual Financial Report 2022



HELLENIC BANK GROUP
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a
single amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the income statement.
Intercompany transactions between continuing and discontinued operations are eliminated in the income
statement in accordance with IFRS 10. Upon classification of a Group entity as a discontinued operation,
the Group represents prior periods in the income statement.

4.29. Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entities at the date of
acquisition. When the excess is negative (negative goodwill) is recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
carrying amount of goodwill is assessed for impairment at least on an annual basis.

Computer software

Computer software is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the software estimated at five years.

Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with IFRS 3, the acquirer shall recognise, separately from goodwill, the identifiable
intangible assets acquired in a business combination at their acquisition date fair values. An intangible
asset is recognised only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits attributable to the
asset will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. Subsequently, amortisation is charged
to profit or loss over the assets’ estimated economic lives using methods that best reflect the pattern of
economic benefits and is included in depreciation and amortisation.

Core deposits
As per the agreement for the acquisition of part of ex-CCB’s banking operations in 2018, the Bank on-

boarded some short-term deposits (e.g. current accounts) with credit balances over medium-to-long
periods that carry lower interest rates compared to other medium-to-long term accounts. In such cases,
an intangible asset was recognised since the Bank benefits from such lower interest expense, compared
to the interest expense that would accrue to the bank should the borrowers have deposited the core
amount in a term deposit.

Customer relationships (Purchased credit cards and overdrafts)

An additional intangible was recognised from the on-boarding of loans with revolving nature such as
overdrafts and credit card accounts. Customers on-boarded by the Bank are expected to continue utilize
their overdraft and credit card accounts in the future, creating an additional benefit to the Bank.

The estimated useful economic lives of the above mentioned intangible assets are as follows:

Core deposits 10 years
Purchased credit cards and overdrafts 5 years

Derecognition and impairment of Intangible assets
Intangible assets are derecognised from the statement of financial position at the time of disposal or
when no economic benefits are expected from it.
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Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events relating to changes to circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount
then the intangible assets are written down to their recoverable amount. Impairment charge is recognised
in "Impairment losses on non financial assets" in the Income Statement.

4.30. Share capital
The difference between the issue price of share capital and its nominal value is recognised in the share
premium reserve.

Expenses incurred from increase of authorised capital and issue of share capital are directly recognised
in equity in the same year.

Any differences emerging from a reduction of the nominal value of share capital is transferred from share
capital to a reduction of share capital reserve.

4.31. Provisions for pending litigations or complaints and/or claims or cases subject to arbitration
proceedings

Provisions for pending litigations or complaints and/or claims or cases subject to arbitration proceedings
are recognised when:

(a) the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,

(b) an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits to settle the obligation is probable and

(c) a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the facts and circumstances of any litigation or arbitration proceedings. When a separate
liability is measured, the most likely outcome may be considered the best estimate of the liability.

Where an individual provision is material, the fact that a provision has been made is stated and
quantified, except to the extent doing so would be seriously prejudicial. Any provision recognised does not
constitute an admission of wrongdoing or legal liability.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is the present value
of the estimated future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits to settle the obligation is possible, a
contingent liability is disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is remote.

4.32. Provisions to cover credit risk resulting from commitments and guarantees

The Group enters into various contingent liabilities. These include acceptances and endorsements,
guarantees, undrawn formal standby facilities, undisbursed loans amounts and other commitments.
Although these liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position, they expose the Group
to credit risk. To cover the credit risk a provision is calculated and recognised in other liabilities in the
statement of financial position with a corresponding charge in the income statement under "Impairment
losses on financial instruments".

4.33. Comparatives

Where considered necessary, changes in the comparative information included in the Financial
Statements and the relevant notes were made to conform with the presentation of the current year as
follows:
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e Assets held to cover liabilities of unit linked funds, previously presented in "Other assets", include
placements with other banks, investments in debt securities and investments in equity securities and
collective investments. These have been reclassified from “Other assets” and now presented to each
of their respective accounts, within the consolidated statement of financial position, including
comparative figures (Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows Note 21, 23, 25 and 32 have been re-presented).

The above re-presentation did not have any impact on the Group's equity or profit/(loss) after tax.
5. SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires Management to make use of
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances and the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Therefore, they involve risks and
uncertainties as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are assessed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and in future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The significant estimates and judgments that are deemed critical to the Group’s results and financial
position are set our below:

5.1. Measurement of expected credit loss (ECL)

The measurement of the expected credit loss for financial assets measured at amortised cost and fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) is an area that requires management’s judgement in
defining what is considered to be a significant increase in credit risk and in making assumptions and
estimates to incorporate relevant information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
economic conditions. The assumptions used are based, to the extent possible, on data and evidence.
Whenever sufficient data is not available, the impairment calculation incorporates assumptions based on
management judgement.

The Group evaluates individually loans, including loans of economic groups, that are individually

significant based on certain thresholds set by the Bank. It collectively assesses loans that are not
individually significant and loans which were individually assessed as Stage 1.
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Individually assessed loans (Stages 2 and 3)

The amount of impairment loss on the value of loans and advances to customers which are examined on
an individual basis, is measured for a) financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date:
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Bank in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive); b) financial assets that
are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows. In cases where the interest rate of the loan is variable, the
original effective interest rate is measured with reference to the initial margin corresponding to the current
base rate of the interest rate and the value of the current base rate at the reporting date. The estimated
future cash flows are based on assumptions about a number of factors and therefore the actual losses
may be different. To determine the amount of impairment loss on the value of loans and advances to
customers, judgment is involved regarding the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows. The
estimated future cash flows include any expected cash flows from the borrower’s operations, any other
sources of funds and the expected proceeds from the liquidation of collateral, where applicable. The
timing of these cash flows is estimated on a case by case basis.

Collectively assessed loans (Stages 1 to 3)

For the calculation of impairment loss on a collective basis, loans and advances are grouped based on
similar credit risk characteristics and appropriate models are applied that take into account the recent
historical loss experience of each group with similar credit risk characteristics adjusted for current
conditions using appropriate probabilities of default and loss given default. The grouping requires a
number of judgements by management and considers factors such as the customer type, industry,
product, days in arrears and restructuring status.

To measure ECL, the Group uses: (a) Exposure at default (EAD), (b) probability of default (PD), (c) Loss
given default (LGD). These calculations include estimates and the use of judgment to supplement,
assess and adjust accordingly the historical information and past experience events which determine the
parameters and the measurement of ECL as at the reporting date. The main assumptions used to
estimate loss given default relate to property collateral such as the time needed for collateral liquidation
and the liquidation discount at the point of sale. In addition, management is required to exercise
judgement in determining staging criteria for significant increase in credit risk as well as establishing the
number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the
associated ECL.

Forward looking information

In line with IFRS 9 impairment requirements, forward-looking information, including current conditions and
projections of macroeconomic and other factors, are incorporated in a range of unbiased future economic
scenarios for ECL purposes. Determination of the forward-looking information, to be used in the ECL
estimate, requires judgement and estimates about the future economic outlook. The ECL estimate
incorporates the expected impact of all reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, taking
into consideration the macroeconomic factors. The Bank incorporated three forward-looking
macroeconomic scenarios in its ECL calculations process: a baseline scenario, an optimistic scenario
and a pessimistic scenario. Probability weights were attributed to each scenario.
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Macroeconomic input and weights per scenario are constructed by the Economic Research Department
of the Bank through modern econometric techniques and are based on expert judgment based on market
data.

The macroeconomic variables affecting the level of ECL are real GDP growth, the rate of unemployment
and forward-looking prices of residential and commercial real estates. The Bank’s Economic Research
Department proceeded with updating the macroeconomic projections. The revised macroeconomic
projections reflect the current economic conditions which indicate that the Cyprus economy is recovering
from the coronavirus pandemic but negatively impacted by the ongoing Russia/Ukraine conflict. The
revised macroeconomic projections reflect the current economic conditions which indicate that the Cyprus
economy is recovering from the coronavirus pandemic but negatively impacted by the ongoing
Russia/Ukraine conflict. For additional information on the economic environment refer to Note 49.

The tables below show the macroeconomic variables as per the Bank’s Economic Research Department,
for each scenario and the respective scenario weights used in estimating the ECL:

31 December 2022

Cyprus Economy - Macroeconomic Parameters

Probability —
2022 2023 2024 weight %
Scenarios
Real GDP (% change) 6,00 3,25 3,00
Unemployment (%) 6,25 5,75 5,50
Optimistic Inflation (% change) 5,50 2,00 1,00 20%
Residential Price Index (% change) 2,50 3,00 3,00
Commercial Price Index (% change) 2,50 2,50 3,00
Real GDP (% change) 5,00 2,00 3,00
Unemployment (%) 7,00 6,50 6,00
Baseline Inflation (% change) 7,50 2,50 1,50 50%
Residential Price Index (% change) 1,50 2,00 2,00
Commercial Price Index (% change) 1,50 2,00 2,00
Real GDP (% change) 3,50 1,50 1,00
Unemployment (%) 9,50 9,00 8,50
Pessimistic Inflation (% change) 9,00 5,50 3,00 30%
Residential Price Index (% change) (1,00) 0,50 1,00
Commercial Price Index (% change) (1,50) 0,00 1,50
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31 December 2021

Cyprus Economy - Macroeconomic Parameters

Probability —
2021 2022 2023 weight %
Scenarios
Real GDP (% change) 4,80 4,50 3,50
Unemployment (%) 7,00 6,00 5,60
Optimistic Inflation (% change) 0,80 1,80 2,00 25%
Residential Price Index (% change) 0,00 2,00 3,00
Commercial Price Index (% change) 0,00 3,00 3,00
Real GDP (% change) 4,00 4,20 3,20
Unemployment (%) 7,50 6,50 6,00
Baseline Inflation (% change) 0,50 1,00 1,40 50%
Residential Price Index (% change) (1,00) 1,50 2,50
Commercial Price Index (% change) (2,00) 2,00 3,00
Real GDP (% change) 3,00 3,00 2,80
Unemployment (%) 8,50 7,50 6,80
Pessimistic Inflation (% change) 0,00 1,00 1,20 25%
Residential Price Index (% change) (3,00) 1,00 2,00
Commercial Price Index (% change) (2,50) 2,00 2,80

For the forward-looking information used in the calculation of ECL as at 31 December 2021, the Group
has exercised judgement and applied adjustments to cater for COVID-19 related risk.

The Cyprus economy during 2022 showed its resilience to the external shock created by the
Russian/Ukraine conflict, with economic growth continuing in a positive trend and the labour market
improving further following the shock created by COVID-19. On the other hand, the Russia/Ukraine
conflict puts the Cyprus economy at risk which will create some significant challenges going forward. This
is particularly relevant for household finances and sentiment due to the elevated inflation rates and
significant sectors of the economy such as the Hotel and Accommodation sector (which in the past years
has exhibited increased reliance from inflow of Russian tourists) and the Services sector. In order to
account for the increased uncertainty and recognize the downside risk that the conflict is posing to the
Cyprus economy, the scenario weights used for IFRS9 purposes have been rebalanced during the first
quarter of 2022 from 50%-25%-25% to 50%-20%-30% for Baseline, Optimistic and Pessimistic scenario
respectively.

Significant increase in credit risk

Stage classification uses a combination of backward looking, current and forward-looking indicators. The
Bank’s staging classification rules, have incorporated since December 2021, PD comparisons. The
threshold utilized for stage 2 classification is 200% relative increase in the current lifetime PD relation to
the origination PD.

In addition to the above based on management judgment, the following adjustments were applied to the
staging of the loan book as at 31 December 2022 to account for uncertainties following the outbreak of
the Russia/Ukraine conflict:

e All collective Stage 1 exposures relating to Russia, Ukraine or Belarus nationals/residents/individuals
(International Business and Retail Division) with source of income from abovementioned countries
are classified as Stage 2 with lifetime expected credit losses assigned.
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e Following the outbreak of the Russia/Ukraine conflict, Individually Assessed Groups (IA Groups) were
reviewed to assess the (a) the need for restaging in view of the conflict (b) changes in the parameters
of S2 and S3 IA Groups. Following assessment of IA Groups and where necessary the underlying
assumptions under which they are assessed for provisions were adjusted.

Exposure at default (EAD)

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of default during the life of a financial instrument
taking into account the amortisation of the exposure (i.e. anticipated repayments, interest payments,
accruals) as well as the behavioural maturity and credit conversion factor.

For performing exposures, the projected EAD is the amortised carrying value plus the credit conversion
factor applied on the undrawn amount over the residual maturity of the exposure. The credit conversion
factor and behavioural maturity for revolving facilities is derived based on empirical data from 2011
onwards.

With regards to the credit-impaired exposures, the EAD is equal to the exposure at default as at the
reporting date.

Probability of default (PD)

PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on their financial obligation in a specified time
period, assuming it has not closed or defaulted since the reporting date. Projection of PDs is based on
macro-economic scenarios and are differentiated based on segment (e.g. Retail, SME and Corporate),
and status (e.g. 0 dpd, Restructured). For the externally rated exposures (e.g. Treasury and International
lending), the historical default rates published by Moody’s per segment are utilized. For the non externally
rated facilities, i.e. local loan book, the PD is estimated based on the Bank’s historical default rates.

Loss given default (LGD)

LGD represents an estimate of the loss in case of default and expressed as a percentage of the EAD.
Two distinct possibilities are taken into consideration for the LGD parameter: 1) the probability to proceed
with collateral liquidation and 2) the probability to resolve the exposure via other means (i.e. cure,
disposal, settlement) with the associated loss assigned to each exposure.

To this end, the LGD model considers parameters such as historical loss and/or recovery rates as well as
the collateral value, which is discounted to the present value, determining the amount of the expected
shortfall. The average liquidation period of the collateralised non-performing collectively assessed
portfolio is currently on average 6,4 years (2021: on average 6,4 years) while for performing loans, the
liquidation period assumption is on average 5 years (2021: on average 5 years).

Liquidation haircuts are also applied to the value of the collateral for the purposes of estimating expected
loss. The collateral information which was incorporated both in collective and individual provisioning
involves judgement and takes into account the specificities of the properties by segmenting them into
various property types and sub types as well as by classifying them by district and location within each
district. Different liquidation discounts are applied depending on the type and location of each collateral
with the liquidation discount including cost ranging from 15% for a limited number of prime property types
to 40% for non-prime properties. The resulting weighted average liquidation discount for the collectively
assessed portfolio is 27,6% including costs (2021: 28,4%).

Collateral

On the basis of the Group’s policy, the amount of credit facilities granted should be based on the
repayment capacity of the relevant counterparties. Furthermore, policies are applied for the hedging and
mitigation of credit risk through the holding of collateral. These policies define the types of collaterals held
and the methods for estimating their fair value.
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The main collaterals held by the Group include mortgage interests over property, pledging of cash,
government and bank guarantees, charges over business assets as well as personal and corporate
guarantees.

The value of the real estate collateral involves, among others, judgements relating to the allocation of
tangible security to each account and its indexation to today (based on latest available property prices if
applicable). The value of the real estate collaterals is restricted up to the mortgaged amount or open
market value for real estate.

Property collateral relates to immovable commercial, residential and land real estate collateral. The Bank
maintains a Property Valuations Policy which provides a standardised approach for acceptable property
valuations from independent professional valuers, the selection criteria and the processes to evaluate the
performance of property valuers. Valuations are carried out by independent qualified valuers by applying
valuation methodologies recommended by Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and International
Valuation Standards Council. In arriving at their estimates of the fair value of properties, the valuers use
their market knowledge and professional judgment and do not rely solely on historical transaction
comparables, especially for asset classes where there is greater degree of uncertainty than would have
existed in a more active market. The Policy outlines the frequency for revaluations, establish the criteria
for monitoring collateral values and introduces the use of indexation. The open market value of property is
indexed to present, using appropriate property indices (CBC and RICS). Indices are monitored, validated
and back tested in order to accurately reflect the current market values of the property collaterals of the
Bank.

Collaterals values are also indexed from the latest valuation date to the reporting date. The Bank is
indexing the property collaterals to the reporting period using publicly available indices. With respect to
collateral values applicable at the liquidation date, the Bank is applying zero forward indexation to its
property price collaterals.

Other considerations

The Bank, as part of its deleveraging strategy examines various options. Accordingly, when measuring
the ECL of the NPE portfolio, the scenario of selling the exposure is considered relevant in estimating the
credit loss expected to occur. It therefore considers the possibility of recovery under a scenario involving
the disposal of the exposure as one of the potential strategies used in the estimation of the ECL for its
NPE portfolio. The assessment of the probability of a recovery through a sale depends on the facts and
circumstances as of the reference date and involves management judgement.

Accumulated impairment losses of the Group's loans and advances are inherently uncertain due to their
sensitivity to economic and credit conditions of the environment in which the Group operates. Conditions
are affected by many factors with a high degree of interdependency and there is not one single factor to
which these conditions are particularly sensitive. It is possible for the actual conditions in the next financial
year to differ significantly from the assumptions made during the current period, so that the carrying
amount of loans and advances to be adjusted significantly.
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5. SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

For the purposes of providing an indication of the change in accumulated impairment losses as a result of
changes in key loan impairment assumptions, the Bank utilised the collective models on the loan and
advances portfolio, to carry out a sensitivity analysis. The simulated impact on the provisions for

impairment of loans and advances is presented below:

31 December 2022

Change on key assumptions

Increase/(decrease) on accumulated
impairment losses on the total loan and
advances portfolio

€' million
Increase the liquidation period by 1 year 26
Decrease the liquidation period by 1 year (25)
Increase the liquidation discount (i.e. reduce the recoverable
amount from collateral) by 5% 18

Decrease the liquidation discount (i.e. increase the
recoverable amount from collateral) by 5%

(19)

31 December 2021

Change on key assumptions

Increase/(decrease) on accumulated
impairment losses on the total loan and
advances portfolio

€' million
Increase the liquidation period by 1 year 32
Decrease the liquidation period by 1 year (30)
Increase the liquidation discount (i.e. reduce the recoverable
amount from collateral) by 5% 19

Decrease the liquidation discount (i.e. increase the
recoverable amount from collateral) by 5%

(19)

5.2 Assessment of significant influence

Significant influence is presumed to exist when an investor holds, directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, 20% or more of the voting power of the investee. In cases where the Group’s shareholding
is less than 20%, judgement is required in determining whether it exercises significant influence on the
investee. In performing this assessment, the Group considers its representation in the board of directors
or other governing body of the investee which could impact its voting rights, its participation in policy-
making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends and other distributions as well as
any material transactions between the Bank and the investee value.

5.3. Provisions for pending litigations or complaints and/or claims or cases subject to arbitration
proceedings

In order to assess whether a provision must be recognised, the Group examines whether there is a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, for which an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate for the amount of the obligation can be
made.

The amounts recognised as provisions are the best estimates of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period. When a separate liability is measured, the most likely
outcome may be considered the best estimate of the liability. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of
determining the probability and amount of losses, the Group takes into account a number of factors
including external legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar incidents.
Significant judgement is required to conclude on these estimates.
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5. SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

5.4. Impairment of goodwill and investments in subsidiaries

The process of identifying and evaluating impairment of goodwill and investments in subsidiaries, is
inherently uncertain because it requires Management to exercise judgement in making a series of
estimates to determine their recoverable amount, the results of which are sensitive to the assumptions
used.

To determine the recoverable amount of goodwill and investment in subsidiaries (other than SPVs),
Management applies its judgment to determine future cash flows, which appropriately reflect
Management’s view of future business prospects, and the cost of capital used to discount these future
cash flows. Any impairment of goodwill of the acquired entities affects the Group's results while any
impairment of investments in subsidiaries affects the Bank's results.

For the Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs), the principal indication of impairmentis a decrease in the
carrying value of the underlying properties held. The carrying value is established using valuations carried
out by independent qualified valuers who apply internationally accepted valuation methods, use their
market knowledge and professional judgement.

5.5. Impairment of other intangible assets

Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events relating to changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount,
then the intangible assets are written down to their recoverable amount. The determination of the
recoverable amount in the impairment assessment requires Management to exercise judgement for the
expectations of future cash flows, attrition rates, estimation of useful economic lives and the discount
rate.

5.6. Fair value of investments
The best evidence of fair value of investments is a quoted price in an actively traded market. If the market
for a financial instrument is not active, a valuation technique is used. The majority of valuation techniques
employed by the Group use only observable market data and thus the reliability of the fair value
measurement is relatively high.

However, certain financial instruments are valued on the basis of valuation techniques that feature one or
more significant inputs that are not observable. Valuation techniques that rely on non-observable inputs
require a higher level of management judgement to calculate a fair value than those based wholly on
observable inputs.

The Group uses models with unobservable inputs only for the valuation of non-listed investments. In
these cases, a higher degree of Group’s management judgement and estimation in the determination of
fair value is required, for the selection of the appropriate valuation model, determination of expected
future cash flows of the instrument being valued, determination of the probability of counterparty default
and other. Fair value estimates are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity risk or model
uncertainties, to the extent that the Group believes that a third party market participant would take them
into account in pricing a transaction, considering all available information in time. For unobservable
inputs, there is limited available market information which can be used to determine the valuation of an
arm’s length transaction for the instrument being valued hence are determined based on the best
information available.

5.7. Business Models and SPPI

Classification of financial assets is determined based on both the business model used for managing the
financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows generated by an asset constitute solely payments
of principal and interest (SPPI).
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The assessment of the business model requires judgement based on the facts and circumstances at the
date of the assessment. The Bank has considered both quantitative and qualitative factors in its
assessment such as how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that
business model are evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management as well as the frequency, volume
and timing of sales in prior periods.

If a financial asset is held in either a "hold to collect" or a "hold to collect and sell" business model, then
an assessment to determine whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI is required. In making this
assessment the Group exercises judgement in considering whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of
money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and profit margin.

The Group has established a framework to perform the necessary assessments in accordance with
Group’s policies in order to ensure appropriate classification of financial instruments, including evaluation
for lending exposures and debt securities.

5.8. Negative goodwill

The Group accounted for the acquisition of a business from RCB using the acquisition method. In
accordance with IFRS 3 (refer to Note 3), all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired have to be
measured at their fair value at the time of acquisition. These fair values also represent the amounts upon
initial consolidation. The difference between the purchase price and the balance of assets and liabilities
acquired and measured at fair value is recognised as negative goodwill ("gain on bargain purchase" as
per IFRS 3) in the income statement, and directly increases the equity of the Bank. The determination of
the fair value for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as well as the consideration given, is subject
to judgements, specifically with regards to the determination to future cash flows, PDs, LGDs and
discount rates.

5.9. Indemnification Asset

a) Recognition

The Bank exercised judgement to determine that the protection against future losses provided by ex-CCB
and the Republic of Cyprus (RoC) through the APS Agreement and the BTA met the definition of an
indemnification asset in accordance with IFRS 3.

b) Measurement

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the indemnification asset that was recognised at
the acquisition date on the same basis as the indemnified asset, subject to any contractual limitations on
its amount and management’s assessment of the collectability of the indemnification asset. Estimates
and judgements used for the measurement of the Indemnification asset are in line with the judgments
and estimates management applies for the measurement of expected credit losses on loans and
advances to customers.

5.10. Stock of property
Stock of property is measured at the lower of cost and Net Realisable Value (‘NRV’), where cost is based
on carrying amount of the debt settled and NRV the estimated selling price less the estimated cost to sell.

NRV is determined through valuation techniques, requiring significant judgement, which take into account
all available reference points, such as expert valuation reports, current market conditions, the holding
period of the asset, applying an appropriate illiquidity discount, where considered necessary, and any
other relevant parameters. Estimated cost to sell is deducted from the estimated selling price and
depending on the value of the underlying asset and available market information, the determination of
costs to sell may require professional judgement which involves a degree of uncertainty due to the
relatively low level of market activity.
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5. SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

5.11. Fair value of properties held for own use and investment properties

The Group’s accounting policy for property held for own use, as well as for investment property requires
that it is measured at fair value. In the case of property held for own use, valuations are carried out
periodically so that the carrying value is not materially different from the fair value, whereas in the case of
investment properties, the fair value is established at each reporting date. Valuations are carried out by
qualified valuers by applying valuation methodologies recommended by the internationally accepted
valuation standards.

In arriving at their estimates of the fair values of properties, the valuers used their market knowledge and
professional judgement. For properties of low marketability or with a limited number of transactions in
recent years, valuers did not rely solely on historical transactional comparable information, taking into
consideration that there is a greater degree of uncertainty than that which exists in a more active market.
Depending on the nature of the underlying asset and available market information, the determination of
the fair value of property may require the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets and
discount rates applicable to those assets. All these estimates are based on local market conditions
existing at the reporting date.

5.12. Taxation

Income Taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in the countries in which it operates. Significant judgement is required
in determining the tax for the year and the recognition and measurement of deferred tax.

As per Cyprus’s Tax Commissioner’s ruling of 28 April 2020 the negative goodwill recognised on
acquisition of assets and liabilities from ex-CCB was treated as unrealized and therefore no current tax
liability was recognised. Tax is and will be recognised on realization of the gain depending on the nature
and taxability of the items that compose it. Confirmation of acceptance of the methodology has been
received by the Tax Commissioner on 14 June 2022.

On loans acquired the Bank opted to recognise current tax liability on their settlement date. The method
followed is considered most appropriate, considering the complexity of other methods and also the fact
that it captures the actual gain realized from each loan. On Cyprus Government Bonds acquired the gain
realised on maturity is considered as gain from titles which as per Article 8 of the Cyprus Income Tax Law
is exempted from Tax in Cyprus and therefore no current tax liability is recognised. The Group also
applied this approach on the negative goodwill arising on these Bonds. Confirmation of acceptance of the
methodology has been received by the Tax Commissioner on 14 June 2022.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the Group will generate future
taxable profits against which the tax losses and the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The
recognition of deferred tax assets is sensitive to judgements made in relation to the probability, sufficiency
and timing of future taxable profits as well as the applicability of future tax planning strategies. These
judgements rely on historical available information and estimations regarding, among others,
macroeconomic conditions, changes in interest rates, real estate prices and demand, the level of the
nonperforming exposures and the expected results of operations based on the business model and the
currently approved Strategic Plan of the Group. The parameters underlying the judgements made are
subject to uncertainty and may result in changes in the measurement of deferred tax asset compared to
initial estimates.
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5. SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
5.13. Leases

5.13.1. Determination of the lease term

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease. Where
practicable/feasible, the Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational
flexibility. As the extension options are exercisable by the Group companies, the Group applies
judgement to determine whether it is reasonably certain that an extension option or termination option will
be exercised which in effect impacts the determination of the lease term and the amounts that the lease
liability and right of use assets are recognised.

5.13.2. Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

In determining the carrying amount of the right of use asset and lease liabilities, the Group is required to
estimate the incremental borrowing rate since the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determined. The incremental borrowing rate therefore reflects what the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right of use asset in a similar economic environment.

6. INTEREST INCOME

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Interest income from cash and balances with Central
Banks 28.163 6.069 28.163 6.069
Negative interest on funding by Central Banks 19.643 - 19.643 -
Interest income from placements with other banks 5.995 1.269 5.941 1.257
Interest income from loans and advances to
customers 207.066 203.613 207.066 203.613
Interest income from debt securities 57.619 63.303 57.619 63.303
Interest income from indemnification assets 186 184 186 184
Interest income from negative interest rates on
customer deposits 8.282 8.725 8.316 8.782
Interest income from other financial assets 114 - 114 -

Financial assets at fair value:
Interest income from debt securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income 3.785 4.991 3.785 4.991
330.853 288.154 330.833 288.199

Other interest income
Interest income from other financial instruments 10.511 1.837 10.511 1.990
Other interest income 14 - 14 -
341.378 289.991 341.358 290.189

Interest income from loans and advances to customers includes interest on the net carrying amount of
impaired loans and advances amounting to €23,8 million (31 December 2021: €39,6 million).

Other interest income relates mainly to interest on derivatives which are measured at fair value through
profit and loss (FVTPL), mainly interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards.
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7. INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense calculated using the effective
interest method

Interest expense on deposits by other banks
Interest expense on funding by Central Banks
Interest expense on customer deposits and other
customer accounts

Interest expense on loan capital

Interest expense on lease liability

Other interest expense
Interest expense on other financial instruments

8. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Banking fees and commissions

Commissions from insurance operations
Custodian services and asset management fees
Other fees and commissions

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
576 798 534 715
21.935 20.994 21.935 20.994
5.687 4.562 5.687 4.562
7.703 - 7.703 -
380 376 379 357
36.281 26.730 36.238 26.628
4.336 7.257 4.336 7.257
40.617 33.987 40.574 33.885
The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
76.953 62.297 81.277 68.010
5.142 4.532 - -
527 646 323 522
2 - 2 -
82.624 67.475 81.602 68.532

Banking fees and commissions of the Group include credit related fees and commissions amounting to
€26.689 thousand (31 December 2021: €22.415 thousand) and other banking commissions amounting to

€46.214 thousand (31 December 2021: €36.023 thousand).

The Bank's banking fees and commissions include commissions from insurance subsidiaries amounting

to €4.647 thousand (31 December 2021: €6.248 thousand) which is eliminated on consolidation.

Commissions from insurance operations relate to commissions received by the reinsurer at the year end

for reinsurance treaties that were profitable for the year.

9. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

Banking fees and commissions
Commissions for insurance operations
Other fees and commissions

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
7.612 5.825 7.612 5.824
2.708 2.263 - -
624 1.213 556 518
10.944 9.301 8.168 6.342
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10. NET GAINS ON DISPOSAL AND REVALUATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES AND FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Net gain on foreign currency transactions

(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial instruments:
Instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Loss on revaluation of financial instruments:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit
and loss

Instruments at fair value through profit and loss

Changes in the fair value of financial instruments in

fair value hedges:

Hedging relationship:
Cyprus Government Bond (CGB) - Hedged item
Interest rate swap-Hedging instrument

The Group The Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
8.178 6.556 8.178 6.556
(2) (42) - 2
(4.451) (1.005) (1.050) (749)

43 101 18 -
(4.764) (7.995) (4.764) (7.995)
3.724 7.413 3.724 7.413
2.728 5.028 6.106 5.227

The gain on disposal and revaluation of foreign currencies of the Group and the Bank results from the
translation of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency at the reporting date and the realised
gains on foreign currency transactions that were settled during the year.

11. NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE OPERATIONS

The Group
2022 2021
Life Non-Life Life Non-Life
insurance insurance Total insurance insurance Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Gross insurance premiums 39.704 38.139 77.843 27.402 36.956 64.358
Change in unearned premium (51) (754) (805) 3 (176) (173)
Gross income from premiums 39.653 37.385 77.038 27.405 36.780 64.185
Reinsurance premiums (10.023) (16.353) (26.376) (10.803) (15.672) (26.475)
Reinsurers’ share on the change of

unearned premiums - 379 379 - - -
Policy fees - 1.822 1.822 - 1.784 1.784
Net insurance premiums earned 29.630 23.233 52.863 16.602 22.892 39.494
Insurance benefits (11.773) - (11.773) (4.703) - (4.703)
Gross insurance claims incurred (9.613) (14.573) (24.186) (10.963) (12.745) (23.708)
Reinsurance share on claims incurred 8.147 2.678 10.825 9.127 2.233 11.360
Net insurance claims and benefits (13.239) _ (11.895) _ (25.134) _ (6.539) _ (10.512) _ (17.051)
Net investment income (2.209) - (2.209) 766 - 766
14.182 11.338  25.520 10.829 _ 12.380 23.209
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12. OTHER INCOME

The Group The Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Dividend income 2.261 1.046 12.884 8.909
Gain from the disposal of subsidiary company - - 899 799
Net gain from the disposal of stock of property 6.650 6.498 5.579 6.244
Net (losses)/gains from revaluation of investment
properties (390) 183 (350) 572
Sundry income 4.915 8.826 5.512 9.342

13.436 16.553 24.524 25.866

Sundry income for the Group consists mainly of other banking related income.

13. STAFF COSTS

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Salaries 119.774 108.562 113.148  102.458
Employer’s contributions 18.555 17.019 18.316 16.399
Provident Fund contributions 8.875 8.163 8.793 7.949

147.204 _ 133.744 140.257 __126.806

The Group contributes in two different defined contribution retirement plans. Details are disclosed in Note
4.13.

The Bank offers to employees whose employment contracts are not in accordance with the terms of
employment of the Collective Agreement, the option to become members of multi-employer defined
contribution Provident Fund schemes of their choice to which the employer’s contribution is set at 9%.
During 2022 an amount of €253 thousand (31 December 2021: €235 thousand) was charged to the
income statement.

The Bank in January 2022, proceeded to pay the annual increments as per the Collective Agreement
applicable for each employee and in October 2022 reinstate the salaries of affected ex-CCl employees
retrospectively from 2019. The payment of the reinstated salaries took place in December 2022.

On 31 December 2022, the number of staff employed by the Group was 2.398 (31 December 2021:
2.760) employees and by the Bank 2.278 (31 December 2021: 2.617) employees. Out of the total number
of staff employed by the Group, 2.349 employees were permanent staff and 49 were temporary staff (31
December 2021: 2.608 permanent staff, 152 temporary staff). The average number of staff employed by
the Group and the Bank for 2022 was 2.609 and 2.478 respectively (2021: Group 2.816, Bank 2.670).
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14. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

The Group The Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Repairs, maintenance and other related costs 24.851 23.074 24.743 22.519
Other property expenses 6.932 6.210 6.097 5.784
Consultancy and other professional services fees 9.697 11.343 8.636 10.149
Insurance expenses 4.884 5.175 4.712 5.026
Advertising, PR and promotional expenses 3.761 3.407 3.502 3.158
Communication expenses 6.396 6.765 6.266 6.700
Staff training and other staff expenses 2.816 3.070 2.611 2.792
Release of provision for pending litigations or
complaints and/or claims (refer to Note 36) (473) (1.179) (297) (1.034)
Cash transfer and management of documents costs 2.309 2.786 2.270 2.786
Servicer's administration fees - - 15.571 15.921
Regulatory Supervisory fees 3.081 3.711 3.077 3.707
Deposit Guarantee Scheme contribution (refer to
Additional information, section 2) 5.808 4.518 5.808 4.518
Special Levy on Credit Institutions 22.951 21.607 22.951 21.607
Termination benefits (refer to Note 45) 130 680 130 680
Transformation costs 6.669 5.146 6.669 5.146
Other administrative expenses 8.635 8.861 4.789 5.413

108.447 105.174 117.535 114.872

Fees of statutory auditors
The total fees for staturoty auditors included in the consultancy and other professional services fees are
analysed as follows:

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Audit of annual financial statements 1.315 896 919 761
Other assurance services 66 85 36 36
Tax advisory 136 15 136 15
Other non-audit services 419 320 418 320
1.936 1.316 1.509 1.132

Deposit Guarantee Scheme contribution
The Bank is subject to the contribution to Deposit Guarantee Fund (DGF) on a semi-annual basis from
2020 and until 3 July 2024.

On March 2020, the Management Committee (MC) of the Deposit Guarantee and Resolution of Credit
and other Institutions Scheme (DGS) introduced an approved new methodology on the calculation of the
contributions to DGF paid by all the authorised credit institutions. The new Risk Based Methodology
(RBM), which is publicly available on the CBC’s website, provides for the calculation and payment of
contributions on a semi-annual basis, aiming to reach the target level of the 0,8% of covered deposits of
all authorised Credit Institutions in line with the relevant legislation and EU Directive, by 3 July 2024.
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14. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES (continued)

On the 21 February 2023 EBA has published its final report for revised guidelines on the method
calculating DGSs contributions under the Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive (2014/49/EU) (DGSD)
(the revised Guidelines). The revised Guidelines will repeal and replace the European Banking Authority’s
(EBA) previous Guidelines on the topic (EBA/GL/2015/10) (the original Guidelines), which were published
in May 2015. This follows the EBA’s Consultation Paper on the revised Guidelines published in July 2022.
The EBA has decided to go ahead with the amendments in the earlier consultation and to provide
additional guidance on the application of a stock-based approach to calculating contributions (which takes
into account past contributions of member institutions). It has also refined the current requirement on the
forward-looking approach to raising contributions on the delineation and reporting of available financial
means of DGSs.

Transformation costs

Transformation costs comprise mainly fees to external advisors in relation to: (i) the prospective disposal
of assets held for sale and the acquisition of part of the banking operations of RCB bank (ii) the
Transformation of the Bank as a result of the Strategic Plan announced on 21 December 2021.

15. RESTRUCTURING COSTS

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€000 €000 €'000 €000
Restructuring costs 70.860 - 66.423 -

Restructuring costs represent the Group’s and the Bank’s Voluntary Early Exit Scheme (VEES) and other
related costs.

On 29 November 2022, the Bank announced the successful completion of a Voluntary Early Exit Scheme
(the “Scheme”), in line with the Bank’s strategy to reduce its operating costs and achieve sustainable
profitability. The Scheme was offered to employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries to voluntary exit from
the Group in consideration for an ex-gratia amount. The total humber of employees of the Group that
were approved to participate in the Scheme were 446 (c.16% of the Group’s employees) of which 394
employees had their employment terminated during the fourth quarter 2022 while the remaining
terminated their employment contract during the first quarter 2023.
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16. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND NON FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers
12 month expected credit losses (refer to Note 22) 18.881 13.046 18.881 13.046
Lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 2) 16.036 4.761 16.036 4.761
Lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 3) (29.129) (113.477) (29.129) (113.477)
Impact of net modification and cash flows re- estimation 8.600 4.926 8.600 4.926
Lifetime expected credit losses on the value of purchased or originated
credit impaired (POCI) loan portfolio (5.358) (8.748) (5.358) (8.748)
9.030 (99.492) 9.030 (99.492)
Impairment losses on financial guarantees and loan commitments
issued
12 month expected credit losses (refer to Note 36) 1.816 2.137 1.816 2.137
Lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 2) (refer to Note 36) 616 (272) 616 (272)
Lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 3) (refer to Note 36) (6.550) (104) (6.550) (104)
Lifetime expected credit losses on the value of purchased or originated
credit impaired (POCI) financial guarantees issued and loan commitments
issued (refer to Note 36) 131 614 131 614
(3.987) 2.375 (3.987) 2.375
Impairment losses on other financial assets
12 month expected credit losses of other receivables (408) 320 (70) -
12 month expected credit losses on indemnification asset (4) 1 (4) 1
Cash flows re-estimation of indemnification asset (refer to Note 32) (14.585) 344 (14.585) 344
12 month expected credit losses on debt securities (refer to Note 23) (72) 478 (72) 478
12 month expected credit losses on Balances with Central Banks and
Placements with other banks (refer to Note 20 and 21) (25) (143) (27) (143)
Impairment losses on other receivables (8.455) (5.924) (8.455) (5.924)
(23.549) (4.924) (23.213) (5.244)
Impairment losses on financial instruments (18.506) __(102.041) (18.170) __ (102.361)
Impairment losses on non financial assets
Intangible assets (refer to Note 29) - (299) - -
Stock of property(refer to Note 28 and 31) (6.796) (4.642) (5.173) (2.966)
Property plant and equipment (refer to Note 27) - (1.375) - (1.375)
Impairment losses on the cost of investment of a subsidiary company
(refer to Note 26) - - (1.623) (1.948)
(6.796) (6.316) (6.796) (6.289)
17. TAXATION
The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Income tax (10.031) (7.326) (8.102) (5.868)
Taxes withheld at source (79) (73) (64) (56)
Deferred tax (412) 10.094 (412) 10.094
(10.522) 2.695 (8.578) 4170

According to the Income Tax Law 118(1)/2002 as amended, the Bank’s taxable profit and that of its
subsidiaries in Cyprus, is subject to income tax at the rate of 12,5%. Tax losses of group companies in
Cyprus, other than companies affected by article 13(8)(d)(i) of the Income Tax Law, can be offset against
taxable profits of other group companies in Cyprus of the same year and any tax losses not utilised can
be carried forward and offset against the same entity’'s taxable profits of the next five years. Article
13(8)(d)(i) of the Income Tax Law provides that in the case where the disposal of shares held by one
company in another company member of the same group is taxed as a trading transaction then the two

companies are not considered group companies for loss relief purposes.
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17. TAXATION (continued)

Profits earned by subsidiary companies abroad or/and permanent establishments outside Cyprus are
subject to taxation at the rates applicable in the country in which the operations are carried out.

Tax exemptions, allowances, deductions and offsets pursuant to Articles 8, 9, 10 and 13 of the Income
Tax Law 118(1)/2002 are taken into consideration for the calculation of the tax liability.

Reconciliation of taxation based on taxable income and taxation based on accounting profits

The Group 2022 2021
€'000 €'000
Group profit/(loss) before taxation 42.165 (7.000)
Taxation based on applicable tax rates 5.271 (875)
Expenses non-tax deductible 21.541 13.057
Non-taxable income (15.137) (23.381)
Effect of tax losses for the year (1.232) 2.562
Adjustment in respect of income tax of prior years - 5.868
Taxes withheld at source 79 73
Tax debit/(credit) for the year 10.522 (2.696)
The Bank 2022 2021
€'000 €'000
Bank profit/(loss) before taxation 36.348 (18.979)
Taxation based on applicable tax rates 4.544 (2.372)
Expenses non-tax deductible 20.013 12.175
Non-taxable income (14.333) (21.828)
Effect of tax losses for the year (2.122) 1.931
Adjustment in respect of income tax of prior years - 5.868
Taxes withheld at source - 56
Special defence contribution 64 -
Deferred tax 412 -
Tax debit/(credit) for the year 8.578 (4.170)
Taxation recognised in other comprehensive income:
The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Deferred taxation on property revaluation 1.590 (196) 1.811 (196)

18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of project Starlight, in addition to the disposal of non-performing loans, the Bank has also agreed
the disposal of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd ("APS Cyprus"), the entity responsible for managing the
Bank’s Non-Performing Exposures and REOs. The Transaction is expected to be completed in early
2023 and as such the disposal group was classified as held for sale and as discontinued operations.

In accordance with IFRS 5, discontinued operations are presented separately from the results of

continuing operations in the income statement, as the Group does not intend to be involved in the debt
servicing industry, subject to the completion of the project Starlight.
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18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
The results of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd for the year are presented below:

Note
Discontinued Operations
Fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income
Other income
Total net income
Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Administrative and other expenses
Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss for the year
Basic loss per share (cent) 19
Diluted loss per share (cent) - restricted to basic loss per share 19

The earnings per share of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd for the year are presented below:

Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations

Loss attributable to owners of the parent company (€ thousand) from
discontinued operations

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for Basic EPS during the year
(thousand) from discontinued operations

Basic loss per share (cent €) from discontinued operations

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for Basic EPS during the year
(thousand)

Effect of dilution from the potential conversion of Convertible Capital Securities
1 and 2 (thousand)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution
Diluted loss per share (€ cent) from discontinued operations - restricted to basic
loss per share

2022 2021
€'000 €'000
218 406

218 406

90 110

308 516
(6.434) (6.447)
(59) (74)
(968) (1.070)
(7.153) (7.075)
(305) (298)
(7.458) (7.373)
(1,81) (1,79)
(1,81) (1,79)

The Group

2022 2021
€'000 €'000
(7.458) (7.373)
412.805 412.805
(1,81) (1,79)
412.805 412.805
19.949 19.949
432.754 432.754
(1,81) (1,79)
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18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The assets and liabilities of APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd classified as held for sale as at 31 December

2022 and as at 31 December 2021 are, as follows:

2022 2021
€'000 €'000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 137 177
Intangible assets 2.365 2.383
Tax receivable - 83
Deferred tax asset 711 617
Other assets 41 147
Disposal group assets (refer to Note 31) 3.254 3.407
Tax payable 181 66
Other liabilities 658 1.113
Disposal group liabilities (refer to Note 31) 839 1.179
The net cash flows incurred by APS Debt Servicing Cyprus Ltd are, as follows:
2022 2021
€'000 €'000
Cash flow from discontinued operations
Net cash flow used in operating activities (7.359) (7.876)
Net cash flow used in investing activities (2) (108)
Net cash flow for the year (7.361) (7.984)
19. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent
company (€ thousand) 24.186 (11.680) 27.770 (14.809)
Basic earnings per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
Basic EPS during the year (thousand) 412.805 412.805 412.805 412.805
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (€ cent) 5,86 (2,83) 6,73 (3,59)
Diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
Basic EPS during the year (thousand) 412.805 412.805 412.805 412.805
Effect of dilution from the potential conversion of
Convertible Capital Securities 1 and 2 (thousand) 19.949 19.949 19.949 19.949
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
adjusted for the effect of dilution 432.754 432.754 432.754 432.754
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€ cent) - restricted
to basic loss per share 5,59 (2,83) 6,42 (3,59)
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19. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued)

The Group
2022 2021
€'000 €'000
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent company from continuing
operations 31.644 (4.307)
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for Basic EPS during the year
(thousand) from continuing operations 412.805 412.805
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cent €) from continuing operations 7,67 (1,04)
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for Basic EPS during the year
(thousand) 412.805 412.805
Effect of dilution from the potential conversion of Convertible Capital Securities
1 and 2 (thousand) 19.949 19.949
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 432.754 432.754
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€ cent) from continuing operations - restricted
to basic loss per share 7,31 (1.04)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the parent company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution.

20. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Cash 92.045 141.688 92.045 141.688
Balances with Central Banks 8.376.029 _ 7.204.536 _ 8.376.029 _ 7.204.536

8.468.074 _ 7.346.224 _ 8.468.074 __ 7.346.224

The cash and balances with Central Banks mainly consist of €8.376.029 thousand (31 December 2021:
€7.204.536 thousand) out of which, deposit with ECB represent 99% of the total balance (2021 98% of
total), ECB is rated AAA, based on the main three rating agencies (Moody’s, Fitch and S&P).

Total cash and balances with Central Banks is analysed to:

The Group The Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cash and balances with Central Banks available for
use 8.319.140 7.200.254 8.319.140 7.200.254
Restricted balances with Central Banks 149.058 145.979 149.058 145.979
8.468.198 7.346.233 8.468.198 7.346.233
Accumulated Expected Credit Losses (124) (9) (124) (9
Total cash and balances with Central Banks 8.468.074 _ 7.346.224 _ 8.468.074 __ 7.346.224
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20. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS (continued)

Movement of Accumulated Expected Credit Losses:

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Balance 1 January 9 4 9 4
Movement of the year (refer to Note 16) 115 5 115 5
Closing balance 124 9 124 9
Cash and balances with Central Banks are classified as Stage 1, for ECL calculation purposes.
21. PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS
The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Other placements with Banks 107.502 134.376 98.286 119.721
Interbank accounts 173.837 279.718 173.840 277.204
281.339 414.094 272.126 396.925

The analysis of placements with other banks based on their remaining contractual maturity is as follows:

The Group The Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
On demand 164.949 253.831 160.736 241.575
Within three months 52.825 15.188 47.825 10.275
Between three months and one year 7.756 74.392 7.756 74.392
Between one year and five years 54.272 70.683 54.272 70.683
Over five years 1.537 1.537

281.339 414.094 272.126

396.925

At 31 December 2022, an amount of €64.241 thousand (2021: €114.984 thousand) is pledged as

collateral with other banks, being common practice among financial institutions.
Amounts held with financial institutions are mainly with A+ to A- institutions.

Total placements with other banks is analysed to:

The Group The Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Placement with other banks with original maturity less
than 3 months 217.590 257.484 208.379 241.807
Other placements with other banks 64.087 157.038 64.081 155.540
281.677 414.522 272.460 397.347
Accumulated Expected Credit Losses (338) (428) (334) (422)
Total placements with other banks 281.339 414.094 272.126 396.925
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21. PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS (continued)

Movement of Accumulated Expected Credit Losses:

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Balance 1 January 428 290 422 284
Movement of the year (refer to Note 16) (90) 138 (88) 138
Closing balance 338 428 334 422

Placements with other banks are classified as Stage 1, for ECL calculation purposes.

22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Analysis of loans and advances to customers as per industry sector they operate, as at 31 December, is

as follows:

Trade

Construction and Real Estate
Manufacturing

Tourism

Retail

Other sectors

Accumulated impairment losses

The Group and

the Bank
2022 2021
€'000 €'000

526.219 456.410
366.795 398.780
460.332 376.794
499.839 409.070
3.433.599 3.435.118
936.145 876.054

6.222.929 5.952.226
(189.659) _ (220.119)

6.033.270 _ 5.732.107

Analysis of loans and advances to customers based on their remaining contractual maturity as at 31

December, is as follows:

On demand

Within three months

Between three months and one year
Between one year and five years
Over five years

Accumulated impairment losses

The Group and

the Bank
2022 2021
€'000 €'000

755.741 699.070
36.785 33.999
38.369 47.510

936.708 853.895

4.455.326 _ 4.317.752

6.222.929 5.952.226
(189.659) _ (220.119)

6.033.270 _ 5.732.107
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Movement of gross loans between stages according to the increase in credit risk level as at 31 December
is analysed in the table below. Net movement mainly includes new lending, capitalised interest,
repayments and write offs made during the period.

1 January

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Net movement during the year
Exchange difference

Acquisition of RCB loans

31 December

1 January

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Net movement during the year
Exchange difference

Transfer from assets held for sale
(refer to Note 31)

Transfer to assets held for sale (refer

to Note 31)

31 December

The Group and the Bank - 2022
Purchased or

originated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
4.296.047 918.971 394.175 343.033 5.952.226
(115.411) 115.411 - - -
(29.824) - 29.824 - -
- (54.249) 54.249 - -
- 33.415 (33.415) - -
337.647 (337.647) - - -
12.359 - (12.359) - -
87.277 (104.803) (565.075) (21.946) (94.547)
15.466 290 3.161 (4) 18.913
346.337 - - - 346.337
4.949.898 571.388 380.560 321.083 _ 6.222.929
The Group and the Bank - 2021
Purchased or
originated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
4.224.355 964.819 1.239.081 373.431 6.801.686
(218.488) 218.488 - - -
(45.909) - 45.909 - -
- (70.295) 70.295 - -
- 98.120 (98.120) - -
206.623 (206.623) - - -
4.621 - (4.621) - -
109.854 (76.350) (107.153) (20.805) (94.454)
17.041 755 2.881 9 20.686
- 7 420 - 427
(2.050) (9.950) __ (754.517) (9.602) _ (776.119)
4.296.047 918.971 394.175 343.033 _ 5.952.226
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

The table below discloses the accumulated impairment losses on the value of loans and advances:

1 January

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Write offs net of recoveries of loan
impairment losses

Contractual interest on impaired loans
Unwinding of discount

Decrease due to derecognition
Charge/(reversal) for the year
Exchange difference

31 December

1 January

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1

Write offs net of recoveries of loan
impairment losses

Contractual interest on impaired loans
Unwinding of discount

Decrease due to derecognition
Charge/(reversal) for the year
Exchange difference

Transfer from assets held for sale (refer to
Note 31)

Transfer to assets held for sale (refer to
Note 31)

31 December

The Group and the Bank - 2022

Purchased or

originated
Stage1 Stage2 Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
33.204 51.526 142.843 (7.454) 220.119
(1.771) 1.771 - - -
(641) - 641 - -
- (6.505) 6.505 - -
- 7.349  (7.349) - -
10.515 (10.515) - - -
2.343 - (2.343) - -
(239) (100) (33.151) (3.688) (37.178)
294 703 19.188 13.568 33.753
(227) (567) (9.612) (13.439) (23.845)
(101) (705) (921) (401)  (2.128)
(18.881) (15.948) 27.195 4763  (2.871)
47 (51) 1.813 - 1.809
__ 24543 26.958 _ 144.809 (6.651) __189.659
The Group and the Bank - 2021
Purchased or
originated
Stage1 Stage2  Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
40.370 49.349 620.927 (5.881) 704.765
(2.466) 2.466 - - -
(1.026) - 1.026 - -

- (5.565) 5.565 - -

- 24344 (24.344) - -
9.105  (9.105) - - -
1.215 - (1.215) - -
(401)  (2.270) (99.151) (5.057) (106.879)

275 2.750 78.700 14.272 95.997
(203)  (1.993) (23.634) (13.724) (39.554)
(86) (610) (335) (2.568)  (3.599)
(13.046) (4.761) 113.477 8.748 104.418

61 34 (273) 2 (176)

- - 378 - 378
(594) _ (3.113) _(528.278) (3.246) _(535.231)

33.204 51.526 __142.843 (7.454) __220.119
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 Net Loan and Advances amounting to €191.662 thousand (2021: €240.888
thousand) were classified as Held for Sale. For details refer to Note 31.

Unwinding of discount amounting to €23,8 million 2021: €39,6 million) relates to interest income on
impaired loans and advances to customers and is recognised in the income statement.

The corresponding contractual amount outstanding that was written off which relate to non contractual
write offs for 2022 amounted to €16,3 million (2021: €74,7 million).

Risk categories
The loans and advances, are presented in risk categories based on the credit risk assessment system of
the Group. The risk categories are as follows:

Grade 1 (Low Risk):
An immediate ability to repay the credit facility is assumed.

Grade 2 (Medium Risk):
The probability of indirect recovery of the credit facility is assumed.

Grade 3 (High Risk):
The debtor presents a higher risk compared to Grade 1 and 2 on the existence of direct and indirect
recovery of the credit facility.

Past due loans and advances
Represent loans and advances for which the contractual interest or principal repayments are past due.

Based on the above categories, loans and advances to customers are presented below:

The Group and the Bank - 2022
Purchased or

originated

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 credit impaired Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Grade 1 (low risk) 4.795.772 403.794 5.542 41914 5.247.022
Grade 2 (medium risk) 150.733 161.665 173.927 179.195 665.520
Grade 3 (high risk) 3.393 5.929 201.091 99.974 310.387
Gross amount 4,949.898 571.388 380.560 321.083 6.222.929
Accumulated Impairment losses (24.543) (26.958) _ (144.809) 6.651 _ (189.659)
Carrying amount 4.925.355 544.430 235.751 327.734 _ 6.033.270

Past due exposures
0+ up to 30 days 104.723 26.736 12.319 12.736 156.514
30+ up to 60 days 1.513 20.176 11.608 5.996 39.293
60+ up to 90 days 243 8.249 6.397 2.850 17.739
90 days+ 11 2.865 266.838 182.396 452.110
Gross amount 106.490 58.026 297.162 203.978 665.656
Accumulated Impairment losses (3.618) (4.758) _ (117.043) (25.844) _ (151.263)
Carrying amount 102.872 53.268 180.119 178.134 514.393
Forborne exposures
Carrying amount 2.490 225.807 91.725 186.591 506.613
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Grade 1 (low risk)
Grade 2 (medium risk)
Grade 3 (high risk)
Gross amount

Accumulated Impairment losses

Carrying amount

Past due exposures
0+ up to 30 days
30+ up to 60 days
60+ up to 90 days
90 days+
Gross amount

Accumulated Impairment losses

Carrying amount

Forborne exposures
Carrying amount

The Group and the Bank - 2021

Purchased or

originated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
4.160.139 638.452 4.497 48.902 4.851.990
131.208 259.757 185.197 193.990 770.152
4.700 20.762 204.481 100.141 330.084
4.296.047 918.971 394.175 343.033 5.952.226
(33.204) (51.526) _ (142.843) 7.454 _ (220.119)
4.262.843 867.445 251.332 350.487 _ 5.732.107
80.430 41.098 7.178 13.623 142.329
2.160 18.654 11.126 5.507 37.447
303 7.986 10.686 4.225 23.200
3 5.837 281.264 205.930 493.034
82.896 73.575 310.254 229.285 696.010
(1.851) (6.546) _ (117.405) (21.050) _ (146.852)
81.045 67.029 192.849 208.235 549.158
4.613 339.203 102.981 208.175 654.972

Movement of carrying amount of loans and advances classified as Stage 3 and purchased or originated

credit impaired (POCI):

1 January

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Net movement during the year
Exchange difference

31 December

The Group and the Bank - 2022

Purchased or

originated
Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000
251.332 350.487 601.819
29.183 - 29.183
47.744 - 47.744
(26.066) - (26.066)
(10.016) - (10.016)
(57.774) (22.749) (80.523)
1.348 (4) 1.344
235.751 327.734 563.485
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

The Group and the Bank - 2021

Purchased or

originated

Stage 3 credit impaired Total
€'000 €'000 €'000
1 January 618.154 379.312 997.466
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 44.883 - 44.883
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 64.730 - 64.730
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 (73.776) - (73.776)
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 (3.406) - (3.406)
Net movement during the year (176.210) (22.476) (198.686)
Exchange difference 3.154 7 3.161
Transfer from assets held for sale 42 - 42
Transfer to assets held for sale (226.239) (6.356) _ (232.595)
31 December 251.332 350.487 601.819

The value of collaterals of total loans and advances to customers is analysed as below:
2022 2021
€'000 €'000
Residential property 8.889.597 8.600.495
Commercial property 4.824.282 3.575.895
Land 2.284.040 2.151.212
Total property collaterals 15.997.919 14.327.602
Other collaterals 2.363.145 2.011.719
18.361.064 _ 16.339.321

The value of collaterals of loans and advances to customers classified as Stage 3 and purchased or

originated credit impaired is analysed as below:

2022 2021

€'000 €'000

Residential property 931.631 952.013
Commercial property 349.750 322.072
Land 262.449 269.977
Total property collaterals 1.543.830 1.544.062
Other collaterals 67.550 22.916
1.611.380 1.566.978
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Forborne Exposures

Consistent with the European Banking Authority’'s (EBA) technical standards the Group and the Bank
consider forbone exposures to be (i) exposures which involve changes in their terms and/or conditions
and (ii) the forbearance measures consist of concessions towards a debtor which aim to address existing
or anticipated difficulties on the part of the borrower to service debt in accordance with the current
repayment schedule. Changes in the terms and conditions of a contract that do not occur because the
customer is not able to meet the terms and conditions of the contract due to financial difficulties do not

constitute forbearance measures."

Loans and advances with forbearance measures are analysed, by industry sector, below:

Trade

Construction and Real Estate
Manufacturing

Tourism

Retail

Other sectors

Gross Loans Carrying amount

2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
59.379 66.244 43.774 53.911
33.246 99.966 26.384 80.477
11.650 18.129 9.826 15.691
144.910 160.126 137.035 150.352
282.604 321.893 246.318 289.606
52.247 75.068 43.276 64.935

584.036 741.426 506.613 654.972

The value of collaterals of loans and advances to customers with forbearance measures is analysed

below:

Residential property
Commercial property
Land

Total property collaterals
Other collaterals

2022 2021
€'000 €'000
477.801 543.605

599.073 662.174
171.298 194.052
1.248.172 1.399.831
41.822 45.261
1.289.994 1.445.092
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23. DEBT SECURITIES

The Group The Bank
2022 2021 2022 2021
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Securities classified at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Listed 81.351 182.770 81.351 182.770
Non listed 6.595 - - -
Accumulated expected credit losses (83) (16) (83) (16)

87.863 182.754 81.268 182.754

Securities classified at amortised cost

Listed 4.324.958 4.257.400 4.324.958 4.257.400
Non listed 12.278 24.368 12.278 24.368
Accumulated expected credit losses (1.329) (1.324) (1.329) (1.324)

4.335.907 _ 4.280.444 _ 4.335.907 _ 4.280.444

Securities classified at fair value through profit
and loss
Assets held to cover liabilities of unit linked funds -
Government bonds 179 293 - -
179 293 - -
4.423.949